The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha-Induced Response in

Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease

By

Krista Margaret Reich

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In

Experimental Medicine

Department of Medicine

University of Alberta

© Krista Margaret Reich, 2014

ABSTRACT

Vitamin D is an important immunomodulator of the immune system and has been suggested to play a role in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Drugs targeting TNF-alpha are effective IBD therapies, and vitamin D has been demonstrated to suppress TNF-alpha as well as work synergistically with infliximab to reduce TNF-alpha *in vitro*. As a result, vitamin D may play a role in anti-TNF-induced response.

The objectives of this study were to first compare the proportion of patients who achieved a clinical response in the normal vitamin D group to the proportion of patients who achieved a clinical response in the low vitamin D group at week 14; and to secondly compare clinical response rates at week 22, after the low vitamin D group was supplemented at week 14. Secondary outcomes included assessing clinical remission, Creactive protein normalization, cytokine responses, health related quality of life, and depression at these time points.

Adult Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients initiating anti-TNF therapy were invited to participate. Prior to starting anti-TNF therapy and at week 14, blood samples were collected to measure serum vitamin D, C-reactive protein, and cytokines levels and questionnaires were administered to assess clinical disease activity, depression, and quality of life. Patients low in vitamin D (serum 25(OH)D levels <75 nmol/L) were then administered a high dose (250,000-500,000 IU) of vitamin D intramuscularly within 2 weeks of their week 14-dose. Patients with normal vitamin D levels were not supplemented. Measurements of vitamin D, C-reactive protein, cytokines, clinical disease activity, depression, and quality of life were repeated 8 weeks later, prior to the patient's week 22- dose. Clinical response at week 14 and week 22 was defined as a decrease of \geq 3 points in the clinical disease activity scores from baseline.

The proportion of patients who clinically responded at week 14 was similar between the two vitamin D groups (67% (14/21) vs. 65% (15/23), p=0.92). However, after stratifying by disease severity, there was a clinically significant higher proportion of patients in the low vitamin D group who responded at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group, if patients had severe disease (79% (11/14) vs. 53% (9/17), p=0.14). On the contrary, there was a trend to a higher proportion of patients in the normal vitamin D group who responded at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group who responded at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group who responded at week 14 compared to the low vitamin D group, if patients had non-severe disease (100% (4/4) vs. 44% (4/9), p=0.11). Clinical response results at week 22 were similar. Patients with low vitamin D levels and severe disease had higher serum levels of TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1beta at baseline compared to patients with normal vitamin D levels and severe disease. By week 14 and week 22, cytokine levels were similar. Quality of life scores paralleled improvement in disease activity, and patients with low vitamin D levels had more cognitive depressive symptoms at the start of therapy.

In conclusion, the inflammatory responses in patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels are effectively treated with infliximab and adalimumab, and it may be that having inadequate levels of vitamin D before initiating anti-TNF therapy increases IBD patients' sensitivity to this drug.

PREFACE

This thesis is original work by Krista Reich. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, "The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha-Induced Response in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease", No. Pro00031844, August 2012

No part of this thesis has been previously published.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee members for guiding me through this thesis. They took the time to teach and support me, while pushing me to excel to the next level. There were many challenges, but their encouragement and belief in me kept me moving forward.

I would like to thank the gastroenterologists who allowed me to contact their patients for study participation.

I would like to thank the infliximab infusion clinic nurses for their patience and volunteering their time to collect patient samples for this study. I would also like to thank the IBD nurses for all of their contributions that made this study move smoothly.

It was great to work with the members of the Fedorak and Madsen lab. Everyone was very helpful and kind. I would like to thank them for their assistance in patient recruitment, data collection, and cytokine analysis.

I am especially thankful for all of the support from my supervisor Dr. Karen Kroeker. She has been a great mentor, believing in me and building my confidence. She has taught me life skills that I will always carry with me.

I would also like to thank Dr. Richard Fedorak for his endless support and guidance.

I would like to acknowledge my parents and friends who show me unconditional love.

Finally, I would like to thank all the study participants. It was great getting know many different people over the 22 weeks of follow up. It meant a lot to me that they were interested in the study and were excited to be a part of my project.

Table of Contents

	1
1.1 Inflammatory Bowel Disease	1
1.1.1 Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis	1
1.1.2 Immune Defects in IBD	1
1.2 ANTI-TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR IN THE TREATMENT OF IBD	2
1.3 VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY AND IBD	4
1.4 IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECTS OF VITAMIN D	4
1.4.1 Vitamin D and the Adaptive Immune System	4
1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System	5
1.5 PROTECTIVE IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECTS OF VITAMIN D IN IBD	7
1.6 VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY AND DISEASE ACTIVITY	8
1.7 VITAMIN D SUPPLEMENTATION IMPROVES IBD OUTCOMES	9
1.8 VITAMIN D AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE	11
1.9 VITAMIN D AND DEPRESSION	12
1.10 Study Purpose and Objectives	13
1.11 Hypothesis	14
1.12 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES	14
1.12.1 Primary Objectives	14
1.12.2 Secondary Objectives	14
OVERVIEW OF VITAMIN D ABSORPTION AND METABOLISM	16
2.1 VITAMIN D	
	INTRODUCTION 1.1 INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE 1.1.1 Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis 1.1.2 Immune Defects in IBD 1.2 ANTI-TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR IN THE TREATMENT OF IBD 1.3 VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY AND IBD 1.4 IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECTS OF VITAMIN D 1.4.1 Vitamin D and the Adaptive Immune System 1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.4.1 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.4.1 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System 1.5 PROTECTIVE IMMUNOMODULATORY EFFECTS OF VITAMIN D IN IBD 1.6 VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY AND DISEASE ACTIVITY 1.7 VITAMIN D SUPPLEMENTATION IMPROVES IBD OUTCOMES 1.8 VITAMIN D AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE 1.9 VITAMIN D AND DEPRESSION 1.10 STUDY PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES 1.11 HYPOTHESIS 1.12.1 Primary Objectives 1.12.2 Secondary Objectives 1.12.2 Secondary Objectives 2.1 VITAMIN D

	2.2	ORAL AND INTRAMUSCULAR VITAMIN D ABSORPTION	17
	2.3	VITAMIN D METABOLISM AND STORAGE	17
	2.4	Assessment of Vitamin D Status	18
	2.5	Conclusion	19
3	ME	THODS	20
	3.1	Brief Study Overview	20
	3.2	Setting and Subject Selection	21
	3.	2.1 Inclusion Criteria	21
	3.	2.2 Exclusion Criteria	21
	3.3	Study Overview	21
	3.	3.1 Part 1 Prospective Observation	23
	3.	3.2 Part 2 Vitamin D Rescue	24
	3.4	EXPERIMENTAL VARIABLES	26
	3.	4.1 Independent Variables	26
	3.	4.2 Dependent Variables	27
	3.5	Overview of Specimen Handling and Processing	30
	3.6	Medication and Supplementation	31
	3.7	Data Management	32
	3.8	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	32
	3.9		32
	3.5		
	5.10		55
4	RES	ULTS	34
	4.1	STUDY SUBJECT FLOW CHART (FIGURE 4-1)	34

4.2	BAS	ELINE CHARACTERISTICS	57
4.3	PRIN	MARY ENDPOINT: EFFICACY AT WEEK 144	2
4.	3.1	Patient Population4	!2
4.	3.2	Clinical Response At Week 144	15
4.	3.3	Clinical Disease Activity Scores At Week 144	19
4.	3.4	Clinical Remission at Week 145	55
4.4	SEC	ONDARY ENDPOINT: EFFICACY AT WEEK 225	6
4.	4.1	Patient Population5	6
4.	4.2	Clinical Response at week 14 and week 225	;9
4.	4.3	Clinical Disease Activity Scores at Week 14 and week 226	54
4.	4.4	Clinical Remission At Week 14 and Week 227	0
4.5	C-RE	EACTIVE PROTEIN RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION7	'2
4.	5.1	CRP RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION AT WEEK 147	'2
4.	5.2	CRP RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION AT WEEK 22	<i>י</i> 9
4.6	INFL	uence of Vitamin D on Cytokine Responses8	37
4.	6.1	Cytokine responses at week 148	}7
4.	6.2	Cytokine responses at week 229)3
4.7	The	IMPACT OF VITAMIN D STATUS AND VITAMIN D SUPPLEMENTATION ON QUALITY OF LIFE IN	
Patients	WITH	INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY9	8
4.	7.1	Week 14 Patient Population9	98
4.	7.2	Week 22 Patient Population10)2
4.8	The	IMPACT OF VITAMIN D STATUS AND VITAMIN D SUPPLEMENTATION ON DEPRESSION IN PATIENT	S
WITH INF	LAMM	ATORY BOWEL DISEASE ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY10)6
4.	8.1	Week 14 Patient Population)6

	4.8.2 Week 22 Patient Population	110
5 DI	SCUSSION	114
5.	1 Overview of Study Purpose	
5.	2 EFFICACY AT WEEK 14: HIGHER ANTI-TNF-INDUCED RESPONSE RATES ARE ACHIEVED IN IBD	PATIENTS
WITH S	EVERE DISEASE AND LOW VITAMIN D LEVELS	
5.	3 EFFICACY AT WEEK 22: HIGHER ANTI-TNF INDUCED RESPONSE RATES ARE MAINTAINED IN II	3D patients
WITH S	EVERE DISEASE AND LOW VITAMIN D LEVELS	
5.	4 CYTOKINE RESPONSES: TNF-ALPHA, IL-6, AND IL-1BETA ARE HIGHER IN IBD PATIENTS WITH	I SEVERE
DISEAS	AND LOW VITAMIN D LEVELS BEFORE INITIATING ANTI-TNF THERAPY	
5.	5 QUALITY OF LIFE OF PATIENTS ON ANTI-TNF THERAPY WAS ASSOCIATED WITH DISEASE ACTIV	/ITY, NOT
VITAMI	N D 128	
5.	6 IBD PATIENTS WITH LOW VITAMIN D LEVELS HAVE MORE DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS AT INITIAT	ION OF ANTI-
TNF TH	IERAPY	
5.	7 Study Limitations	
5.	8 SUMMARY OF OBJECTIVES AND FINDINGS	
5.	9 Conclusion	
Re	FERENCES	
APPEN	DICES	

List of Tables

Table 3-1 Replacement doses of vitamin D, based on serum 25-OH vitamin D levels	25
Table 3-2 Study Activity Schedule	26
Table 4-1 Demographics of IBD patients who completed up to week 14, stratified by vitami	n
D status	38
Table 4-2 Baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 14, stratified by vitamin D	
status	39
Table 4-3 Demographics of patients who completed up to week 22, stratified by vitamin D	
status	40
Table 4-4 Baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 22, stratified by vitamin D	
status	41
Table 4-5 Efficacy at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,	
stratified by vitamin D status	43
Table 4-6 Efficacy at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,	
stratified by vitamin D status	44
Table 4-7 Efficacy at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,	
stratified by vitamin D status	57
Table 4-8 Efficacy at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,	
stratified by vitamin D status	58
Table 4-9 CRP at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,	
stratified by vitamin D status	73

Table 4-10 CRP at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-11 CRP at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-12 CRP at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-13 Cytokine profiles at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF
therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-14 Cytokine profiles at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF
therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-15 Cytokine profiles at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF
therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-16 Cytokine profiles at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF
therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-17 Quality of life at week 14: Demographics of patients with IBD initiating anti-TNF
therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-18 Quality of life at week 14: Distribution of disease severity of IBD patients
initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-19 Quality of life at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-20 Quality of life week 22: Distribution of disease severity of IBD patients, stratified
by vitamin D status

Table 4-21 Depression at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-22 Depression at week 14: Distribution of disease severity in IBD patients initiating
anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-23 Depression at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Table 4-24 Depression at week 22: Distribution of disease severity in IBD patients initiating
anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

List of Figures

Figure 3-1 Research Design	0
Figure 4-1 Study flowchart	6
Figure 4-2 Clinical Response at week 14 40	6
Figure 4-3 Clinical response at week 14 in CD and UC	8
Figure 4-4 HBI scores over 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy	9
Figure 4-5 Individual HBI scores at week 0 and week 14. Individual HBI scores at week 0 and	
week 14 in the (A) low vitamin D group and (B) normal vitamin D group	1
Figure 4-6 PM scores over 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy	2
Figure 4-7 Individual PM scores at week 0 and week 14. Individual PM scores of patients in	
the (A) low vitamin D group and (B) normal vitamin D group	4
Figure 4-8 Clinical response at week 14 and week 226	1
Figure 4-9 Clinical response at week 14 and week 22 in CD and UC patients	3
Figure 4-10 HBI scores over 22 weeks of anti-TNF therapy	4
Figure 4-11 Individual HBI scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 in the (A) low vitamin D	
group and (B) normal vitamin D group60	6
Figure 4-12 PM scores over 22 weeks of anti-TNF therapy6	7
Figure 4-13 Individual PM scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 in the (A) low vitamin D	
group and (B) normal vitamin D group69	9
Figure 4-14 CRP response at week 1470	6
Figure 4-15 CRP response at week 14 in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients 78	8
Figure 4-16 CRP response at week 14 and week 22	4

Figure 4-17 CRP response at week 14 and week 22 in severe and non-severe Crohn's disease
patients, stratified by vitamin D status
Figure 4-18 Baseline levels of IL-6 and TNF-alpha in IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,
stratified by vitamin D status
Figure 4-19 Baseline levels of IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-beta in IBD patients with severe disease
initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status92
Figure 4-20 Median change in IL-8 from week 14 to week 22 in the normal and low vitamin
D (post supplementation) groups
Figure 4-21 Total SIBDQ scores at week 0 and week 14 in patients with IBD on anti-TNF
therapy
Figure 4-22 Total SIBDQ scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 in patients with IBD on
anti-TNF therapy
Figure 4-23 Total depression scores at week 0 and week 14 in IBD patients on anti-TNF
therapy
Figure 4-24 Total depression scores, cognitive scores, and somatic scores at week 0, week
14, and week 22 of IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

- IBD inflammatory bowel disease
- VDR vitamin D receptor
- TNF-alpha Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- Th1/Th2 T helper Type 1 and 2 lymphocytes
- 5-ASA 5 aminosalicylic acid
- IL interleukin
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- HRQoL health related quality of life
- SIBDQ short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire
- BDI-II Beck Depression Inventory-II
- CD Crohn's disease
- UC ulcerative colitis
- n number of subjects or sample size
- IQR interquartile range
- Ref rang reference range of what levels are defined as 'normal'
- SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
- vs. versus
- β beta
- α alpha
- > greater than
- < less than
- ≥ greater than or equal to
- \leq less than or equal to

1 Introduction

1.1 Inflammatory Bowel Disease

1.1.1 Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a chronic inflammatory condition of the intestine that causes abdominal pain, diarrhea, and weight loss. It includes two forms, Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). Crohn's disease is characterized by inflammation of any part of the intestine, with skip lesions where the inflammation does not affect regions of the intestine and severely affects other regions. Ulcerative colitis is characterized by inflammation restricted to the rectum and may affect the colon in an uninterrupted pattern.¹ The disease etiology is not completely understood and the incidence is increasing world wide.² Evidence suggests that IBD results from an inappropriate immune response to the body's natural intestinal bacteria, which activates the gastrointestinal immune system; however, it is very complex as genetic and environmental interactions play a role in disease susceptibility and progression.^{1,2}

1.1.2 Immune Defects in IBD

The immune system consists of innate immune responses and adaptive immune responses. The innate immune response is the body's first line of defense, which quickly and non-specifically responds to pathogens.^{1,3} This includes immune cells and physical barriers such as the intestinal mucosa.⁴ The adaptive immune system mediates a very specific immune response, which develops an immunological memory over time.^{1,3} There is tight cross-regulation between these two arms of the immune system; as a result, a shift in this balance can lead to a dysregulated immune response and excessive inflammation, leading to IBD.⁴

Innate immune defects in IBD include epithelial cell damage and excessive inflammatory responses from macrophages, monocytes, and dendritic cells.⁴ Epithelial damage can result in entry of bacteria from the intestinal lumen into circulation and increase contact between antigens and immune cells in the submucosa.¹ This results in activation of the innate immune system by pattern recognition receptors followed by antigen presenting cells and stimulation of pro-inflammatory T helper (Th) Type 1 lymphocyte responses of the adaptive immune response.^{3,5} Consequently, dysregulation of the innate immune response results in over-stimulation of the adaptive immune system. IBD is mediated by overly aggressive activity of effector T cells, leading to large amounts of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammation that leads to tissue damage.⁴ In that there is no cure for IBD, medical therapy remains the mainstay treatment for achieving and maintaining remission.²

1.2 Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor in the Treatment of IBD

Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) is a central cytokine in the pathogenesis of IBD and is produced by multiple cells, including lamina propria mononuclear cells, macrophages, and T cells.⁶ It has been shown to be elevated in the stool, mucosa, and blood of patients with IBD.^{7,8,9} It has many pro-inflammatory effects, from inducing cell death of Paneth cells to activating macrophages and effector T cells.⁶ Specifically, activation of TNF receptor 2 induces activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor κB (NF κB) and upregulates pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6).¹⁰ Additionally, it increases T cell proliferation and secretion of more inflammatory cytokines, including TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma.⁵ As a result, anti-TNF therapies have been developed to target this cytokine. These are antibodies that neutralize both soluble and membrane-bound TNF-alpha.⁶ Their therapeutic benefits have been attributed to multiple effects, including high affinity binding to TNF-alpha thereby neutralizing its biologic activity and inducing T cells apoptosis.^{5,6} Moreover, by decreasing T cell activation and proliferation, it reduces cytokine secretion from these cells. Anti-TNF drugs have also been demonstrated to stimulate protective regulatory T cells thereby maintaining immune homeostasis.⁵

Infliximab and adalimumab are two anti-TNF therapies that have been approved in Canada for use in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Infliximab is a chimeric mouse immunoglobulin G1 monoclonal antibody to TNF-alpha and is given as a 5 mg/kg intravenous infusion.^{11,12,13} Adalimumab is a subcutaneously administered recombinant fully human immunoglobulin G1 monoclonal antibody that binds with high affinity and specificity to TNF-alpha.¹⁴ Both of these drugs have been shown to be effective induction and maintenance therapies for patients with moderate-severe IBD.^{11,13,14} There are two phases to the dosing of infliximab and adalimumab: the induction phase and the maintenance phase. Infliximab is administered at week 0, 2 and 6 as an induction regimen, and then every 8 weeks as a maintenance regimen.^{11,13} Adalimumab is administered as an induction regimen at a dose of 160 mg at week 0 and 80 mg at week 2 and then every 2 weeks at 40 mg as a maintenance regimen; the does is not weight-based.¹⁴

Conventionally, treatment of IBD takes a sequential step-up approach wherein drug therapy is intensified as the disease worsens and there is no response. As a result, patients will start with 5-aminosalycyclic acid (5-ASA) then progress to corticosteroids, immunosuppressants (azathiopurine/sulfasalazine), anti-TNF therapy, and lastly, surgery.¹⁵ The invasiveness of surgery and the severity of its potential side effects can significantly affect patients' lives, making this option significantly less attractive for most patients.¹⁶ Surgery rates remain relatively high, as it has been recently reported that the 5-year cumulative risk of resection in Crohn's disease was 24.6% and the 5-year-cumulitve risk of colectomy in ulcerative colitis was 10.4%.¹⁷ As a result, patients remain at risk for disease relapse^{18,19} and in order to avoid surgery, the goal is to optimize IBD outcomes by improving response rates to anti-TNF therapies.

1.3 Vitamin D Deficiency and IBD

Epidemiological evidence supports a role for the deficiency of an environmental factor, vitamin D, in the pathogenesis of IBD. This is demonstrated by the 'north-south' gradient in the risk of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, likely explained by the variation in sun exposure, a major determinant of vitamin D levels.^{20,21} Vitamin D deficiency has been well described in IBD patients from all over the world²², with reports of up to 90% of IBD patients having a vitamin D level < 75 nmol/L.²³ Furthermore, higher vitamin D plasma levels, predicted on the basis of a validate regression model in the Nurses' Health Study, have been shown to be associated with a lower incidence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis²⁴; as a result, obtaining and maintaining optimal vitamin D levels are important.

Vitamin D is an important immunomodulator of both the innate and adaptive immune systems.²⁵ Immune cells express vitamin D receptors (VDRs) and the enzymes necessary to convert vitamin D into its active form, 1,25(OH)₂D3; as a result, locally produced 1,25(OH)₂D3 can exert specific autocrine and paracrine effects.²⁶ 1,25(OH)₂D3 can modulate the adaptive immune responses by altering actions of activated T and B cells, and it can modulate the innate immune responses by regulating macrophage and dendritic cell activity.²⁶ As a result, these findings sparked investigation into the immunomodulatory role of vitamin D in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases such as IBD.

1.4 Immunomodulatory Effects of Vitamin D

1.4.1 Vitamin D and the Adaptive Immune System

Cytokines are proteins produced by immune cells and help determine the type of immune response.²⁶ Many cytokines take part in the inflammatory response of the mucosa and play a role in the pathogenesis and disease activity of IBD. Th1 and Th2 T cell responses have been demonstrated to characterize the inflammatory response in

IBD, and 1,25(OH)₂D3 has anti-inflammatory effects by mediating the Th1-Th2 balance in favour of Th2 cell development. Th2 cells produce anti-inflammatory IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, while Th1 cells produce pro-inflammatory IFN- γ and lymphotoxin.^{26,27} As a result, vitamin D regulates cytokine production to limit inflammatory tissue damage and skews the immune responses towards a Th2 phenotype, which fights extracellular infections.

Vitamin D also targets Th17 cells and suppresses their ability to produce IL-17, a proinflammatory cytokine, thereby reducing inflammatory tissue damage. 1,25(OH)₂D3 also increases the development of T regulatory (T reg) cells, which have immunosuppressive properties by depressing the proliferation of other CD4+ T cells.²⁵ Vitamin D in combination with another immunosuppressive drug, dexamethasone, has been shown to increase IL-10 producing regulatory T cells to downregulate immune responses at sites of inflammation.²⁸

Research supports the immunosuppressive effect of vitamin D due to its involvement in T-cell differentiation. The evidence shows that vitamin D plays a role in maintaining a balance between the inflammatory response of Th1/Th17 cells and the immunosuppressive response from Th2/Treg cells.

1.4.2 Vitamin D and the Innate Immune System

1.4.2.1 Vitamin D suppresses dendritic cell stimulation of Th1 responses

Dendritic cells (DCs) are antigen presenting cells (APCs) and are important in initiating Th1 cell development.²⁹ Vitamin D inhibits differentiation and maturation of human DCs and suppresses their production of IL-12. In that IL-12 stimulates Th1 cell development, vitamin D acts as an immunosupressor by indirectly inhibiting Th1 proliferation and its corresponding inflammatory responses.^{26,27} DCs still mature, therefore, normal immune responses still occur; as a result, vitamin D regulates the immune system to prevent responses that may lead to pathological effects.²⁵

1.4.2.2 Anti-microbial activity of vitamin D

Vitamin D also stimulates anti-bacterial activity. Autophagy, an important mechanism for eliminating pathogens by antibacterial proteins, is triggered in human monocytes by locally produced 1,25(OH)₂D3.^{22,30} Toll-like receptors (TLR) expressed on monocytes recognize pathogens, and when these receptors are stimulated, the expression of VDRs and CYP27B1, the gene encoding for the enzyme, 1α-hydroxylase, that converts vitamin D into 1,25(OH)₂D is upregulated.^{25,30} Locally produced 1,25(OH)₂D3 acts in an autocrine fashion to induces expression of the cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene (LL-37) in monocytes, producing a protein that enhances intracellular killing of bacteria.³¹ Furthermore, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2), a pattern recognition receptor, is important for stimulating anti-bacterial activity once activated by bacterial products. Bacterial activation of NOD2 stimulates transcription factor NF-κB, which induces gene expression for anti-microbial peptide defensin β2 (DEFβ2). Vitamin D induces expression of NOD2 in multiple cells, thereby increasing the sensitivity of these cells to bacterial products and enhancing NOD2 induced DEFB2 antibacterial activity.³²

1.4.2.3 Vitamin D suppresses bacterial-stimulated proinflammatory responses

As a part of the innate immune system, stimulated macrophages release proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, to protect the body from pathogens.³³ Proinflammatory cytokines are positive for host defense, but overproduction leads to unresolved inflammation.³⁴ Vitamin D treatment has been demonstrated to reduce these pro-inflammatory responses. Lipopolysaccaride (LPS) is a component of the Gramnegative bacterial wall, which induces monocytes/macrophages to produce cytokines. 1,25(OH)₂D3 treatment with LPS-stimulated human blood monocytes inhibited the release of IL-1alpha, IL-6, and TNF-alpha.³⁵ Furthermore, LPS binds to Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on monocytes to mediate activation of MAPK, which regulate proinflammatory cytokine production, including IL-6 and TNF-alpha.³⁴ Treatment with 25(OH)D3 has been shown to inhibit LPS-induced IL-6 and TNF-alpha production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of healthy donors via upregulation of MKP-1 (MAPK phosphatase-1); MKP-1 switches off cytokine production in monocytes/macrophages after inflammatory stimuli.³⁴ LPS exposure could occur in the gut of IBD patients; as a result, vitamin D may be an important regulator of pro-inflammatory responses in IBD. Furthermore, vitamin D receptor signalling has also been shown to play a very important part in immune-regulation as there is a dysregulated and oversustained innate immune response in macrophages under attenuated VDR signalling.³³ Overall, vitamin D is an immunomodulator that strengthens the antimicrobial roles of the innate immune response and depresses the inflammatory adaptive immune reaction.

1.5 Protective Immunomodulatory Effects of Vitamin D in IBD

Vitamin D and its VDR have been shown to have an important role in animal models of colitis. Mice raised on vitamin D-deficient chow had significantly lower 25(OH)D levels and markedly worse dextran-sodium-sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis.³⁶ Furthermore, VDR knock-out mice treated with DSS to induce colitis demonstrated markedly elevated levels of a number of tissue pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF-alpha, IL-12p70, and INF-gamma and demonstrated worse intestinal injury. In contrast, oral vitamin D supplementation in these mice led to higher levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and improved intestinal injury.³⁷

Studies have suggested that vitamin D deficiency and impairment in its signaling pathways are contributing factors in the pathogenesis of IBD. Vitamin D deficiency may lead to IBD by changing vitamin D receptor signaling in autophagy homeostasis, resulting in increased TNF-alpha-induced autophagy.³⁸ Additionally, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated a molecular link between vitamin D deficiency and NOD2 function. NOD2 deficiency due to mutations in its gene has been linked to the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease, and it has been shown that 1,25(OH)₂D3 signaling induces NOD2 expression in human intestinal epithelial cells, giving support to the idea that vitamin D deficiency plays a contributing role in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease.³²

7

Vitamin D suppresses the secretion of TNF-alpha, a central cytokine in the pathogenesis of IBD. A vitamin D analogue has been shown to work synergistically with infliximab, an anti-TNF therapy used in the treatment of IBD, to reduce the cytokine TNF-alpha in human peripheral blood monocyte.³⁹ Additionally, vitamin D treatment in the colonic tissue of IL-10 knock-out mice has been shown to down-regulate TNF-alpha-associated genes in these mice.⁴⁰ As a result, vitamin D has been demonstrated to have a protective role against IBD as well as is an important immune-regulator of inflammatory responses that occur in IBD. Subsequently, this suggests that vitamin D has a role to play in the therapeutic management of IBD.

1.6 Vitamin D Deficiency and Disease Activity

Inflammation in IBD has been shown to be associated with vitamin D deficiency. Vitamin D levels have been shown to correlate negatively with disease activity assessed by the Harvey Bradshaw score^{41,42,43}, Crohn's disease activity index (CDAI) score⁴⁴, and the sixpoint partial Mayo index.⁴⁵ Furthermore, Blanck et al.⁴⁵ stratified ulcerative colitis patients based on their vitamin D levels as either vitamin D sufficient (>74 nmol/L), insufficient (50-74 nmol/L), and deficient (<50 nmol/L) and demonstrated a trend towards more active disease as vitamin D levels decreased. Therefore, there is a relationship between vitamin D levels and inflammation; however, the direction of this relationship is still unclear. A recent study examined the relationship between vitamin D status and markers of disease activity in IBD while correcting for the differences due to potential confounders.⁴⁶ Similar to the previous studies, serum 25(OH)D levels were inversely proportional to intestinal inflammation measured by fecal calprotectin; this was not influenced by sun light exposure, skin type, oral vitamin D intake, or malabsorption in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. This was also demonstrated in a subgroup of Crohn's colitis and ulcerative colitis patients wherein inflamed mucosa was restricted to the colon and did not affect absorption of vitamin D.⁴⁶ Therefore this study supports the immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D in human IBD. Interestingly, there was no association between serological markers of inflammation (e.g., CRP, white cell

count, platelet count) and vitamin D status. Since this association was only demonstrated with disease activity measured by fecal calprotectin, a good indicator of intestinal inflammation, the authors concluded that serum vitamin D status influences local tissue inflammation, not systemic inflammation.⁴⁶ This supports the idea that disease activity may lead to lower vitamin D levels as immune cells in the intestine work to increase the production of 1,25(OH)₂D. However, lower 25(OH)D3 levels may initially lead to lower 1,25(OH)₂D levels, exacerbating disease activity, and in response, lead to stimulation of 1,25(OH)₂D production.

Despite a high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among IBD patients, serum vitamin D levels may not always be associated with disease activity. Hassan et al.⁴⁷ found no association between low vitamin D levels and increased disease activity in IBD patients. Vitamin D deficiency may also be explained by multiple other factors including the increased risk of intestinal malabsorption among the IBD population or inadequate sun exposure to sunlight either related to lifestyle or persistent symptoms of active disease restricting physical activity.⁴⁸ It has been demonstrated that Crohn's disease patients with quiescent disease have on average a 30% decrease in their ability to absorb vitamin D in comparison to normal subjects after supplemented with 50,000 IU of vitamin D2.⁴⁹ Furthermore, Suibhne et al.²³ report vitamin D deficiency to be common among Crohn's disease patients in clinical remission. Even in the summer, vitamin D deficiency among these patients continued to remain high (50%). As a result, the location of disease, disease activity, or prior resection may not be the only factors affecting vitamin D bioavailability.⁴⁹

1.7 Vitamin D Supplementation Improves IBD Outcomes

Vitamin D supplementation has traditionally been recommended in patients with IBD for management of bone disease; however, there is now increasing evidence for the potential immunomodulatory effects of supplementation. The optimal level of 25-OH vitamin D for immunomodulatory effects is not known; however, Holick⁵⁰ (2007) has

reported that levels of 75 nmol/L or higher provide adequate substrate for 1α hydoxylase in immune cells to locally produce 1,25-hydroxyvitamin D.

To date, there is only one randomized placebo-controlled study that has assessed the effectiveness of vitamin D supplementation in improving Crohn's disease outcomes. Compared to placebo, oral vitamin D supplementation of 1200 IU in adult patients with Crohn's disease in remission was shown to increase the 25-OH vitamin D levels and reduce the risk of relapse from 29% to 13% at 1 year (p=0.06).⁵¹ Although this difference in relapse was not statistically significant, the difference is clinically meaningful and does warrant further study. Furthermore, the effects of active vitamin D (alfacacidiol) supplementation on disease activity were compared to non-active vitamin D (cholecalciferol) in Crohn's disease patients, and the active vitamin D treatment resulted in a significant decrease in CDAI scores and CRP levels. This difference was not maintained at 12 months; however, it had prominent short-term effects and may be due to improved immune responses.⁵² As a result, active vitamin D may have additional improvements compared to the plain form. A third vitamin D supplementation study by Yang et al.⁵³ demonstrated clinical response in 78% of Crohn's disease patients after 24 weeks of supplementation. Patients were started with 1,000 IU/day of vitamin D3, and the dose was increased every two weeks by 1000 IU until serum 25(OH)D3 levels were above 40 ng/ml (100 nmol/L) or the patients were taking 5000 IU/day. After 24 weeks, the maximum dose of 5000 IU/day was required by 78% of patients and effectively raised serum 25(OH)D levels.⁵³ Although further investigation is required, vitamin D supplementation alone has shown clinical benefit in Crohn's disease patients.

Retrospective studies have also demonstrated a protective benefit of achieving normal vitamin D levels. The risk of IBD-related surgery has been demonstrated to increase In IBD patients who have low plasma 25(OH)D levels. Additionally, in Crohn's disease patients, if their vitamin D level was normalized, these patients were less likely to undergo surgery in comparison to patients who continued to maintain a low vitamin D level.⁵⁴ Zator et al.⁵⁵ also demonstrated a protective effect of vitamin D in IBD. They

10

demonstrated a significant association between earlier cessation of anti-TNF therapy in IBD patients who had insufficient vitamin D levels prior to initiation of anti-TNF therapy, suggesting vitamin D may be an important adjuvant treatment aiding in the maintenance of response to this therapy. These studies denote the importance of repleting and maintaining sufficient vitamin D levels in patients who have IBD, specifically above 30 ng/ml (75 nmol/L), to reduce the risk of flares and to maintain response to IBD-therapies.^{54,55}

1.8 Vitamin D and Health-Related Quality of Life

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is a quantitative measurement of one's subjective perception of one's health state, emotionally and socially and is impaired among patients with IBD. IBD patients with active disease have lower HRQoL compared to patients in remission, with no difference between patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.⁵⁶ Vitamin D deficiency in patients with IBD has also been shown to be associated with impaired quality of life. A retrospective study demonstrated that IBD patients with vitamin D deficiency were found to have significantly lower mean quality of life scores, assessed by the short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (SIBDQ), compared to patients who were not vitamin D deficient. However, after adjustment for disease activity, the association was no longer significant between vitamin D deficiency and lower HRQoL, but there was still a strong trend toward deficiency being independently associated with lower SIBDQ scores.⁴¹ Therefore, vitamin D supplementation in vitamin D deficient IBD patients may be important in improving quality of life.

Few studies have examined the role of vitamin D supplementation in improving quality of life in IBD patients. A study by Yang et al.⁵³ showed promising results in vitamin D deficient Crohn's disease patients with oral vitamin D supplementation. Eighteen patients were supplemented with a maximum dose of 5000 IU/day of vitamin D3 for 12 weeks and quality of life was assessed by the inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (IBDQ), which measures disease-specific quality of life. Baseline IBDQ scores indicated poor quality of life, and after supplementation for 12 weeks, 56% of patients had improved IBDQ scores, which were maintained at 24 weeks. Disease activity (assessed by CDAI scores) and quality of life scores were inversely correlated at baseline and after supplementation, as well as serum vitamin D levels and change in levels after supplementation showed a positive correlation with quality of life scores.⁵³

An additional study by Miheller et al.⁵² assessed quality of life in Crohn's disease patients who were treated with either cholecalciferol (plain vitamin D) or alfacalcidiol (active vitamin D). There was significant improvement in quality of life scores measured by the short IBD questionnaire in the active vitamin D group at 6 weeks compared to the plain vitamin D group; however, by 12 months, there was no difference in scores between the two groups. This study supports the short-term effects of active vitamin D, but it fails to report how the scores at 12 months compared to the baseline scores. Therefore it is difficult to make a conclusion based on cholecalciferol supplementation. However, these studies demonstrate that quality of life and disease activity are related and vitamin D supplementation can improve both concurrently.

1.9 Vitamin D and Depression

Vitamin D deficiency has also been linked to depression and other mental health disorders. A recent systematic review supports the association between low vitamin D concentrations and depression.⁵⁷ The mechanism by which vitamin D may be associated with mental disorders is not clearly understood; however, there are vitamin D receptors in the hypothalamus, which may be important in neuroendocrine functioning.⁵⁸ Chronic medical illnesses, including IBD, are associated with higher rates of depression compared to healthy controls^{59,60}; however, there are no studies examining the role of vitamin D supplementation in improving depressive symptoms in this population. Interestingly, there is new evidence showing that depression is associated with chronic low-grade inflammation. Indeed, cytokines have been shown to induce depressive-like

behaviors.⁶¹ The modulatory effects of vitamin D on the immune system in reducing pro-inflammatory cytokines may play a key role in reducing depressive symptoms, specifically among the IBD population. The effects of oral supplementation in improving depressive symptoms have been controversial, with reports of vitamin D supplementation significantly improving depressive symptoms^{62,63,64} and other reports showing no difference in depressive symptoms following vitamin D supplementation; however, low vitamin D levels were still shown to be associated with depressive symptoms.^{65,66} These reports support a relationship between vitamin D and symptoms of depression; however, additional randomized clinical trials examining vitamin D supplementation in improving depressive states are needed, both using oral vitamin D and intramuscular vitamin D in an IBD population. It will be important to consider the dose, vitamin D status of the study group, and if these patients have depressive symptoms prior to supplementation.

Although current data in the IBD population is limited, vitamin D deficiency is linked with impaired quality of life and depression. Stronger evidence is required to support the positive impact that supplementation will have on these clinical outcomes in IBD patients. It will be important to consider that vitamin D deficiency is associated with increased disease activity in IBD patients⁴¹ and that IBD patients with active disease have impaired quality of life and more depressive symtoms.⁵⁶ Therefore, it may be best to assess disease activity by examining both clinical disease activity assessment tools as well as health related quality of life and depression assessment questionnaires.

1.10 Study Purpose and Objectives

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the role of vitamin D levels and supplementation in inducing response to anti-TNF therapy. The relationship between vitamin D and immune system function is well supported, and there is increasing evidence suggesting vitamin D is an environmental factor influencing the course and severity of IBD. *In* vitro studies have suggested a synergistic role for vitamin D and infliximab in reducing inflammation³⁹; however, no studies to date have looked at the role of vitamin D in anti-TNF-induction of response in patients with IBD. Vitamin D supplementation has been shown in one study to reduce the risk of relapse⁵¹; however, stronger evidence is needed to support the effect of vitamin D in inducing and maintaining response in IBD patients. In that multiple factors contribute to the pathogenesis of IBD with increasing complexity as the disease progresses, strategies aimed at improving treatment of the disease are needed. Successful management will require combination therapies that target a number of pathways sequentially or concomitantly.⁴

1.11 Hypothesis

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease who have normal vitamin D levels have a superior clinical response to anti-TNF induction therapy than do those who have low vitamin D levels.

1.12 Specific Objectives

1.12.1 Primary Objectives

- To determine if patients with low serum vitamin D levels prior to initiating therapy have a decreased clinical response to anti-TNF therapy at week 14 compared to patients with normal serum vitamin D levels
- 2. To determine if repletion of vitamin D in patients low in serum vitamin D results in an additional clinical response to anti-TNF therapy at week 22

1.12.2 Secondary Objectives

- 1. To reassess the primary objectives using clinical remission as the outcome
- To compare C-reactive protein (CRP) levels, cytokine profiles, quality of life scores, and depression scores before initiation of anti-TNF therapy and 14 weeks after initiation of anti-TNF therapy between IBD patients with normal vitamin D levels and low vitamin D levels

 To compare C-reactive protein (CRP), cytokine profiles, quality of life scores, and depression scores 22 weeks after initiation of anti-TNF therapy between IBD patients with normal vitamin D levels and IBD patients with low vitamin D levels 8 weeks after supplementation

2 Overview of Vitamin D Absorption and Metabolism

2.1 Vitamin D

Vitamin D or calciferol is a group of lipid soluble compounds with a four-ringed cholesterol backbone and consists of vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) and vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol).⁶⁷ Vitamin D3 is endogenously synthesized in the skin when sunlight and ultraviolet light converts 7-dehydrocholesterol into previtamin D3, which then rapidly converts into vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol).^{50,68} Cutaneously produced vitamin D3 is released from the plasma membrane lipid bilayers of the dermis cells into extracellular space. Vitamin D binding proteins (DBPs) in the dermal capillary bed then transport vitamin D3 into the systemic circulation.^{68,69} The precursor 7-dehydrocholeasterol is produced in large quantities in the skin; however, excess previtamin D3 or vitamin D3 in the skin is destroyed by sunlight, preventing intoxication from excess sunlight exposure. Vitamin D is also exogenously obtained from food and supplements; however, few foods naturally contain or are fortified with vitamin D.⁵⁰ Vitamin D3 is obtained from animals sources such as oily fish and eggs, or it can be manufactured by ultraviolet irradiation of 7-dehydrocholesterol from lanolin. Vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) is synthetic and manufactured through ultraviolet irradiation of ergosterol from yeast; it is assumed to have the same biological activity in man as the 'natural' cholecalciferol (vitamin D3).⁵⁰ The only difference between vitamin D2 and D3 is the double bond between carbons 22 and 23 and the methyl group on carbon 24 in vitamin $D2^{70}$; therefore, the "D" in vitamin D represents D2 and D3.⁵⁰

2.2 Oral and Intramuscular Vitamin D Absorption

Dietary vitamin D (cholecalciferol or ergocalciferol) is absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract, specifically in the proximal small bowel.^{67,68} Both vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 are relatively non-polar molecules and need to be solubilised into a bile-salt micellar solution in order to be absorbed into the aqueous phase. It is first emulsified into mixed micelles and then taken up by enterocytes. It diffuses through the unstirred-water layer, is then up taken by the brush-border membrane, and then transported out of the intestinal cell.⁶⁸ This is followed by incorporation into chylomicrons, which transport vitamin D into the venous circulation via the lymphatic system.^{67,68} Vitamin D can also be administered intramuscularly, wherein cholecalciferol in sesame oil is released into the deep muscle tissue. A depot forms inside the muscle tissue acting as a repository and the vitamin D is gradually absorbed into the blood stream.⁷¹

2.3 Vitamin D Metabolism and Storage

Circulating vitamin D (calciferol) is transported by vitamin D binding proteins (DBPs) to the liver where it is converted to 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25(OH)D) by 25hydroxylase.^{72,73} The dynamics of vitamin D storage and re-entry into circulation remain poorly understood; however, studies have shown that excess non-hydroxylated vitamin D (D3 or D2) and 25(OH)D are stored in adipose tissue and voluntary muscles for later use.^{67,68,69} Beneficially, storage of vitamin D in adipose tissue prolongs its total-body half-life to approximately 2 months.^{68,69,73} 25(OH)D3 is released to circulate in the blood,⁶⁹ where it is predominantly bound by DBPs and albumin, leaving little in the free form.^{50,72} Circulating 25(OH)D then undergoes a second hydroxylation (1 α -hydroxylated) in the mitochondria of the proximal tubules of the kidney to form 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D). Maintaining normal vitamin D levels is important as adequate levels of 25(OH)D must exist for it to be hydroxylated into 1,25(OH)₂D in the kidneys and extrarenal tissues.^{68,70,73} 1,25(OH)₂D is now physiologically active and can act on its receptor to carry out many biological effects. 1,25(OH)₂D and 25(OH)D are then catabolized into their inactive metabolites by 24-hydroxylase and excreted as calcitroic acid in the urine.⁵⁰

The rate limiting enzyme in the metabolism of vitamin D is 1α -hydroxylase, which is tightly regulated by parathyroid hormone (PTH) and $1,25(OH)_2D3$. PTH upregulates transcription of CYP27B1, the gene encoding for 1α -hydroxylase, which results in an increased production of $1,25(OH)_2D3$ in the kidney. As a negative feedback mechanism, $1,25(OH)_2D3$ suppress the transcription of PTH and CYP27B1, to decrease its production. Simultaneously, $1,25(OH)_2D3$ induces 24-hydroxylase production.

2.4 Assessment of Vitamin D Status

When assessing vitamin D absorption, serum concentrations of vitamin D (calciferol) are examined. Furthermore, when assessing the bioavailability of vitamin D, it is the amount of 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) that increases after administration of a dose of vitamin D (calciferol).⁶⁷ Moreover, when assessing vitamin D status, measuring 25(OH)D concentrations is clinically the most useful assessment. This is because it has a serum half life of approximately 3 weeks to 1 month, whereas 1,25(OH)₂D has a short circulating half-life of fewer than 4 hours.^{72,74} This longer half life allows for increased accuracy when indicating vitamin D status, as well as 25(OH)D levels are equally affected by all sources of vitamin D (e.g., UV irradiation, dietary intake, and parenteral intake), making it important for assessing the safety and efficacy of vitamin D supplementation.^{72,73} As a result, vitamin D sufficiency is defined as serum 25(OH)D levels greater or equal to 75 nmol/L. Levels less than this cut-off are broken into two categories, with levels between 50-74 nmol/L being defined as insufficient and levels <50 nmol/L being defined as deficient.⁷⁰

Concentrations of 1,25(OH)₂D should not be used for detecting vitamin D deficiency because the level may be normal or elevated in a person who is vitamin D deficient.⁷⁵ When vitamin D levels are low, calcium absorption is impaired and calcium requirements for bone health are not met. This results in increased PTH production to

increase resorption of calcium from the kidneys and stimulates 1,25(OH)₂D production as a result of secondary hyperparathyroidism.⁷⁵ However, PTH-simulated 1,25(OH)₂D levels are still inadequate in maintaining mineral homeostasis. 1,25(OH)₂D production is restricted by 25(OH)D substrate availability and therefore, supplementation is still required to improve 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D levels.⁷⁶

2.5 Conclusion

Vitamin D can be administered orally or parentally, resulting in different responses to vitamin D supplementation depending on the route of administration. Oral supplementation will result in a rapid increase in vitamin D levels, which will fall linearly thereafter with high doses or remains at a steady state level with low daily doses^{77,78}, wherein intramuscular vitamin D administration delays vitamin D bioavailability as there is a slow linear increase in serum 25(OH)D levels, peaking around 6-8 weeks.⁷⁹ Overall, it best to assess vitamin D status using levels of 25(OH)D and this will determine whether effective dosing to correct vitamin D deficiency has been undertaken.

3 METHODS

3.1 Brief Study Overview



Part 1: Prospective Observation Part 2: Vitamin D Rescue

Figure 3-1 Research Design. This was a prospective intervention cohort study of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients who were starting anti-TNF therapy, infliximab or adalimumab, with no previous exposure to these drugs. Infliximab is administered intravenously at week 0, week 2, week 6, and then every 8 weeks. Adalimumab is administered subcutaneously every 2 weeks. Patients were grouped as having normal vitamin D levels or low vitamin D levels at baseline and then were followed for 22 weeks. This included data collection at week 0, 2, 4, 6, 14, and week 22. Patients in the low vitamin D group were supplemented with vitamin D at week 14 after their infliximab infusion or adalimumab injection.

3.2 Setting and Subject Selection

Eligible subjects were identified by the patient's gastroenterologist from the University of Alberta and Misericordia Hospital. Patients were recruited prospectively as outpatients from the University of Alberta Inflammatory Bowel Disease Clinic Outpatient Clinic and infliximab infusion clinics across Edmonton, Alberta, and as inpatients from the University of Alberta hospital.

3.2.1 Inclusion Criteria

- 1. A diagnosis of Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis confirmed by endoscopy and histology
- 2. Initiating anti-TNF therapy (infliximab or adalimumab)
- 3. Male or female
- 4. 18 years of age or older and able to give written consent

3.2.2 Exclusion Criteria

- 1. Previous exposure to anti-TNF therapy
- 2. Supplementing with vitamin D > 2000 IU/day orally
- 3. Received a vitamin D injection < 2 months prior to starting anti-TNF therapy
- 4. Pregnant and lactating women
- 5. Patients at increased risk of vitamin D toxicity with treatment
 - i. history of cancer
 - ii. impaired renal function
 - iii. impaired liver function
- 6. Coeliac disease

3.3 Study Overview

Subjects who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were invited to participate in this study. The study coordinator discussed with the patients the background and purpose of the study, the study methods, as well as confidentiality and voluntary participation.
Patients were given the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the study. After this discussion, each patient read the information sheet (Appendix A) and signed the informed consent form approved by the University of Alberta Ethics Review Board (Appendix B). Once the consent form was completed, the participants were given a demographics questionnaire (Appendix C), a clinical disease activity questionnaire, either the Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) guestionnaire for Crohn's disease (Appendix D) or Partial Mayo Score (PM) questionnaire for ulcerative colitis (Appendix E), as well as one quality of life assessment questionnaire (Appendix F) and one depression assessment questionnaire (Appendix G). Baseline disease activity was obtained at the time the patient started the infliximab or adalimumab; however, some patients were on concomitant therapy, such as corticosteroids, at their first dose of anti-TNF therapy, which reduced their clinical disease activity questionnaire scores to totals that were not reflective of their actual disease state at the time their physician decided to start infliximab or adalimumab treatment; therefore, the clinical disease activity score obtained at the time the physician decided to start anti-TNF therapy was also obtained from each patient's chart. The score at the time the decision was made to start anti-TNF therapy was used as the baseline score unless this data was not available.

If the patients were starting infliximab, the infusion nurse drew the blood work immediately before the start of the infusion. If the patients were starting adalimumab, patients were asked to complete the blood work at any laboratory by trained technicians within 1 week prior to their first adalimumab injection. In that some patients were on concomitant therapy, their CRP at this time was not reflective of their disease state. As a result, each patient's baseline CRP level was obtained from the blood work completed at the time the decision to start anti-TNF therapy was made. Subsequently, these levels were then able to be linked with the HBI or PM score obtained at that time. Patients were followed up for 22 weeks, which included the first 5 infliximab infusions (week 0, 2, 6, 14, and 22) or the first 12 adalimumab injections (week 0-12). If patients were dose escalated, wherein the frequency of drug administration was changed,

22

patients continued to be followed up at week 14 and week 22, regardless of the infusion or injection number. The follow up blood work was completed at week 14 and week 22 immediately before each patient's infliximab infusion and the disease activity, quality of life, and depression assessment questionnaires were completed during these infusions. The follow up blood work, disease activity, quality of life, and depression assessment questionnaires for patients on adalimumab were completed within one week prior to these injections. Patients who were in the low vitamin D group were administered a vitamin D injection within 2 weeks after their week 14 infliximab infusion or adalimumab injection.

This study contained two parts. Part 1 included weeks 0 to 14 and part 2 included weeks 14 to 22, after vitamin D supplementation. A detailed outline of all the data collected for weeks 0, 2, 4, 6, 14, 18, and 22 are as follows:

3.3.1 Part 1 Prospective Observation

At week 0, 2, 4, 6, and 14, disease activity was assessed with:

- Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) score for patients with Crohn's disease
- Partial Mayo (PM) clinic score for patients with ulcerative colitis

At week 0 and week 14 the following was measured from the blood samples collected:

- Complete blood count (CBC) labs: Hemoglobin, white blood cell count, platelets;
 C-reactive protein (CRP); serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D; calcium; albumin; and
 parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels
- Serum cytokine levels (IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, GM-CSF, TNF-alpha, INF-gamma)

At week 0 and week 14 the following questionnaires were administered to assess quality of life and depression:

- The Short Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire (SIBDQ) to assess quality of life
- The Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) questionnaire to assess depression

3.3.2 Part 2 Vitamin D Rescue

Part 2 of the study was initiated at week 14. Patients in the low vitamin D group were given a single intramuscular vitamin D injection within 2 weeks after their week 14 infliximab infusion or after their week 14-adalimumab injection according to the protocol in Table 3.1. This was completed by a nurse in the IBD clinic, by the patient's pharmacist, or by the patient's family doctor. The normal vitamin D group did not receive supplemental vitamin D. Patients were then followed prospectively for an additional 8 weeks.

At week 18 and 22 disease activity was assessed with:

- Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) score for patients with Crohn's disease
- Partial Mayo (PM) clinic score for patients with ulcerative colitis

At week 22 the following was measured from the blood samples collected:

- CBC labs: Hemoglobin, white blood cell count, platelets; C-reactive protein (CRP); serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D; calcium; albumin; and parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels
- Serum cytokine levels (IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, GM-CSF, TNF-alpha, INF-gamma)

At week 22 following questionnaires were administered to assess quality of life and depression:

- The Short Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire (SIBDQ) to assess quality of life
- The Beck Depression Inventory- II (BDI-II) questionnaire to assess depression

An overview of the study activity schedule is outlined in Table 3.2.

Serum 25-OH Vitamin D Level	Cholecalciferol (in sesame oil)
Less than 50 nmol/L	500, 000 IU IM x 1
Less than 75 nmol/L and greater	250, 000 IU IM x 1
than or equal to 50 nmol/L	

This protocol (Table 3.1) was developed by Dr. R. Fedorak (University of Alberta, Division of Gastroenterology) and Dr. K. Siminoski (University of Alberta, Division of Endocrinology) for the treatment of vitamin D deficiency in IBD patients. This protocol is implemented in the clinical practice of IBD physicians at the University of Alberta and therefore to continue with clinical practice protocols, intramuscular (IM) injections of vitamin D were used in this study to supplement the low vitamin D group. Additionally, a literature review was conducted to assess the efficacy of oral vitamin D versus IM vitamin D in IBD patients. There are no clinical trials comparing these two routes of administration in IBD patients, and in that some IBD patients may be prone to intestinal malabsorption of oral vitamin D⁴⁹, intramuscular supplementation has been chosen as the route of administration for this study.

	Prospective Observation			Vitamin D Rescue			
	Week 0	Week 2	Week 4	Week 6	Week 14	Week 18	Week 22
History	х						
CBC, CRP	х				Х		х
Vitamin D	х				Х		Х
НВІ	х	х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х
PM	Х	X	Х	Х	X	X	Х
Cytokines	х				Х		х
Other labs	х				Х		х
Vitamin D					Х		
injection							
SIBDQ	х				Х		Х
BDI-II	Х				Х		Х

Table 3-2 Study Activity Schedule

3.4 Experimental variables

3.4.1 Independent Variables

The independent variable was the serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) level; this determined the patient's vitamin D status. Patients in the normal vitamin D group had a 25(OH)D level \geq 75 nmol/L and patients in the low vitamin D group had a 25(OH)D level < 75 nmol/L. The literature has defined 2 cut offs to stratify vitamin D status into 3 groups. Vitamin D sufficiency is defined as a 25(OH)D level \geq 75 nmol/L. The literature has defined as a 25(OH)D level \geq 75 nmol, with insufficiency defined as a level <75 and \geq 50 nmol/L and deficiency as a level \leq 50 nmol/L.⁷⁰ With an expected small sample size, stratifying the patients with low vitamin D into two categories would result in a very small sample size in each group; as a result, for this study, groups were defined as having normal vitamin D levels or low vitamin D levels using the cut-off value of 75 nmol/L.

3.4.2 Dependent Variables

3.4.2.1 Measurements of disease activity

Clinical disease activity questionnaires, the Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) (Appendix D) for Crohn's disease and Partial Mayo Score (PM) (Appendix E) for ulcerative colitis, were collected at baseline (week 0), week 2, 4, 6, 14 and 22 to monitor changes in disease activity during anti-TNF therapy in the low and normal vitamin D groups and after vitamin D treatment in the low vitamin D group. The Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI) is commonly used in clinical trials to assess disease activity in patients with Crohn's disease; however, its calculation is complex.⁸⁰ The HBI was developed as a simplified version of the Crohn's disease activity index (CDAI), assessing general wellbeing, abdominal pain, stool frequency, and additional manifestations; it has a 93% correlation with the CDAI.⁸¹ Therefore, the HBI questionnaire was chosen to clinically assess Crohn's disease activity for this study. The 9-point Partial Mayo Score (PM) is based on the Mayo Score without the endoscopy sub-score. Therefore, the PM questionnaire was chosen for this study, assessing stool frequency and rectal bleeding; it is a non-invasive tool for monitoring ulcerative colitis activity and is effective in that it has good sensitivity and specificity in identifying patients in clinical remission or with clinical improvement.⁸² The scores of these questionnaires can fall into 4 groups, which define the disease severity of the patient. A patient may be in remission or have mild, moderate, or severe disease activity. These disease activity scores were used to determine clinical response and clinical remission.

It should be noted that these questionnaires do not accurately measure disease activity in Crohn's disease patients with fistulizing disease or stricturing disease. In these cases, stool frequency may be low or high, and in that the HBI score is driven by stool frequency, these patients may not have a score that would represent their actual disease state. Therefore, these patients were excluded from the clinical response and

27

clinical remission sections of the results. However, these patients were still included in the other sections that assessed disease activity (CRP and cytokines).

3.4.2.1.1 Clinical Definitions

- **1.** *Clinical response:* achievement of a HBI score <5 or a decrease in the HBI score by \geq 3 points from baseline⁸⁰ for Crohn's disease, or achievement of a PM score of 0 or 1, or a decrease in the PM score by \geq 3, with a decrease in the rectal bleeding sub-score of \geq 1 for ulcerative colitis or absolute rectal bleeding score of 0 or 1.⁸²
- Clinical remission: achievement of a HBI score <5 for Crohn's disease⁸⁰ or achievement of a PM score of 0 or 1 for ulcerative colitis.⁸²
- 3. Loss of Response: Patients who underwent an IBD-related surgery, terminated anti-TNF treatment, or were dose escalated were not considered to have a clinical response from the time of the event onward, regardless of his/her HBI or PM score.
- 4. Clinically significant response: an increase of ≥ 20% in the proportion of patients who achieve a clinical response compared to baseline. Randomized clinical trials examining efficacy of infliximab and adalimumab in moderate to severe IBD have reported 20% difference in response rates to be clinically significant.⁸³
- 5. Dose escalation: If a patient loses clinical response, i.e., patients were developing disease symptoms, optimization of anti-TNF treatment is the primary intention. For infliximab, the interval of drug administration can be decreased from 8 weeks to 4 weeks or the dose per kg can be increased from 5mg/kg to 10 mg/kg. For adalimumab, the maintenance frequency of drug administration can be increased from every 2 weeks to every week, still at 40 mg; dose is not changed.⁸⁴
- 6. IBD-related surgery: Patients would be defined as a non-responder to infliximab or adalimumab if after the induction phase of the drug patients were sent to surgery to remove part of their intestine because of unresolved inflammation or severe stricturing (including small bowel resection, ileocecal resection, colectomy, and segmental colon resection) (personal communications, Dr. Haili Wang).

3.4.2.2 Serological Disease Activity Markers

3.4.2.2.1 C reactive protein

C reactive protein (CRP) was measured as a surrogate marker of systemic inflammation. It was measured at baseline, week 14, and week 22 to assists in the interpretation of disease activity. CRP response at week 14 or week 22 was defined as a decrease in the patient's baseline CRP level by \geq 50%. CRP remission was defined as achievement of a CRP levels < 8 mg/L at week 14 or week 22. There are, however, patients who do not produce CRP due to genetic variability⁸⁵; as a result, these patients were excluded from the CRP analysis.

3.4.2.2.2 Experimental Cytokines

IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, GM-CSF, TNF-alpha, and INF-gamma were measured to assist in the interpretation of disease activity and to understand the influence of vitamin D on immune responses. This panel was used because these cytokines are related to the pathogenesis and course of IBD as well as are regulated by vitamin D.

3.4.2.2.3 Other

Calcium and parathyroid hormone were measured at baseline, week 14 and week 22 to ensure normality of the vitamin D metabolism pathway⁵⁰. Complete blood work (CBC) and albumin was measured at baseline, week 14, and week 22 as these are markers of wellness.⁸⁶

3.4.2.3 Management of quality of life and depression

3.4.2.3.1 Short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaires

The Short Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire (SIBDQ) by Irvine et al.⁸⁷ was chosen for this study as it is an IBD specific questionnaire developed from a cohort of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients to assess patients' response to interventions in terms of changes in health related quality of life (Appendix F). The SIBDQ is the short version of the inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (IBDQ), which is a physician-administered disease-specific health-related quality of life (HRQOL) questionnaire that defines changes in health status in IBD.^{87,88} They both provide a subjective assessment of quality of life; however, the SIBDQ has fewer questions (10 vs. 32) and is self-administered; it has been proven to be valid and reliable.⁸⁷ There are 10 multiple-choice questions, wherein each question contains 7 statements. Depending on the answer, each question receives a score from 1-7. Total scores were reported with a 7-point scale (1=poor HRQoL, 7=optimum HRQoL).

3.4.2.3.2 Beck depression inventory – second edition (BDI-II)

The BDI-II was created by Dr. Aaron Beck⁸⁹, and the second version of this questionnaire was published in 1966 (Appendix G). It was chosen for this study as it is a commercially available, patient administered questionnaire, used in adults and adolescents who are 13 years and older to measure severity of depression. There are 21 multiple-choice questions, wherein each question contains 4 statements that range in severity from 0-3. The overall severity of depression is based on the total score, wherein higher scores indicate more severe depression. The range of possible scores for the BDI-II is 0-62, and severity of depression is categorized into 4 groups: minimal (0-13), mild (14-19), moderate (20-28), and severe (29-63)⁸⁹. Furthermore, Thomas et al.⁹⁰ developed a model wherein the BDI-II questions were divided into cognitive symptoms (i.e., sadness, loss of pleasure, guilty feelings) and somatic symptoms (i.e., loss of energy, irritability, and fatigue) of depression, and this model was chosen for this study. Questions 1-14 were summed to determine the cognitive score and questions 15-21 were summed to determine the somatic score.

3.5 Overview of Specimen Handling and Processing

Blood draws for haematology, chemistry, endocrinology, and biochemistry were performed by infliximab infusion nurses or by trained technicians at a local pathology laboratory as part of standard patient care. Edmonton zone lab services analyze samples from multiple locations in Edmonton, and analyzed our samples. Samples were stored for vitamin D analysis in a -20 degree Celsius freezer. Vitamin D levels were measured using Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography to accurately separate the forms of vitamin D (25-hydroxyvitamin D2 and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3), with a coefficient of variation of 5% (personal communications, Keith Steinbach). In that the coefficient of variation is very small, only one vitamin D level was measured for each patient at each time point. Although using one measurement of vitamin D was a limitation of the study, this method is used regularly in clinical practice among all patients populations, and therefore, was a 'real life' measurement of vitamin D status.

The infliximab infusion nurses drew blood for cytokine analysis just prior to the start of each patient's infliximab infusion. These specimens were collected in a gold top 5 ml tube. Samples were spun and aliquoted within 2 hours of collection. Samples were stored in a -70 degree Celsius freezer for up to 18 months to a few weeks before analysis; cytokines are stable for up to 2 years when frozen.⁹¹ The Meso Scale Discovery Multi-Spot Assay System, Human Pro-Inflammatory 9-Plex Ultra-Sensitive Kit (K15007C-1) was used to measure IL-2, IL-8, IL-12p70, IL-1beta, GM-CSF, IFN-gamma, IL-6, IL-10, TNF-alpha cytokine levels. Samples were thawed on ice and the assay protocol was performed according to instructions over two days to increase the sensitivity of the assay.

3.6 Medication and Supplementation

All medications were permitted as clinically indicated. Corticosteroids increase degradation of 25-OH vitamin D⁹²; however, this is a standard medication used in treatment of IBD patients who are not in remission¹⁵ and therefore was permitted. An oral dose of 2000 IU/day is the upper limit of recommended daily vitamin D intake,⁹³ therefore, a dose greater than 2000 IU per day was not permitted. Dietary vitamin D is not a concern for this study as only a small amount of vitamin D comes from the diet.⁹³

3.7 Data Management

All study subjects were assigned a study number that appeared on all data collection instruments, documents, and files. Personal information needed for tacking and informed consent forms were stored separately from the other data with only limited team members having access. This was to ensure that the privacy and confidentiality of the participants in the study were protected.

3.8 Statistical Analysis

Dichotomous end points (i.e., response and remission) were compared using Chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests, where appropriate. The risk difference and relative risk were reported with their respective 95% confidence intervals (CI). Continuous variables of independent samples were compared using Mann-Whitney U Tests and continuous variables of paired-samples were compared using the Wilcoxon signed rank test. Medians were reported with its respective interquartile range (IQR).

For subgroup analysis of these outcomes, patients were stratified by disease severity, assessed by the HBI or PM score before initiating anti-TNF therapy. Patients were grouped as having severe disease, defined by a HBI score > 7 or PM score > 4 or as having non-severe disease, defined by a HBI score < 8 or a PM score < 5.

In response to a missing vitamin D value at week 14, the last observation was carried forward (LOCF). All other variables were determined missing if they were not obtained at the appropriate time point, and the patient was excluded from that type of analysis. All statistical tests were two-sided and performed at the 0.05 level of significance. Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 21.

3.9 Controlling for Bias

Bias was first controlled for during patient recruitment. Patients were not included in the study if they had coeliac disease, cancer, or were at risk of vitamin D toxicity, as these diseases interfere with vitamin D absorption and metabolism. Furthermore, patients were excluded if they had been previously exposed to anti-TNF therapy, as this exposure decreases their ability to respond to a different anti-TNF therapy.⁹⁴ Bias was also controlled for during statistical analysis. Baseline characteristics were collected using the demographics form to determine if there were differences in these variables between the groups. Moreover, to control for seasonal variation in vitamin D, patients were recruited all year round.

3.10 Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board (Pro00031844).

4 RESULTS

4.1 STUDY SUBJECT FLOW CHART (FIGURE 4-1)

Patients were recruited from October 2012 to January 2014. Written consent was obtained from 62 subjects who met the inclusion criteria. Patients were categorized into either the normal vitamin D or low vitamin D group, defined by their baseline vitamin D level that was measured before they started anti-TNF therapy. There were 8 patients who were withdrawn from the study after recruitment because of the following reasons:

- Patient received a vitamin D injection before week 14 of the study (n=2, low vitamin D group)
- Patient was re-induced on infliximab or had multiple infusions when started in hospital (n=3; 2 low vitamin D group, 1 normal vitamin D group)
- Patient stopped the drug after developing an infection (n=1, normal vitamin D group)
- Patient was diagnosed with cancer while in the study (n=2, low vitamin D group)

In that there were two parts to this study, patients were categorized into two groups: patients who completed up to week 14 of the study (completed part 1) and those who completed up to week 22 of the study (completed part 1 and part 2). There were 54 patients who completed up to week 14 and 43 patients who completed up to week 22. Of these 43 patients, 5 were excluded for the following reasons:

- 1. Patient requested withdrawal after week 14 of study (n=1, low vitamin D group)
- 2. Patient did not receive vitamin D injection by week 22 (n=2, low vitamin D group)
- Patient's infliximab dosing changed to 6 weeks after week 18 (n=1, normal vitamin D group)

 Patient stopped infliximab therapy due to non-compliance (n=1, normal vitamin D group)

As a result, there were 38 patients who completed up to week 22 of the study. Figure 4-1 describes the overall study subject flow.



Figure 4-1 Study flowchart from recruitment to analysis

4.2 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

Baseline characteristics of patients who completed up to week 14, stratified by vitamin D status, are similar as presented in Table 4.1. Baseline characteristics of patients who completed up to week 22, stratified by vitamin D status, are presented in Table 4.3. Patients with low vitamin D levels were younger, and all other demographics were similar. Baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 14 are presented in Table 4.2 and baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 22 are presented in Table 4.4. All patients prescribed infliximab were initiated on a dose of 5 mg/kg and completed the induction doses at week 0, 2, and 6. All patients prescribed adalimumab were initiated on a dose of 160 mg at week 0, then 80 mg at week 2, and then 40 mg at week 4. By week 14, vitamin D levels of patients in the low vitamin D group continued to be above 75 nmol/L. By week 22, all patients had a vitamin D levels above 75 nmol/L.

Table 4-1 Demographics of IBD patients who completed up to week 14, stratified by	/
vitamin D status	

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=28)	Group (n=26)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	40.5 (30.0-55.5)	34.0 (22.0-39.0)	0.070
Male %, n	50%, 14	69%, 18	0.150
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	5.0 (0.0-14.0)	10.0 (2.0 – 18.0)	0.440
Crohn's Disease %, n	79%, 22	81%, 21	0.840
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	21%, 6	31%, 8	0.950
Ileal	39%, 11	35%,9	
Ileocolonic	18%, 5	15%, 4	
Pancolitis	11%, 3	7%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	11%, 3	12%, 3	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	79%, 22	84%, 22	0.380
Penetrating	14%, 4	4%, 1	
Stricturing	7%, 2	12%, 3	
Infliximab %, n	93%, 26	89%, 23	0.580
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	32%, 9	23%, 6	0.560
Nonsmoker	39%, 11	46%, 12	
Former Smoker	29%, 8	31%, 8	
History of Surgery %, n	25%, 7	19%, 5	0.610
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	25%, 7	19%, 5	0.610
Immunosuppressants %, n	75%, 21	73%, 19	0.870
Corticosteroids %, n	50%, 14	62%, 16	0.400

Table 4-2 Baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 14, stratified by vitami	n
D status	

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=28)	Group (N=26)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	97.5 (84.0-105.0)	52.5 (46.0-65.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.32 (2.27-2.42)	2.26 (2.21-2.32)	0.032
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	42.0 (38.0-43.0)	39.0 (35.0-41.0)	0.017
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.8 (2.8-4.5)	3.3 (2.9-4.6)	0.660
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	137.5 (123.5-148.5)	128.0 (110.0-141.0)	0.077
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	7.3 (5.6-10.3)	7.4 (5.8-9.3)	0.680
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	258.0 (215.5-315.0)	313.0 (256.0-384.0)	0.085
Ref. Range: 140-450			

Table 4-3 Demographics of patients who completed up to week 22, stratifie	ed by
vitamin D	

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=21)	Group (n=17)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	46.0 (31.0-60.0)	27.0 (22.0-36.0)	0.004
Male %, n	43%, 9	71%, 12	0.087
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	5 .0 (0.0-14.0)	10.0 (2.0-15.0)	0.580
Crohn's Disease %, n	76%, 16	82%, 14	0.640
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	19%, 4	23%, 4	0.830
Ileal	33%, 7	47%, 8	
lleocolonic	24%, 5	12%, 2	
Pancolitis	10%, 2	6%, 1	
Left-sided colitis	14%, 3	12%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	86%, 18	82%, 14	0.690
Penetrating	10%, 2	6%, 1	
Stricturing	4%, 1	12%, 2	
Infliximab %, n	91%, 19	88%, 15	0.820
Smoking Status %, n	_		
Current	24%, 5	18%, 3	0.620
Nonsmoker	43%, 9	59%, 10	
Former Smoker	33%, 7	23%, 4	
History of Surgery %, n	24%, 5	24%, 4	0.950
Sulfasalizine/mesalamine %, n	24%, 5	18%, 3	0.640
Azathioprine %, n	76%, 16	88%, 15	0.340
Corticosteroids %, n	43%, 9	65%, 11	0.180

Table 4-4 Baseline labs of patients who completed up to week 22, stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=21)	Group (N=17)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	98.0 (87.0-104.0)	54.0 (46.0-66.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.29 (2.27-2.39)	2.23 (2.18-2.31)	0.170
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	40.0 (37.0-43.0)	38.5 (35.0-41.0)	0.096
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	4.0 (2.9-5.0)	3.0 (2.1-3.7)	0.070
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	133.0 (122.0-146.0)	126.0 (117.0-134.0)	0.160
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	7.2 (5.2-8.7)	6.8 (5.6-10.3)	0.930
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	263.0 (220.0-325.0)	320.0 (260.0-406.0)	0.095
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.3 PRIMARY ENDPOINT: EFFICACY AT WEEK 14

4.3.1 Patient Population

There were 54 patients who completed up to week 14 of the study. Of these patients, there were 10 patients who had fistulizing disease or stricturing disease. In that the HBI scores recorded from these patients are not reflective of their disease state, these patients were excluded from the clinical response and remission analysis as well as from the analysis of the raw disease activity scores. Patients who had multiple resections or an ostomy were included in this analysis. The number of bowel movements these patients were having was not different from the other patients, and clinical response was still able to be determined. Therefore, the total number of IBD patients analyzed was 44. There were 33 Crohn's disease patients, with non-stricturing, non-penetrating disease behavior, and 11 ulcerative colitis patients, who started anti-TNF therapy due to disease inflammation; patients with concomitant perianal disease were included. Baseline demographics were similar between the two groups. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.5 and the baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.6.

Table 4-5 Efficacy at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=21)	Group (n=23)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	43.5 (30.0-57.0)	36.0 (22.0-49.0)	0.200
Male %, n	48%, 10	65%, 15	0.240
Disease Duration (years)			0.440
Median (IQR)	5.0 (0.0 – 17.0)	9.0 (2.0-18.0)	
Crohn's Disease %, n	71%, 15	78%, 18	0.600
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	15%,3	30%,7	0.520
lleal	33%,7	39%,9	
Ileocolonic	24%,5	9%,2	
Pancolitis	14%,3	9%,2	
Left-sided colitis	14%,3	13%,3	
Disease Behavior %, n			1.00
Inflammatory	100%, 21	100%, 23	
Penetrating			
Stricturing			
Infliximab %, n	91%, 19	87%, 20	0.710
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	19%, 4	17%, 4	0.920
Nonsmoker	48%, 10	44%, 10	
Former Smoker	33%, 7	39%, 9	
History of Surgery %, n	29%, 6	17%, 4	0.480
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	29%, 6	26%, 6	0.850
Immunosuppressants %, n	71%, 15	70%, 16	0.890
Corticosteroids %, n	43%, 9	61%, 14	0.230

Table 4-6 Efficacy at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=21)	Group (N=23)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	92.0 (81.0-101.0)	52.0 (44.0-66.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.29 (2.26-2.41)	2.25 (2.19-2.30)	0.039
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	41.0 (37.0-43.0)	38.5 (35.0-41.0)	0.046
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.9 (3.1-4.3)	3.3 (3.1 – 4.7)	0.680
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	135.0 (122.0-148.0)	127.0 (109.0–	0.140
Ref. Range: 120-160		141.0)	
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	7.1 (5.2 – 8.5)	7.9 (6.0 – 10.3)	0.340
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	271.5 (218.0-325.0)	293.5 (252.0-384.0)	0.240
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.3.2 Clinical Response At Week 14

4.3.2.1 Clinical response in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

The proportion of IBD patients in the normal vitamin D group who responded at week 14 was 67% (14/21). Similarly, 65% (15/23) of patients in the low vitamin D group responded at week 14 (p=0.92) (Figure 4-2 A). Therefore, the relative risk (RR) of achieving a clinical response at week 14 if a patient had normal vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy was 1.0 (95% CI: 0.67 -1.6).

4.3.2.2 Clinical response in IBD patients with severe and non-severe disease

Patients were stratified by disease severity based on their baseline disease activity questionnaire score. There were 31 patients with severe disease, defined by a baseline HBI score of > 7 or a baseline PM score > 5, and 13 patients with non-severe disease.

Among patients with severe disease, the proportion of patients who clinically responded at week 14 in the low vitamin D group was 26% (95% CI: -6.0% - 58%) higher than the proportion of patients in the normal vitamin D group (79% (11/14) vs. 53% (9/17), p=0.14), as presented in Figure 4-2B. As a result, IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy were 1.5 (95% CI: 0.88-2.5) times more likely to respond at week 14 than patients with severe disease and normal vitamin D levels.

In contrast, among patients with non-severe disease, the proportion of patients who clinically responded at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group was 56% (95% CI 23%-88%) higher than the proportion of patients who in the low vitamin D group (100% (4/4) vs. 44% (4/9), p=0.11; RR: 2.3, 95% CI: 1.1 - 4.7), as presented in Figure 4-2B. Therefore, IBD patients with non-severe disease and normal vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy were 2.3 times more likely to respond clinically at week 14 than patients with non-severe disease and low vitamin D levels.



Figure 4-2 Clinical Response at week 14. A. The proportion of patients with IBD on anti-TNF therapy, who responded at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status. **B.** The proportion of IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy who responded at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status, in the severe-disease group and non-severe disease group. IBD patients with low vitamin D before initiation of anti-TNF therapy have a stronger clinical response to therapy, if they have severe disease.

4.3.2.3 Clinical response in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis

There were 33 patients with a diagnosis of Crohn's disease, including 15 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 18 patients in the low vitamin D group, and 11 patients with a diagnosis of ulcerative colitis, including 6 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 5 patients in the low vitamin D group.

The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease who responded, as per the minimum 3point drop in their HBI score from baseline at week 14, was similar in the normal and low vitamin D groups (60% (9/15) vs. 61% (11/18), p=0.95; RR: 0.98, 95% CI: 0.56-1.7). Furthermore, the proportion of patients with ulcerative colitis who responded at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group was 67% (4/6) and 80% (4/5) in the low vitamin D group (p=1.00), with a relative risk of 0.83 (95% CI: 0.41-1.7), as presented in Figure 4-3 A.

4.3.2.4 Clinical response in patients with severe and non-severe CD and UC

After stratifying by disease severity, the response trends in the Crohn's disease group were similar to those demonstrated in the IBD patients. As a result, among patients with severe Crohn's disease, there proportion of patients who responded at week 14 in the low vitamin D group was 32% (-7.0% - 72%) higher than the proportion of patients in the normal vitamin D group (78% (7/9) vs. 46% (5/11), p=0.14; RR of 1.7 (95% CI: 0.82-3.6). Furthermore, 100% (4/4) of patients in the normal vitamin D group responded at week 14 compared to 44% (4/9) of patients in the low vitamin D group (p=0.11), among patients with non-severe Crohn's disease, with a relative risk of 2.3 (95% CI: 1.1-4.7) (Figure 4-3B). All the ulcerative colitis patients had severe disease at baseline.





Figure 4-3 Clinical response at week 14 in CD and UC. A. The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis on anti-TNF therapy, who clinically responded at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status. **B**. The proportion of Crohn's disease patients on anti-TNF therapy who responded at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status, in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients with low vitamin D before initiation of anti-TNF therapy have a stronger clinical response to therapy, if they have severe disease.

4.3.3 Clinical Disease Activity Scores At Week 14

4.3.3.1 Harvey Bradshaw Index scores for Crohn's disease

Disease activity was assessed in Crohn's disease patients by the Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) questionnaire at weeks 0, 2, 4, 6, and week 14. The trend in scores over 14 weeks is presented in Figure 4-4. One patient with Crohn's disease underwent surgery before week 14 and was excluded from this HBI analysis.



Figure 4-4 HBI scores over 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy. Patients in both vitamin D groups had the greatest response at week 2 and maintained this response up to week 14.

4.3.3.1.1 Baseline HBI scores

At baseline, the median HBI scores in each group (Figure 4-4) represented moderate disease, which ranges from scores of 8-16. The normal vitamin D group had a median score of 10.5 (IQR: 7.0-15.0) and the low vitamin D group had a median 7.5 (IQR: 6.0-10.0), p=0.071.

4.3.3.1.2 Week 14 HBI scores

By week 14, there was a decrease in median HBI scores in each group, reflecting improvement in both groups (Figure 4-4). The normal vitamin D group, however, still

had a median HBI score in the moderate disease range (7.5, IQR: 4.0-9.5) and the low vitamin D group had a median HBI score in the mild disease range (5.0, IQR: 3.8 - 6.3), (p=0.099).

4.3.3.1.3 Within group-differences between week 14 and week 0 HBI scores

There was a drastic difference between the median HBI scores at week 14 and week 0 within the group of Crohn's disease patients who had normal vitamin D levels (10.5, IQR: 7.0 -15.0 vs. 7.5, IQR: 4.0- 9.5, p=0.010), as well as within the group of Crohn's disease patients who had low vitamin D levels (7.5 IQR: 6.0-10.0 vs. 5.0, IQR: 3.8-6.3, p=0.002) as presented in Figure 4-4.

4.3.3.1.4 Delta changes in HBI scores from week 0 to week 14

The median change in the HBI scores represented a response in both groups, defined by a drop in a score of 3 points or more (Figure 4-4). The change was similar between normal vitamin D group (-4.0, IQR: -5.3- -2.0) and the low vitamin D group (-3.0, IQR: -6.3 - -1.0), (p=0.49). Individual HBI scores at week 0 and week 14 are presented in Figure 4-5.

A. Low vitamin D group



B. Normal vitamin D group



Figure 4-5 Individual HBI scores at week 0 and week 14. Individual HBI scores at week 0 and week 14 in the **(A)** low vitamin D group and **(B)** normal vitamin D group.

4.3.3.2 Partial Mayo scores for ulcerative colitis

Disease activity was assessed in ulcerative colitis patients by the Partial Mayo (PM) questionnaire at weeks 0, 2, 4, 6, and 14. The trend in scores over 14 weeks is presented in Figure 4-6.



Figure 4-6 PM scores over 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy. Ulcerative colitis patients had the greatest response at week 2 in both vitamin D groups and maintained this response up to week 14. The low vitamin D group achieved remission by week 2 and maintained remission.

4.3.3.2.1 Baseline PM scores

At baseline, according to the median PM scores, the patients in the normal vitamin D group had moderate disease while the low vitamin D group had severe disease (Figure 4-6). As a result, the low vitamin D group (8.0, IQR: 6.5-9.0) had a slightly higher median PM score than the normal vitamin D group (6.0, IQR: 5.0-8.3), (p=0.18).

4.3.3.2.2 Week 14 PM scores

By week 14, there was a drastic decrease in median PM scores in each group, reflecting improvement in both groups (Figure 4-6). The normal vitamin D group, however, still had a median PM score in the mild disease range (1.5, IQR: 0.0-3.8) and the low vitamin D group reached a median PM score in the remission range (1.0, IQR: 0.0-3.0), (p=0.66).

4.3.3.2.3 Within group-differences between week 14 and week 0 PM scores

There was a drastic difference between the week 14 median PM score and week 0 median PM score within the normal vitamin D group (1.5, IQR: 0.0-3.8 vs. 6.0, IQR: 5.0 –

8.3, p=0.027) and within the low vitamin D group (1.0, IQR: 0.0-3.0 vs. 8.0, IQR: 6.5-9.0, p=0.039).

4.3.3.2.4 Delta changes in PM scores from week 0 to week 14 Week 14 and Week 0

Similar to the Crohn's disease patients, the median change in the PM scores represented a response in both groups, defined by a drop in a score of 3 points or more (Figure 4-6). There was a large median change from week 0 to week 14 in the low vitamin D group (-8.0, IQR: -8.0- -4.0) and a small change in the normal vitamin D group (-4.5, IQR: -6.3- -2.8), (p=0.13). Individual PM scores at week 0 and week 14 are presented in Figure 4-7.

A. Low vitamin D group



B. Normal vitamin D group



Figure 4-7 Individual PM scores at week 0 and week 14. Individual PM scores of patients in the **(A)** low vitamin D group and **(B)** normal vitamin D group.

4.3.3.3 Clinical Disease Activity Scores, stratified by disease severity

4.3.3.3.1 HBI scores of patients with severe Crohn's disease

At baseline, the median HBI scores were similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (12.0, IQR: 10.0-15.0 vs. 10.0, IQR: 9.0-11.0, p=0.11) in severe Crohn's disease patients. By week 14, the low vitamin D group had a lower median HBI score compared to the normal vitamin D group (5.0, IQR: 3.0-7.0 vs. 9.0, IQR: 7.0-11.0, p=0.028), with similar delta changes from baseline to week 14 in the low vitamin D group (-6.0, IQR: -8.0 - -4.0) compared to the normal vitamin D group (-4.0, IQR: -6.0 - - 2.0), (p=0.36).

4.3.3.3.2 HBI scores of patients with non-severe Crohn's disease

At baseline, median HBI scores were similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (7.0, IQR: 6.0-7.0 vs. 6.0, IQR: 6.0-7.0, p=1.0) in non-severe Crohn's disease patients. By week 14, the normal vitamin D group had a lower median HBI score compared to the low vitamin D group (3.0, IQR: 2.0-4.0 vs. 5.0, IQR: 4.0-6.0, p=0.050) as well as a larger delta change from baseline to week 14 (-4.0, IQR: -5.0- -3.0 vs. -1.0, IQR: -3.0 - -1.0, p=0.05).

4.3.4 Clinical Remission at Week 14

Clinical remission was defined as an achievement of a HBI score less than 5 for patients with Crohn's disease or a PM score of 0 or 1 for patients with ulcerative colitis. Patients who went on to surgery for their disease before week 14 were included and defined as not in remission. Furthermore, patients with an ostomy or who had multiple surgeries had a high 'normal' number of bowel movements, and therefore were excluded. Their 'normal' HBI/PM score may not reach below 5 for Crohn's disease or below 2 for ulcerative colitis; therefore, their disease activity questionnaires could not be used to determine remission.

4.3.4.1 Clinical remission in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

There were 38 patients with inflammatory bowel disease, including 18 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 20 in the low vitamin D group.

The proportion of patients who achieved clinical remission at week 14 was 33% (6/18) in the normal vitamin D group and 50% (10/20) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.30). There were 27 patients with severe disease, wherein 14% (2/14) of patients in the normal vitamin D group and 62% (8/13) of patients in the low vitamin D group achieved clinical remission at week 14 (p=0.018). Of the 11 patients who had non-severe IBD, 100% (4/4)

in the normal vitamin D group and 29% (2/7) in the low vitamin D group achieved clinical remission at week 14 (p=0.061).

Similar trends were demonstrated among the Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patient populations, with a higher proportion of patients with severe disease achieving clinical remission at week 14 in the low vitamin D group and a lower proportion of patients with non-severe disease and low vitamin D achieving remission at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group.

4.4 SECONDARY ENDPOINT: EFFICACY AT WEEK 22

4.4.1 Patient Population

Of the 54 patients recruited, there were 32 patients who completed up to week 22 and were included in this week 22 analysis. The 22 patients not included consisted of 10 patients who had not completed up to week 22 by the time of analysis, 6 patients who were withdrawn from the study after week 14 as explained in Figure 4-1, and 6 patients who had fistulizing or stricturing disease. Patients who have had multiple resections or an ostomy were included in this analysis. The number of bowel movements these patients were having was not different from the other patients, and clinical response was still able to be determined. As a result, there were 24 patients with Crohn's disease, with non-stricturing, non-penetrating disease behavior, and 8 ulcerative colitis patients; patients are presented in Table 4.7 and the baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.8. Patients in the low vitamin D group who completed up to week 22 were younger than patients in the normal vitamin D group. All other baseline characteristics were similar.

Table 4-7 Efficacy at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNFtherapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=18)	Group (n=14)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	43.5 (30.0-60.0)	30.5 (20.0-38.0)	0.034
Male %, n	50%, 9	64%, 9	0.420
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	5.0 (0.0 – 14.0)	6.5 (1.0-15.0)	0.840
Crohn's Disease %, n	72%, 13	79%, 11	0.680
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	11%, 2	29%, 4	0.210
lleal	33%, 6	50%, 7	
Ileocolonic	28%, 5	0%, 0	
Pancolitis	11%, 2	7%, 1	
Left-sided colitis	17%, 3	14%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	100%, 18	100%, 14	1.00
Penetrating			
Stricturing			
Infliximab %, n	89%, 16	86%, 12	0.790
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	11%, 2	14%, 2	0.830
Nonsmoker	50%, 9	57%, 8	
Former Smoker	39%, 7	29%, 4	
History of Surgery %, n	28%, 5	14%, 2	0.360
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	28%, 5	21%, 3	1.00
Immunosuppressants %, n	72%, 13	86%, 12	0.360
Corticosteroids %, n	44%, 8	64%, 9	0.270
Table 4-8 Efficacy at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=18)	Group (N=14)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	92.0 (82.0-102.0)	52.0 (46.0-68.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.29 (2.27-2.39)	2.22 (2.17-2.30)	0.095
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	40.0 (37.0-43.0)	37.5 (34.0-41.0)	0.079
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	4.0 (3.4-5.0)	3.1 (2.3-3.3)	0.059
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	131.0 (122.0-146.0)	126.0 (110.0-134.0)	0.140
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	6.8 (4.9-8.5)	7.0 (5.4-11.9)	0.460
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	271.0 (213.0-325.0)	306.0 (259.0-406.0)	0.180
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.4.2 Clinical Response at week 14 and week 22

4.4.2.1 Clinical Response in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

The proportion of patients who responded at week 14 was similar between the normal vitamin D and low vitamin D groups (61% (11/18) vs. 79% (11/14), p=0.29). Furthermore, by week 22, patients in the low vitamin D group maintained their week 14-response of 79% (11/14) after vitamin D supplementation compared to 50% (9/18) of patients in the normal vitamin D group maintaining a clinical response, (p=0.098) (Figure 4-8 A). Patients in the low vitamin D group were 1.6 (95% CI: 0.92-2.7) times more likely to have a clinical response at week 22 than patients in the normal vitamin D group.

4.4.2.2 Clinical response in IBD patients with severe and non-severe disease

After stratifying by disease severity, there were 23 patients with severe disease and 9 patients with non-severe disease.

Among patients with severe disease, there was a greater proportion of patients with low vitamin D who responded at week 14 (89% (8/9) vs. 50% (7/14), p=0.056; RR: 1.8, 95% CI: 1.0 - 3.2) and week 22 (89% (8/9) vs. 43% (6/14), p=0.027; RR: 2.1, 95% CI: 1.1 - 4.0) compared to the normal vitamin D group with severe disease (Figure 4-8 B). As a result, IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy are 1.8 times more likely to clinically respond at week 14 and 2.1 times more likely to clinically respond at week and normal vitamin D levels.

In contrast, there was a larger proportion of IBD patients who responded at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group compared to the low vitamin D group, if patients had nonsevere disease (100% (4/4) vs. 60% (3/5), p=0.44; RR: 1.7 (95% CI: 0.81-3.4), as presented in Figure 4-8 B. Therefore, IBD patients with non-severe disease and normal vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy are 1.7 times more likely to clinically respond at week 14 as patients with non-severe disease and low vitamin D levels.

59

Furthermore, by week 22, 75% of patients responded in the normal vitamin D group and 60% of patients responded in the low vitamin D group (p=1.0).







4.4.2.3 Clinical response in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis

There were 24 Crohn's disease patients, including 13 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 11 patients in the low vitamin D group, and 8 patients with ulcerative colitis, including 5 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 3 patients in the low vitamin D group.

There were similar proportions of patients who responded in the normal and low vitamin D groups of the Crohn's disease population at week 14 (62% (8/13) vs. 73% (8/11), p=0.56; RR: 0.85, 95% CI: 0.48-1.5), with a higher proportion of patients responding at week 22 in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (46% (6/13) vs. 73% (8/11), p=0.19; RR: 0.63, 95% CI: -.32-1.3). Furthermore, the proportion of patients with ulcerative colitis who responded in the normal vitamin D group was 60% (3/5) and in the low vitamin D group was 100% (3/3), (p=0.46), with a RR of 0.60 (95% CI: 0.29 – 1.2) at week 14, with no change in response rates by week 22. These results are presented in Figure 4-9 A.

4.4.2.4 Clinical response in patients with severe and non-severe CD

After stratifying by disease severity, similar trends as demonstrated in the IBD patients were evident among the Crohn's disease patients. As a result, among patients with severe Crohn's disease, there were 83% (5/6) of patients in the low vitamin D group who clinically responded at week 14 compared to 44% (4/9) of patients in the normal vitamin D group (p=0.29), with similar results at week 22 (83% (5/6) vs. 33% (3/9), p=0.12), as presented in Figure 4-9 B.

In contrast, 100% (4/4) of the non-severe Crohn's disease patients in the normal vitamin D group responded at week 14 compared to 60% (3/5) of the non-severe low vitamin D group at week 14 (p=0.44), with similar trends at week 22 (75% (3/4) vs. 60% (3/5), p=1.0). All the ulcerative colitis patients had severe disease at baseline.



p=0.44 100 p=0.29 p=0.12 90 p=1.0 80 Normal Vitamin D 70 Response (%) 60 Group 50 Low 40 Vitamin D 30 Group 20 10 0 week 14 week 22 week 14 week 22 CD Severe (N=15) CD Non-Severe (N=9)

Figure 4-9 Clinical response at week 14 and week 22 in CD and UC patients. **A.** The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients on anti-TNF therapy who responded at week 14 and week 22, stratified by vitamin D status. **B.** The proportion of Crohn's disease patients on anti-TNF therapy who responded at week 14 and week 22, stratified by vitamin D status, in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. Both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients who have low vitamin D before initiation anti-TNF therapy seem to have a better response at week 14 and week 22 to therapy, if they had severe disease.

4.4.3 Clinical Disease Activity Scores at Week 14 and week 22

4.4.3.1 Harvey Bradshaw Index for Crohn's Disease

Disease activity was assessed in Crohn's disease patients by the Harvey Bradshaw Index (HBI) questionnaire at weeks 0, 2, 4, 6, 14, 18, and 22. The trend in scores over 22 weeks is presented in Figure 4-10.



Figure 4-10 HBI scores over 22 weeks of anti-TNF therapy. The median HBI scores over 14 weeks are similar between the two groups. After week 14, the low vitamin D group continued to have a drop in HBI scores.

4.4.3.1.1 Baseline HBI scores

At baseline, the median HBI scores in both groups represented moderate disease, which ranges from 8-16 (Figure 4-10). The normal vitamin D group had a median HBI of 10.0 (IQR: 7.0-15.0) and the low vitamin D group had a median HBI score of 8.0 (IQR: 6.0-10.0), (p=0.37).

4.4.3.1.2 Week 14 HBI scores

By week 14, the normal vitamin D group achieved a median HBI score of 6.0 (IQR: 4.0 - 11.0), which is in the mild disease range, and the low vitamin D group achieved a median HBI score of 4.0 (IQR: 3.0 - 6.0), which is in the disease remission range (p=0.15).

4.4.3.1.3 Week 22 HBI scores

By week 22, there was a decrease in median HBI scores from baseline in each group, reflecting improvement in both groups (Figure 4-10). The normal vitamin D group, however, still had a median HBI score in the mild disease range (6.0, IQR: 2.0-10.0) compared to the low vitamin D group which had a median HBI score in the remission range (3.0, IQR: 2.0-6.0), (p=0.17).

4.4.3.1.4 Within group-differences between week 22 and week 0 HBI scores

The difference between the week 22 median HBI score (6.0, IQR: 2.0-10.0) and week 0 median HBI score (10.0, IQR: 7.0-15.0) within the normal vitamin D group was large (p=0.007). Similar results presented for the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation. There was a large difference between the week 22 score (3.0, IQR: 2.0-6.0) and the week 0 score (8.0, IQR: 6.0-10.0), (p=0.005).

4.4.3.1.5 Delta changes in HBI scores from week 0 to week 22

Interestingly, the median change in the HBI scores from week 0 to week 22 represented a response, in both groups, defined by a drop in a score of 3 points or more. The change was similar between the normal vitamin D group (-4.0, IQR: -5.0 - -1.0) and the low vitamin D group (-3.0 IQR: -7.0 - -2.0) (p=0.56). Similarly, the change from week 0 to week 14 was comparable between the normal vitamin D group (-4.0, IQR: -5.0 - -2.0) and low vitamin D group (-3.0, IQR: -8.0 - -1.0); therefore, there was a median change of 0.0 (IQR: -3.0 - 1.0) in the normal vitamin D group and -1.0 (IQR: -1.0 - 1.0) in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation from week 14 to week 22. Individual HBI scores at week 0 and week 22 are presented in Figure 4-11.

A. Low vitamin D group



B. Normal vitamin D group





4.4.3.2 Partial Mayo scores for ulcerative colitis

Disease activity was assessed in ulcerative colitis patients by the Partial Mayo (PM) questionnaire at weeks 0, 2, 4, 6, 14, 18 and 22. The trend in scores over 22 weeks is presented in Figure 4-12.



Figure 4-12 PM scores over 22 weeks of anti-TNF therapy. The trend in median PM scores over 22 weeks demonstrated a response in both groups by week 2, which was maintained thereafter. The low vitamin D group demonstrated a faster response, achieving remission by week 14.

4.4.3.2.1 Baseline PM scores

At baseline, according to the median PM scores, the patients in the normal vitamin D group had moderate disease while the low vitamin D group had severe disease (Figure 4-12). As a result, the low vitamin D group (8.0, IQR: 7.0 - 9.0) had a slightly higher median PM score than the normal vitamin D group (6.0, IQR: 6.0-8.0), (p=0.23).

4.4.3.2.2 Week 14 PM scores

By week 14, the normal vitamin D group achieved a median PM score within the mild disease range of 2.0 (IQR: 2.0 - 4.0) and the low vitamin D group achieved a median PM score within the remission range of 0.0 (IQR: 0.0 - 1.0), (p=0.14).

4.4.3.2.3 Week 22 PM scores

By week 22, both groups had similar scores in the clinical remission range, with a median score of 0.0 (IQR: 0.0-2.3) in the normal vitamin D group and 1.0 (IQR: 0.0 -1.0) in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation (p=0.63).

4.4.3.2.4 Delta changes in PM scores from week 0 to week 22

Similar to the Crohn's disease patients, the median change in the PM scores represented a response in both groups, defined by a drop in a score of 3 points or more (Figure 4-12). The median change from week 0 to week 22 in the low vitamin D group was -8.0 (IQR: -8.0 - -6.0) and the median change in the normal vitamin D group was -6.0 (IQR: -6.0- -5.3), (p=0.11). The median change from week 0 to week 14 was -3.5 (IQR: -5.0 -3.0) in the normal vitamin D group and -8.0 (IQR: -8.0 -7.0) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.057). As a result, the change from week 14 to week 22 in the normal vitamin D group was -2.00 (IQR: -2.50 - -1.0) and 0.0 (IQR: 0.0 - 1.0) in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation, (p=0.11). Individual PM scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 are presented in Figure 4-13.

A. Low vitamin D group



B. Normal vitamin D group





4.4.3.3 Clinical Disease Activity Scores, stratified by disease severity

4.4.3.3.1 HBI scores of patients with severe Crohn's disease

At baseline, the median HBI scores were similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (11.0, IQR: 10.0-15.0 vs. 10.0, IQR: 8.0-11.0, p=0.30). By week 22, the low vitamin D group had a lower median HBI score compared to the normal vitamin D group (3.0, IQR: 2.0-7.0 vs. 10.0, IQR: 6.0-11.0, p=0.022), with a trend towards a larger change from baseline to week 22 in the low vitamin D group (-7.0, IQR: -8.0 - -6.0) compared to the normal vitamin D group (-4.0, IQR: -5.0 - -1.0), (p=0.073). Similar trends were demonstrated between the two vitamin D groups from week 0 to week 14, with a similar delta change from week 14 to week 22 in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation (-0.5, IQR: -1.0 – 0.0) and normal vitamin D group (1.0, IQR: - 1.0 - 2.0), (p=0.84).

4.4.3.3.2 HBI scores of patients with non-severe Crohn's disease

At baseline, the median HBI scores were similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (7.0, IQR: 6.0-7.0 vs. 6.0, IQR: 6.0-6.0, p=1.0). By week 22, the normal vitamin D group had a slightly lower median HBI score compared to the low vitamin D group (2.0, IQR: 1.0-4.0 vs. 4.0, IQR: 3.0-5.0, p=0.11) as well as a slightly larger delta change from baseline to week 22 (-4.5, IQR: -5.5- -2.5 vs. -2.0, IQR: -3.0 - -2.0, p=0.19). Similar trends were demonstrated between the two vitamin D groups from week 0 to week 14, with a similar delta change from week 14 to week 22 in the normal vitamin D group (0.0, IQR: -1.50-0.50) and low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation (0.0, IQR: -1.0 – 1.0), (p=0.91).

4.4.4 Clinical Remission At Week 14 and Week 22

Clinical remission was defined as an achievement of a HBI score less than 5 for patients with Crohn's disease or a PM score of 0 or 1 for patients with ulcerative colitis. Patients who went on to surgery for their disease before week 22 were included and defined as not in remission. Furthermore, patients with an ostomy or who had multiple surgeries had a high 'normal' number of bowel movements, and therefore were excluded. Their 'normal' HBI/PM score may not reach below 5 for Crohn's disease or below 2 for ulcerative colitis; therefore, their disease activity questionnaires could not be used to determine remission.

4.4.4.1 Clinical Remission in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

There were 27 patients with IBD, including 15 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 12 patients in the low vitamin D group.

The proportion of patients who achieved clinical remission at week 14 was 33% (5/15) in the normal vitamin D group and 75% (9/12) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.031). By

week 22, the remission proportion was 40% (6/15) in the normal vitamin D group and 75% (9/12) in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation(p=0.069).

4.4.4.2 Clinical remission in patients with severe and non-severe IBD

There were 19 IBD patients with severe disease, and 9% (1/11) achieved remission in the normal vitamin D group at week 14 compared to 88% (7/8) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.001). Furthermore, by week 22, 27% (3/11) achieved remission in the normal vitamin D group compared to 88% (7/8) in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation (p=0.020). Of the 8 patients with non-severe disease, 100% (4/4) achieved clinical remission by week 14 in the normal vitamin D group compared to 50% (2/4) in the low group, as well as 75% (3/4) of the normal vitamin D group achieved remission by week 22, with only 50% (2/4) in the low vitamin D group (p=1.0).

Similar trends were demonstrated among the Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis population, with a higher proportion of patients with severe disease achieving clinical remission at week 14 and week 22 in the low vitamin D group and a lower proportion of patients with non-severe disease achieving remission at week 14 and week 22 in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group.

4.5 C-REACTIVE PROTEIN RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION

4.5.1 CRP RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION AT WEEK 14

Of the 54 patients who completed up to week 14, there were 40 patients who produce CRP and were determined as 'CRP makers'. Of these 40 patients, 5 patients were excluded from the week 14 CRP analysis as there was no result obtained from the week 14-blood work or the patient went on to surgery before week 14 and a CRP level at week 14 was not obtained. Therefore, the total number of IBD patients analyzed was 35, including 30 patients with Crohn's disease and 5 patients with ulcerative colitis.

4.5.1.1 Patient Population

There were 35 IBD patients analyzed, with 15 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 20 in the low vitamin D group. Baseline characteristics were similar between the two groups. Patient demographics are presented in Table 4.9 and baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.10. Table 4-9 CRP at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy,stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=15)	Group (n=20)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	31.0 (27.0 – 48.0)	30.5 (22.3 – 38.3)	0.420
Male %, n	40%, 6	70%, 14	0.076
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	3.0 (0.0-9.0)	7.0 (0.25-17.3)	0.250
Crohn's Disease %, n	80%, 12	90%, 18	0.400
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	13%, 2	40%, 8	0.380
Ileal	40%, 6	35%, 7	
Ileocolonic	27%, 4	15%, 3	
Pancolitis	13%, 2	10%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	7%, 1	0%, 0	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	74%, 11	80%, 16	0.680
Penetrating	13%, 2	5%, 1	
Stricturing	13%, 2	15%, 3	
Infliximab %, n	93%, 14	95%, 19	0.830
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	33%, 5	25%, 5	0.540
Nonsmoker	27%, 4	45%, 9	
Former Smoker	40%, 6	30%, 6	
History of Surgery %, n	20%, 3	20%, 4	1.00
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	15%, 3	20%, 3	1.00
Immunosuppressants %, n	80%, 12	70%, 14	0.500
Corticosteroids %, n	60%, 9	55%, 11	0.770

Table 4-10 CRP at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy	Ι,
stratified by vitamin D status	

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D Group	P value
	Group (N=15)	(N=20)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	98.0 (87.0 – 107.0)	52.5 (46.5 – 66.5)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.36 (2.27 – 2.42)	2.27 (2.18 – 2.31)	0.040
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	42.0 (37.0 – 43.0)	39.5 (34.5 – 42.0)	0.052
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.0 (2.5– 3.7)	3.2 (2.6 – 4.2)	0.780
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	136.0 (125.0 – 148.0)	127.0 (103.75 – 137.75)	0.043
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	7.3 (6.4 – 9.7)	7.3 (5.6 – 10.0)	0.610
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	263.0 (228.0 – 431.0)	331.0 (256.8 - 400.5)	0.440
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.5.1.2 CRP response in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

All patients had a baseline CRP level > 8 mg/L. The median CRP level in the normal vitamin D group was 27.3 mg/L (IQR: 10.8-55.4) and the median CRP level in the low vitamin D group was 24.2 mg/L (IQR: 13.2-58.5), p=0.63. The proportion of patients in

the normal vitamin D group who achieved a CRP response at week 14 was 93% (14/15), defined by a decrease in the patient's baseline CRP level at week 14 by greater than or equal to 50%. Similarly, 85% (17/20) of patients in the low vitamin D group had a CRP response at week 14 (p=0.44), as presented in Figure 4-14 A. The week 14-median CRP levels in both groups were in the normal range < 8 mg/L.

Additionally, there was a similar CRP response at week 14 between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group, if patients had severe disease (88% (7/8) vs. 82% (9/11), p=0.74) or non-severe disease (100% (7/7) vs. 89% (8/9), p=0.36), as presented in Figure 4-14 B.



Figure 4-14 CRP response at week 14. A. The proportion of patients with IBD on anti-TNF therapy, who achieved a CRP response at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status. **B.** The proportion of IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy who achieved a CRP response, stratified by vitamin D status in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. A similar CRP response was achieved in both groups.

4.5.1.3 CRP Normalization in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

The proportion of patients in the normal vitamin D group who achieved CRP normalization (CRP level < 8mg/L) at week 14 (80%, 12/15) was similar to the proportion of patients in the low vitamin D group (70%, 14/20), (p=0.50). Furthermore, similar

results presented for patients with severe disease (75% (6/8) vs. 63% (7/11), p=0.60) and non-severe disease (86% (6/7) vs. 79% (7/9), p=0.69).

4.5.1.4 CRP response in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis

There were 30 patients with Crohn's disease, including 12 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 18 in the low vitamin D group, and 5 patients with ulcerative colitis, including 3 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 2 in the low vitamin D group.

The proportion of Crohn's disease patients in the normal vitamin D group who responded at week 14 was 92% (11/12), which was similar to the 83% (15/18) of patients who responded in the low vitamin D group (p=0.51). Additionally, there was a 100% CRP response in both the normal vitamin D group (3/3) and low vitamin D group (2/2) at week 14 in patients with ulcerative colitis (p=1.0). The results are presented in Figure 4-15 A.

Furthermore, the CRP response at week 14 was similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group in patients with severe Crohn's disease (80% (4/5) vs. 78% (7/9), p=1.0) and non-severe Crohn's disease (100% (7/7) vs. 89% (8/9), p=0.36), as presented in Figure 4-15 B. All patients with ulcerative colitis were defined as having severe disease.



В.





A. The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis on anti-TNF therapy, who achieved a CRP response at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status. **B.** The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease who achieved a CRP response at week 14, stratified by vitamin D status, in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. A similar CRP response was achieved in both groups.

Α.

4.5.1.5 *CRP normalization in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis* The proportion of Crohn's disease patients achieved CRP normalization at week 14 was 83% (10/12) in the normal vitamin D group and 67% (12/18) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.31). Furthermore, the proportion of patients with ulcerative colitis who achieved CRP normalization at week 14 was similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (67%, (2/3) vs. 100%, (2/2), p=1.0).

After separating the Crohn's disease patients by disease severity, the proportion of patients with a normalized CRP level at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group was 80% (4/5) and 56% (5/9) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.58). The median CRP levels at baseline were 12.1 mg/L (IQR: 10.5-27.3) in the normal vitamin D group and 22.0 mg/L (IQR: 12.4 – 59.0) in the low vitamin D group, (p=0.30). By week 14, CRP levels were similar (5.2, IQR: 3.4-12.6 vs. 6.1, IQR: 3.8-6.6, p=1.0). There was little difference in the proportion of patients who achieved CRP normalization between the vitamin D groups with non-severe disease (86% (6/7) vs. 78% (7/9), p=0.69).

4.5.2 CRP RESPONSE AND NORMALIZATION AT WEEK 22

Of the 38 patients who completed up to week 22, 8 patients were excluded from the week 22 CRP analysis because these patients had not received their vitamin D injection by week 22 (n=3) or they went on to surgery before week 22 and a CRP level at week 22 was not obtained (n=5). Therefore, the total number of IBD patients analyzed was 25, including 21 patients with Crohn's disease and 4 patients with ulcerative colitis. Of these 25 patients, 3 patients did not have a CRP level measured at week 14. As a result, the week 14 results included 22 patients and the week 22 results included 25 patients.

4.5.2.1 Patient Population

There were 25 patients with IBD, with 11 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 14 in the low vitamin D group who received vitamin D supplementation after week 14. There were more males in the low vitamin D group. All other baseline characteristics were similar. Patient demographics are presented in Table 4.11 and baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.12.

Table 4-11 CRP at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy
stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=11)	Group (n=14)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	36.0 (27.0 – 54.0)	30.5 (21.5 – 38.3)	0.220
Male %, n	18%, 2	82%, 9	0.042
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	0.0 (0.0 – 11.0)	7.5 (0.8 – 18.2)	0.200
Crohn's Disease %, n	82%, 9	86%, 12	0.790
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	18%, 2	29%, 4	0.270
Ileal	28%, 3	50%, 7	
Ileocolonic	36%, 4	7%, 1	
Pancolitis	0%, 0	7%, 1	
Left-sided colitis	18%, 2	7%, 1	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	73%, 8	93%, 13	0.330
Penetrating	18%, 2	7%, 1	
Stricturing	9%, 1	0%, 0	
Infliximab %, n	91%, 10	86%, 12	0.690
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	36%, 4	14%, 2	0.270
Nonsmoker	28%, 3	57%, 8	
Former Smoker	36%, 4	29%, 4	
History of Surgery %, n	9%, 1	21%, 3	0.600
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	9%, 1	14%, 2	1.00
Immunosuppressants %, n	73%,8	86%, 12	0.420
Corticosteroids %, n	55%, 6	57%, 8	0.900

Table 4-12 CRP at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy
stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D Group	P value
	Group (N=11)	(N=14)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	100.0 (920 – 114.0)	52.0 (46.0 – 68.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.31 (2.27 – 2.41)	2.25 (2.17– 2.31)	0.120
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	40.0 (37.0 – 43.0)	37.0 (33.0 – 41.0)	0.190
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.3 (2.5 – 4.9)	3.2 (2.2 – 4.1)	0.820
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	130.0 (121.0 – 151.0)	126.0 (108.0- 1350)	0.290
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	8.5 (7.1 – 13.4)	6.6 (5.4 - 10 .7)	0.150
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	286.0 (252.0 – 459.0)	316.0 (258.3 – 408.5)	0.980
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.5.2.2 CRP response in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

All patients had a CRP level > 8 mg/L at baseline. The median CRP level at baseline in the normal vitamin D group was 37.3 mg/L (IQR: 15.9-72.6) and the median CRP level at baseline in the low vitamin D group was 29.9 mg/L (IQR: 13.5-61.6), p=0.50. The CRP

response at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group was 100% (10/10) and 75% (9/12) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.089). By week 22, the proportion of patients who achieved a CRP response was 91% (10/11) in the normal vitamin D group and 93% (13/14) in the low vitamin D group after supplementation (p=0.86). (Figure 4-16 A).

If patients had severe disease, 100% (4/4) of patients achieved a CRP response at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group and 75% (6/8) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.52). Similar results presented for patients with non-severe disease (100% (6/6) vs. 75% (3/4), p=0.40). Furthermore, the CRP response at week 22 was similar between the normal and low vitamin D groups in the severe disease population (80% (4/5) vs. 100% (9/9), p=0.36) and non-severe disease population (100% (6/6) vs. 80% (4/5), p=0.46). These results are presented in Figure 4-16 B.





4.5.2.3 CRP normalization in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

By week 14, 90% (9/10) of the IBD patients in the normal vitamin D group and 58% (7/12) in the low vitamin group achieved a normal CRP level (p=0.097). Median CRP levels at week 14 were similar between the groups (3.5, IQR: 2.0-6.1 vs. 5.6, IQR: 3.1-12.8, respectively p=0.35). Moreover, by week 22, 55% (6/11) of patients in the normal vitamin D group achieved CRP normalization, wherein 79% (11/14) patients in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation achieved CRP normalization (p=0.20). Median CRP levels at week 22 were similar between the two groups (4.9, IQR: 1.4-11.4 vs. 2.1, IQR: 0.4-6.6, respectively p=0.095).

Similar results presented for patients with severe disease at week 14 (100% (4/4) vs. 50% (4/8), p=0.21) and week 22 (20% (1/5) vs. 78% (7/9), p= 0.091). The median CRP levels in the severe-normal vitamin D group and severe-low vitamin D group at week 14 were 5.8 mg/L (IQR: 4.6-6.4) and 7.1 mg/L (IQR: 1.9-12.8), respectively (p=0.93). Interestingly, the median CRP level at week 22 in the severe-normal vitamin D group was greater than 8 mg/L and was drastically higher than the median level in the severe-low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation (11.4 mg/L, IQR: 9.8 – 14.1 vs. 2.4 mg/L, IQR: 0.40-6.6, respectively p=0.012). There were similar CRP normalization rates in patients with non severe-disease at week 14 (83% (5/6) vs. 75% (3/4), p=1.00) and week 22 (83% (5/6) vs. 80% (4/5), p=1.0).

4.5.2.4 CRP response in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis

There were 21 Crohn's disease patients analyzed, with 9 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 12 in the low vitamin D group who achieved normal vitamin D levels by week 22 after supplementation at week 14. There were only 4 patients with ulcerative colitis; therefore, due to the small sample size these patients were not analyzed. The results below are only reflective of patients with Crohn's disease.

4.5.2.4.1 CRP response

The proportion of patients with Crohn's disease who achieved a CRP response by week 14 was 100% (9/9) in the normal vitamin D group and 73% (8/11) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.089). By week 22, 89% (8/9) of the normal vitamin D group had a CRP response and 92% (11/12) of the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation achieved a CRP response, (p=0.83).

Furthermore, the proportion of Crohn's disease who achieved a CRP response at week 14 was similar between the normal and low vitamin D groups if patients had severe disease (100% (3/3) vs. 71% (5/7), respectively p=1.0) as well as if patients had non-severe disease (100% (6/6) vs. 60% (3/5), p=0.18). Additionally, achievement of a CRP response at week 22 was similar between the normal and low vitamin D groups in the severe disease population (67% (2/3) vs. 100% (7/7), p=0.36) and non-severe disease population (100% (6/6) vs. 80% (4/5), p=0.46). These results are presented in Figure 4-17.



Figure 4-17 CRP response at week 14 and week 22 in severe and non-severe Crohn's disease patients, stratified by vitamin D status.

4.5.2.4.2 CRP Normalization

By week 14, 89% (8/9) of the Crohn's disease patients in the normal vitamin D group achieved CRP normalization compared to 55% (6/11) in the low vitamin D group (p=0.095). By week 22, the proportion of patients in the normal vitamin D group who achieved CRP normalization at week 22 was 56% (5/9) compared to 75% (9/12) of patients in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation, (p=0.35). Median CRP levels were similar at baseline, week 14, and week 22 between the two groups (data not shown).

Similar results presented for Crohn's disease patients with severe disease at week 14 (100% (3/3) vs. 43% (3/7), p=0.20). The median CRP levels at week 14 were 6.1 mg/L (IQR: 3.8-6.6) in the normal vitamin D group and 9.0 mg/L (IQR: 3.6-13.0) in the low vitamin D group, p=0.67. By week 22, 71% (5/7) of patients in the low vitamin D group achieved CRP normalization after supplementation with 0% (0/3) in the normal vitamin D group (p=0.17). This parallels the median CRP levels at week 22 of 11.4 mg/L (IQR: 9.8-14.1) in the normal vitamin D group and 3.2 mg/L (IQR: 1.8-8.0) in the low vitamin D group after supplementation (p=0.033).

4.6 Influence of Vitamin D on Cytokine Responses

4.6.1 Cytokine responses at week 14

There were 28 patients with IBD who had blood samples collected at week 0 and week 14 for cytokine analysis, with 15 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 13 in the low vitamin D group. Baseline characteristics were similar between the two groups. Patient demographics are presented in Table 4.13 and baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.14.

Table 4-13 Cytokine profiles at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=15)	Group (n=13)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	46.0 (30.0-54.0)	28.0 (22.0-36.0)	0.065
Male %, n	53%, 8	46%, 6	0.710
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	5.0 (0.0 – 14.8)	6.5 (0.8 – 15.8)	0.440
Crohn's Disease %, n	73%, 11	69%, 9	0.810
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	13%, 2	31%, 4	0.690
Ileal	40%, 6	24%, 3	
lleocolonic	20%, 3	15%, 2	
Pancolitis	7%, 1	15%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	20%, 3	15%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	87%, 13	77%, 10	0.530
Penetrating	0%, 0	8%, 1	
Stricturing	13%, 2	15%, 2	
Infliximab %, n	100%, 15	100%, 13	1.00
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	20%, 3	31%, 4	0.690
Nonsmoker	53%, 8	54%, 7	
Former Smoker	27%, 4	15%, 2	
History of Surgery %, n	27%, 4	39%, 5	0.690
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	27%, 4	23%, 3	1.00
Immunosuppressants %, n	80%, 12	77%, 10	0.840
Corticosteroids %, n	40%, 6	62%, 8	0.260

Table 4-14 Cytokine profiles at week 14: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=15)	Group (N=13)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	91.0 (81.0-100.0)	50.0 (46.0-63.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.29 (2.22-2.41)	2.28 (2.22-2.32)	0.870
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	41.0 (37.0-43.0)	42.0 (35.0-42.0)	0.260
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.7 (2.7-4.1)	3.2 (2.9-4.2)	0.890
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	137.5 (121.5-148.5)	124.0 (105.5-130.0)	0.026
Ref. Range: 120-160			
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	6.4 (4.8-8.4)	8.0 (6.3-11.7)	0.082
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			
$Platalats (10^9/L)$			
			0.020
	275.0 (215.5-343.5)	344.5 (313.0-422.0)	0.029
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.6.1.1 Cytokine levels in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

At baseline, there were higher levels of IL-6 in the low vitamin D group compared the normal vitamin D group (0.7 pg/ml, IQR: 0.2-1.2 vs. 0.2 pg/ml, IQR: 0.1-0.4, p=0.046). Furthermore, there was a trend towards higher levels of TNF-alpha in the low vitamin D

group compared to the normal vitamin D group (1.6, IQR: 1.5-2.2 vs. 1.3, IQR: 0.6-1.6, p=0.052) (Figure 4-18). However, by week 14, the cytokine levels were similar between the two groups. The changes from week 0 to week 14 within the groups were similar across all cytokines.

4.6.1.2 Cytokine levels in patients with severe and non-severe IBD

There were 22 IBD patients who had severe disease at baseline, with 11 patients in each vitamin D group. Within this group, there were higher levels of IL-1beta, IL-6, and TNF-alpha at baseline in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (Figure 4-19). However, by week 14, the two groups had similar cytokine levels.

Within the severe-low vitamin D group, IL-6 and TNF-alpha significantly decreased from baseline to week 14. The median level of IL-6 at baseline was 0.7 pg/ml (IQR: 0.2-1.2) compared to 0.1 pg/ml (IQR: 0.08-0.3) at week 14 (p=0.017), and the median TNF-alpha level at baseline was 1.6 pg/ml (IQR: 1.46-2.36) compared to 1.1 pg/ml (0.9-1.3) at week 14 (p=0.037). IL-1beta was not statistically different at week 14 compared to week 0 in the severe-low vitamin D group. Within the severe-normal vitamin D group, levels at baseline were similar to levels at week 14. Furthermore, in the severe-low vitamin D group there was a trend towards a larger decrease in IL-6 (-0.65 pg/ml, IQR: -0.02- -1.35 vs. -0.05, IQR: 0.0- 0.10, p=0.065) and TNF-alpha (-0.54, IQR: -0.04 - -0.74 vs. 0.05, IQR: 0.54 vs. -0.40, p=0.076) compared to the severe-normal vitamin D group.







Baseline Cytokines

Figure 4-19 Baseline levels of IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-beta in IBD patients with severe disease initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status. Baseline levels of IL-6, TNF-alpha, and IL-1beta were higher in IBD patients who had low vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy (*p<0.05).

4.6.2 Cytokine responses at week 22

There were 24 patients who completed up to week 22 and had blood samples collected for cytokine analysis at week 0, week 14, and week 22, with 14 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 10 patients in the low vitamin D group. All baseline characteristics were similar between the groups. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.15 and baseline blood work is presented in Table 4.16.
Table 4-15 Cytokine profiles at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=13)	Group (n=11)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	47.0 (32.0-54.0)	36.0 (22.0-38.0)	0.093
Male %, n	46%, 6	36%, 4	0.630
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	13.0 (3.0-20.0)	10.0 (2.0-15.0)	0.530
Crohn's Disease %, n	69%, 9	64%, 7	0.770
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	15%, 2	27%, 3	0.840
Ileal	40%, 5	9%, 1	
Ileocolonic	15%, 2	28%, 3	
Pancolitis	7%, 1	18%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	23%, 3	18%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	85%, 11	91%, 10	0.230
Penetrating	0%, 0	9%, 1	
Stricturing	15%, 2	0%, 0	
Infliximab %, n	100%, 13	100%, 11	1.00
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	15%, 2	27%, 3	0.770
Nonsmoker	62%, 8	55%, 6	
Former Smoker	23%, 3	18%, 2	
History of Surgery %, n	23%, 3	36%, 4	0.480
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	39%, 5	18%, 2	0.390
Immunosuppressants %, n	85%, 11	64%, 7	0.240
Corticosteroids %, n	69%, 9	55%, 6	0.460

Table 4-16 Cytokine profiles at week 22: Baseline labs of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Labs	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P value
	Group (N=13)	Group (N=11)	
Vitamin D (nmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	50.0 (29.0-65.0)	91.0 (81.0-100.0)	<0.001
Calcium (mmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	2.29 (2.26-2.40)	2.27 (2.22-2.30)	0.440
Ref. Range 2.10-2.60			
Albumin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	42.0 (39.0-43.0)	39.5 (35.0-41.5)	0.210
Ref. Range: 35-50			
PTH (pmol/L)			
Median (IQR)	3.5 (2.7-4.2)	3.3 (3.1 – 4.2)	0.960
Ref. Range: 1.4-6.8			
Hemoglobin (g/L)			
Median (IQR)	130.0 (121.0-148.0)	119.5 (102.0-126.0)	0.000
Ref. Range: 120-160			0.022
White Blood Cells (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	5.7 (4.6-7.3)	8.1 (5.8-13.0)	
Ref. Range: 4.0-11.0			0.026
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)			
Median (IQR)	259.5 (213.0– 325.0)	344.5 (306.0-460.0)	0.036
Ref. Range: 140-450			

4.6.2.1 Cytokine levels in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

At baseline, there was a trend towards higher levels of IL-6 and TNF-alpha at baseline in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group. The median level of IL-6 in the low vitamin D group was 0.6 pg/ml (IQR: 0.23-1.66) compared to 0.2 pg/ml (IQR: 0.13-0.42) in the normal vitamin D group, p=0.074. Furthermore, the median TNFalpha level in the low vitamin D group was 1.6 pg/ml (IQR: 1.46-2.16) compared to 1.3 pg/ml (IQR: 0.89-1.58) in the normal vitamin D group, p=0.096. The median cytokine levels were similar at week 14 and week 22 between the two groups.

4.6.2.2 Cytokine levels in patients with severe and non-severe IBD

There were 19 patients with severe IBD, including 11 in the normal vitamin D group and 8 in the low vitamin D group. In the severe group of IBD patients, there continued to be a trend towards higher IL-6 and TNF-alpha levels at baseline in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group. Furthermore, there was a trend towards higher levels of IL-1beta in the low vitamin D group at baseline compared to the normal vitamin D group. Surthermore, there was a trend to the normal vitamin D group (0.1 pg/ml, IQR: 0.02-1.1 vs. 0.0001 pg/ml, IQR: 0.0001-0.05, p=0.051). The median cytokine levels, however, were similar at week 14 and week 22 between the two groups.

4.6.2.3 Delta changes in cytokines from week 14 to week 22

Although levels of IL-8 at week 22 were similar between the normal vitamin D group (3.5 pg/ml, IQR: 1.73-5.60) and low vitamin D group (2.3 pg/ml, IQR: 1.48-2.91) in IBD patients (p=0.34), the change from week 14 to week 22 in IL-8 levels was different between the two groups, with a larger decrease evident in the low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation compared to the normal vitamin D group (-1.2, IQR: -0.05- - 3.78 vs. 0.2, IQR: 1.43- -0.24, respectively p=0.036), as presented in Figure 4.20. As a result, within the low vitamin D group, the median IL-8 level at week 22 was significantly lower than this group's IL-8 level at week 14 (p=0.017).



Figure 4-20 Median change in IL-8 from week 14 to week 22 in the normal and low vitamin D (post supplementation) groups. There was a larger decrease in IL-8 in the low vitamin D group after supplementation compared to the normal vitamin D group (*p=0.036).

4.7 The Impact Of Vitamin D Status And Vitamin D Supplementation On Quality of Life In Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease On Anti-TNF Therapy

4.7.1 Week 14 Patient Population

There were 54 patients who completed up to week 14 of the study. There were 9 patients excluded from this analysis, as we did not have fully completed questionnaires on these patients at either week 0 or week 14. Of the 9 patients not included, 2 patients went on to surgery before week 14, 3 patients did not complete the questionnaires, and 4 patients did not answer all of the questions of the short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (SIBDQ) and therefore, a total score could not be calculated. As a result, there were 45 patients with IBD included in this SIBDQ analysis, with 22 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 23 patients in the low vitamin D group. Patients in the low vitamin D group were younger. All other baseline characteristics were similar. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.17. Furthermore, Table 4.18 presents the distribution of disease severity before anti-TNF therapy initiation among this patient population. There was a similar distribution of patients with mild, moderate and severe disease between the two groups.

Table 4-17 Quality of life at week 14: Demographics of patients with IBD initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=22)	Group (n=23)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	40.5 (30.75 – 58.0)	28.0 (21.0 – 38.0)	0.023
Male %, n	50%, 11	74%, 17	0.098
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	8.0 (2.5 – 14.8)	10.0 (2.0 – 19.0)	0.660
Crohn's Disease %, n	77%, 17	83%, 19	0.660
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	23%, 5	30%, 4	0.970
lleal	36%, 8	17%, 4	
Ileocolonic	18%, 4	35%, 8	
Pancolitis	14%, 3	9%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	9%, 2	9%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	86%, 19	83%, 19	0.140
Penetrating	14%, 3	4%, 1	
Stricturing	0%, 0	13%, 3	
Infliximab %, n	91%, 20	96%, 22	0.520
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	32%, 7	22%, 5	0.750
Nonsmoker	41%. 9	48%, 11	
Former Smoker	27%, 6	30%, 7	
History of Surgery %, n	32%, 7	22%, 5	0.450
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine %, n	32%, 7	17%, 4	0.260
Immunosuppressants %, n	73%, 16	74%, 17	0.930
Corticosteroids %, n	41%, 9	65%, 15	0.100

Table 4-18 Quality of life at week 14: Distribution of disease severity of IBD patientsinitiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Disease Severity	Week 0		P-value
	Normal Vitamin D Group	Low Vitamin D Group	0.360
	(n=22)	(n=23)	
% can't assess	14%	17%	
% mild	18%	35%	
% moderate – severe	68%	48%	

4.7.1.1 Quality of life in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

Baseline total scores were similar in the normal vitamin D and low vitamin D groups (4.7, IQR: 2.9-5.7 vs. 4.1, IQR: 3.2-4.7, respectively p=0.51). By week 14, scores were similar and improved in both groups (5.2, IQR: 4.6-5.83 vs. 5.5, IQR: 4.9-5.9, p=0.25), as presented in Figure 4-21 A.

Patients with normal and low vitamin D levels had similar scores at baseline and week 14, in both the severe and non-severe disease groups (Figure 4-21 B). There was, however, a larger improvement (increase in scores) from week 0 to week 14 in the severe-low vitamin D group compared to the patients in the severe-normal vitamin D group (1.7, IQR: 0.7-2.6 vs. 0.5, IQR: -0.5-1.3, respectively p=0.047).





Figure 4-21 Total SIBDQ scores at week 0 and week 14 in patients with IBD on anti-TNF therapy. A. Total quality of life scores in IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status. **B.** Total quality of life scores in IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy, stratified vitamin D status, in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. Scores are similar between the groups. Among patients with severe disease, there was a larger increase in SIBDQ scores from week 14 to week 22 in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (1.7, IQR: 0.7-2.6 vs. 0.5, IQR: -0.5-1.3, p=0.047).

4.7.2 Week 22 Patient Population

There were 38 patients who completed up to week 22 of the study. There were 9 patients excluded from this analysis, as we did not have completed data on these patients at either week 0 or week 22. Of the 9 patients not included, 5 patients went on to surgery before week 14, 1 patient did not complete the questionnaire, and 3 patients did not answer all of the questions of the short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire (SIBDQ) and therefore, a total score could not be calculated. As a result, there were 29 patients with IBD included in this SIBDQ analysis, with 16 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 13 patients in the low vitamin D group. Patients were younger in the low vitamin D group. All other baseline characteristics were similar between the groups. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.19, and the distribution of disease severity of patients before initiating anti-TNF therapy is presented in Table 4.20. There was a similar distribution of patients with mild, moderate and severe disease between the two groups.

Table 4-19 Quality of life at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D	P-value
	Group (n=16)	Group (n=13)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	43.5 (29.8 – 61.0)	27.0 (20.0 – 37.0)	0.020
Male %, n	38%, 6	69%, 4	0.089
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	7.0 (0.0 – 14.0)	8.0 (1.5 – 16.5)	0.850
Crohn's Disease %, n	81%, 13	77%, 10	0.780
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	19%, 3	31%, 4	0.640
lleal	31%, 5	38%, 5	
lleocolonic	31%, 5	8%, 1	
Pancolitis	6%, 1	8%, 1	
Left-sided colitis	13%, 2	15%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	88%, 14	92%, 12	0.670
Penetrating	12%, 2	8%, 1	
Stricturing	0%, 0	0%, 0	
Infliximab %, n	88%, 14	92%, 12	0.670
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	19%, 3	15%, 2	0.620
Nonsmoker	44%, 7	62%, 8	
Former Smoker	37%, 6	23%, 3	
History of Surgery %, n	25%, 4	23%, 3	1.00
Sulfasalazine/mesalamine	25%, 4	23%, 3	1.00
%, n			
Immunosuppressants %, n	69%, 11	85%, 11	0.320
Corticosteroids %, n	38%, 6	54%, 7	0.380

Table 4-20 Quality of life week 22: Distribution of disease severity of IBD patients,stratified by vitamin D status

Disease Severity	Week 0		P-value
	Normal Vitamin D	Low Vitamin D Group	0.350
	Group (n=16)	(n=13)	
% can't assess	12%	15%	
% mild	25%	31%	
% moderate - severe	63%	54%	

4.7.2.1 Quality of life scores in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

SIBDQ median scores were similar between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group at baseline (5.3, IQR: 3.3-6.0 vs. 3.8, IQR: 3.6-4.4, p=0.17) as well as at week 14 (5.6, IQR: 4.8-5.9 vs. 5.5, IQR: 4.9-5.9, p=0.93) and week 22 (5.2, IQR: 4.4-6.1 vs. 5.9, IQR: 5.5-6.1, p=0.14). The median change from week 0 to week 14 was larger in the low vitamin D compared to the normal vitamin D group (1.30, IQR: 0.70-1.80 vs. 0.10, IQR: -0.50 - 1.30, p=0.037) as well as from week 14 to week 22 after the low group received vitamin D supplementation (0.40, IQR: 0.00-0.50 vs. 0.00, IQR: -0.30-0.20, p=0.029), as presented in Figure 4.23 A.

Similar scores presented for IBD patients at each time point after stratifying them into severe disease and non-severe disease groups; however, by week 22, there was a trend towards higher SIBDQ scores in the severe-low vitamin D group compared to the severe-normal vitamin D group (5.9, IQR: 5.3-6.4 vs. 4.9, IQR: 3.9-5.9, respectively, p=0.088) and a trend towards a higher median SIBDQ score in the non-severe-normal vitamin D group compared to the non-severe-low vitamin D group (6.1, IQR: 5.9-6.1 vs. 5.5, IQR: 5.1-5.8, respectively, p=0.057), as presented in Figure 4.23 B. The delta change in scores from week 0 to week 14 and week 14 to week 22 were significantly higher in the low-severe vitamin D group compared to the severe-normal vitamin D group. The changes at

these time points in patients with non-severe disease were similar between the normal and low vitamin D groups.



Figure 4-22 Total SIBDQ scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 in patients with IBD on anti-TNF therapy. A. Total SIBDQ scores in IBD patients, stratified by vitamin D status. There was larger improvement in SIBDQ scores from week 0 to week 14 (p=0.037) and week 14 to week 22 (p=0.029) in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group. **B.** Total SIBDQ scores in IBD patients, stratified by vitamin D status, in the severe-disease and non-severe disease groups. Among patients with severe disease, there was larger improvement in SIBDQ scores from week 0 to week 14 (p=0.031) and week 14 to week 22 (p=0.012) in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group.

4.8 The Impact Of Vitamin D Status And Vitamin D Supplementation On Depression In Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease On Anti-TNF Therapy

4.8.1 Week 14 Patient Population

There were 54 patients who completed up to week 14 of the study. Of these patients, there were 8 excluded from this depression analysis, as we did not have completed data on these patients at either week 0 or week 14. Of the 8 patients not included, 2 patients went on to surgery before week 14, 3 patients did not complete the questionnaires, and 3 patients did not answer all of the questions of the BDI-II questionnaire, and therefore, their final score could not be calculated. As a result, there were 46 patients with IBD included in this analysis, with 23 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 23 patients in the low vitamin D group. Patients in the low vitamin D group were younger. All other baseline characteristics were similar. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.21 and the distribution of disease severity of patients before initiating anti-TNF therapy is presented in Table 4.22. There was a similar distribution of patients with mild, moderate and severe disease between the two groups.

Table 4-21 Depression at week 14: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D Group	P-value
	Group (n=23)	(n=23)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	41.0 (31.0 – 57.0)	33.0 (22.0 – 38.0)	0.021
Male %, n	44%, 10	70%, 16	0.074
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	7.0 (1.0 – 14.0)	10.0 (2.0 – 19.0)	0.510
Crohn's Disease %, n	73.9% (17)	82.6% (19)	0.480
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	22%, 5	30%, 7	0.950
Ileal	35%, 8	35%, 8	
Ileocolonic	17%, 4	17%, 4	
Pancolitis	13%, 3	9%, 2	
Left-sided colitis	13%, 3	9%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	83%, 19	83%, 19	0.370
Penetrating	13%, 3	4%, 1	
Stricturing	4%, 1	13%, 3	
Infliximab %, n	91.3% (21)	91.3% (21)	1.00
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	30%, 7	22%, 5	0.770
Nonsmoker	44%, 10	52%, 12	
Former Smoker	26%, 6	26%, 6	
History of Surgery %, n	26%, 17	22%, 18	0.730
Sulfasalazine/Mesalamine %, n	30.4% (7)	17.4% (4)	0.300
Immunosuppressants %, n	73.9% (17)	73.9% (17)	1.00
Corticosteroids %, n	44%, 10	65% 15	0.140

Table 4-22 Depression at week 14: Distribution of disease severity in IBD patientsinitiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Disease Severity	Week 0		P-value
	Normal Vitamin D	Low Vitamin D	0.560
	Group	Group	
% can't assess	17%	17%	
% mild	17%	30%	
% moderate - severe	65%	52%]

4.8.1.1 Depression scores in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

There were slightly higher total BDI scores in the low vitamin D group at week 0 compared to the normal vitamin D group (14.0, IQR: 8.0-18.0 vs. 11.0, IQR: 7.0-18.0, respectively, p=0.40). Furthermore, after stratifying the questionnaire into cognitive and somatic categories, there was a trend towards higher cognitive scores at baseline in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (Figure 4.24 A). Both groups underwent drastic improvement in their total scores from week 0 to week 14, with a similar decrease in both the normal vitamin D and low vitamin D groups (-2.0 IQR: -8.0 – 1.0 vs. -3.0 IQR: -7.0 –0.0, respectively p=0.87).

After stratifying by disease severity, the trends were similar among the patients with severe disease and non-severe disease, with slightly higher depression scores in the low vitamin D group at baseline, once again driven by cognitive symptoms. Interestingly, among patients with non-severe disease, depression scores at week 14 were significantly higher in the low vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (11.0, IQR: 7.0-22.0 vs. 3.0, IQR: 1.0-5.5, respectively p=0.006), as presented in Figure 4.24 B. After stratifying the questions into cognitive and somatic symptoms in this non-severe group, there was a significantly higher median somatic score at week 14 in low

vitamin D group compared to the normal vitamin D group (7.0, IQR: 4.0 - 9.0 vs. 1.50, IQR: 1.0 - 2.50, respectively p=0.006).







4.8.2 Week 22 Patient Population

There were 38 patients who completed up to week 22 of the study. There were 9 patients excluded from this analysis, as we did not have completed data on these patients at either week 0 or week 22. Of the 9 patients not included, 5 patients went on to surgery before week 14, 1 patient did not complete the questionnaire, and 3 patients did not answer all of the questions of the BDI-II questionnaire and therefore, their final score could not be calculated. As a result, there were 29 patients with IBD included in this analysis, with 17 patients in the normal vitamin D group and 12 patients in the low vitamin D group. Patients were younger in the low vitamin D group. All other baseline characteristics were similar. The demographics of these patients are presented in Table 4.23 and the distribution of disease severity of patients before initiating anti-TNF therapy is presented in Table 4.24. There was a similar distribution of patients with mild, moderate and severe disease between the two groups.

Table 4-23 Depression at week 22: Demographics of IBD patients initiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Characteristics	Normal Vitamin D	Low vitamin D Group	P-value
	Group (n=17)	(n=12)	
Age (years)			
Median (IQR)	46.0 (32.0-61.0)	30.5 (22.5-37.0)	0.043
Male %, n	35%, 6	67%, 8	0.096
Disease Duration (years)			
Median (IQR)	5.0 (0.0-14.0)	9.0 (2.0-16.5)	0.590
Crohn's Disease %, n	82%, 14	75%, 9	0.630
Disease Location %, n			
Colonic	18%, 3	25%, 3	0.740
Ileal	35%, 6	42%, 5	
Ileocolonic	29%, 5	8%, 1	
Pancolitis	6%, 1	8%, 1	
Left-sided colitis	12%, 2	17%, 2	
Disease Behavior %, n			
Inflammatory	82%, 14	92%, 11	0.650
Penetrating	12%, 2	8%, 1	
Stricturing	6%, 1	0%, 0	
Infliximab %, n	88%, 15	83%, 19	0.710
Smoking Status %, n			
Current	24%, 4	17%, 2	0.380
Nonsmoker	41%, 7	67%, 8	
Former Smoker	35%, 6	17%, 2	
History of Surgery %, n	24%, 4	25%, 3	1.00
Sulfasalazine/Mesalamine %, n	24%, 4	25%, 3	1.00
Immunosuppressants %, n	71%, 12	92%, 12	0.170
Corticosteroids %, n	41%, 7	50%, 6	0.640

Table 4-24 Depression at week 22: Distribution of disease severity in IBD patientsinitiating anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status

Disease Severity	Week 0		P-value
	Normal Vitamin D	Low Vitamin D	0.710
	Group	Group	
% can't assess	18%	8%	
% mild	24%	33%	
% moderate – severe	59%	58%	

4.8.2.1 Depression scores in patients with IBD (including CD and UC)

The low vitamin D group trended towards higher depression scores at baseline (16.5, IQR: 11.75-17.75) compared to the normal vitamin D group (9.0, IQR: 5.5 – 16.5), (p=0.066), which is likely driven by cognitive symptoms (7.50, IQR: 4.5-8.5 vs. 3.0, IQR: 1.0-7.0, p=0.066), as presented in Figure 4-25. By week 14, there was improvement in the median scores, with minimal depression scores in the low vitamin D group (10.0, IQR: 6.0-14.0) and normal group (6.0, IQR: 2.0-8.0), (p=0.066). By week 22, the depression scores continued to be similar between the low vitamin D group and normal vitamin D group (8.5, IQR: 4.5-15.25 vs. 6.0, IQR: 2.0-10.5, p=0.50); however, the decrease in scores from week 14 to week 22 was larger in the low vitamin D group after supplementation compared to the normal vitamin D group (-1.00, IQR: -4.0-1.0 vs. 0.0, IQR: 0.0-3.0, p=0.026).

After stratifying by disease severity, results at week 0 and week 14 were similar to the results of the patients who completed up to week 14. By week 22, depression scores were similar between the low and normal vitamin D groups.



Figure 4-24 Total depression scores, cognitive scores, and somatic scores at week 0, week 14, and week 22 of IBD patients on anti-TNF therapy, stratified by vitamin D status. There was a larger improvement in depression scores from week 14 to week 22 in the low vitamin D group, after vitamin D supplementation, compared to the normal vitamin D group (p=0.026).

5 Discussion

5.1 Overview of Study Purpose

Within the gastrointestinal tract, a unique balance must be maintained between the immune system and gut microflora, wherein the innate and adaptive immune systems respond to mitigate inflammatory signals while tolerating environmental factors including the microflora.⁹⁵ This balance can be altered by genetic and environmental factors, and an imbalance can lead to inflammatory bowel disease.³ As a result, understanding the role environmental factors play in the pathogenesis and progression of this disease will be important in advancing our understanding of the immune defects in IBD and will therefore help improve how we can treat these patients and even potentially lead us to individualized therapy.

Vitamin D is an environmental factor that has been demonstrated to play a role in IBD. It is clear that vitamin D and its receptor impact immune responses, specifically suppressing Th1 driven immune responses.^{26,27,37} Cells of the innate and adaptive immune systems constitutively express vitamin D receptors, which has led to the understanding that vitamin D is an immunomodulator of complex immune responses in various autoimmune diseases, such as IBD.^{26,96,97}

Vitamin D deficiency is common among patients with IBD.²² However, it remains unclear whether its deficiency contributes to the pathogenesis of IBD or is a consequence of it. Currently there is no cure for IBD, and the goals of treatment are induction and maintenance of remission.¹⁸ With anti-TNF therapy located at the top of the IBD treatment pyramid, wherein failure is likely to result in surgery¹⁵, it is important to find ways to improve response rates to infliximab and adalimumab.

Studies have shown that vitamin D supplementation has therapeutic benefit in patients with IBD^{51,53,54}; however, there are no studies examining the role vitamin D status may

play in the response patients have to IBD-therapies, specifically infliximab and adalimumab. Furthermore, it is also unclear whether supplementing vitamin D deficient patients after anti-TNF-induction therapy has an impact on clinical outcomes.

To review, patients who were initiating anti-TNF therapy were recruited for study participation and followed for 22 weeks. In part 1 (prospective observation), patients were followed for 14 week, wherein we examined the impact of vitamin D status on clinical response rates to induction therapy. In part 2 (vitamin D rescue), patients were followed for an additional 8 weeks, wherein patients with low vitamin D levels were supplemented at week 14, and clinical response was assessed once again at week 22. Assessment of clinical remission, CRP response, cytokine profiles, quality of life, and depression were completed as secondary outcomes.

5.2 Efficacy at week 14: Higher anti-TNF-induced response rates are achieved in IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels

To date, there are no prospective human studies looking at the effects of vitamin D status on anti-TNF-induced response. We hypothesized that in patients initiating anti-TNF therapy there would be a higher proportion of patients who would clinically respond at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group compared to the low vitamin D group. Interestingly, the proportion of patients who responded in the normal vitamin D group (67%, 14/21) was similar to the low vitamin D group (65%, 15/23), (p=0.919).

Large clinical trials that examined anti-TNF-induced response in IBD did not use week 14 or week 22 as study time points; as a result, it is difficult to compare response rates at different weeks. Therefore, for this discussion, we compared response rates to other studies using the proportion of patients who responded to induction therapy and then the proportion who responded to maintenance therapy. As a result, our response rates are similar to previous studies wherein the proportion of patients who clinically responded to induction anti-TNF therapy have been reported to range from 35%-88%.^{12,13,98} Clinical response rates after 4 weeks of infliximab or adalimumab in moderate to severe Crohn's disease patients were 65% and 36%, which is comparable to the rates we demonstrated in this study.^{99,100} Although we excluded patients with fistulizing disease from our response analysis, it is interesting to note that the response rate in patients from the ACCENT II trial (A Crohn's disease Clinical trial Evaluating infliximab is effective in treating fistulizing CD) who had fistulizing disease had a similar response rate of 69% (195/282) after infliximab induction therapy (6-12 weeks).¹⁰¹ Furthermore, similar clinical response rates have been reported for patients with ulcerative colitis, with a rate of 69%⁸³ at week 8 after infliximab and 55%¹⁰² at week 8 after adalimumab. Additionally, a study with a similar number of patients showed a clinical response rate of 48% (13/27) by week 12 in patients with Crohn's disease after one infliximab infusion.⁹⁹ As a result, we have demonstrated similar response rates to previous studies, regardless of vitamin D status.

A difference in the clinical response rates at week 14 was demonstrated between patients with low vitamin D and normal vitamin D after stratifying the patients by disease severity. Interestingly, 79% (11/14) of patients in the low vitamin D group responded by week 14 if they had severe-disease compared to 53% (9/17) of patients who responded in the normal vitamin D group if they had severe disease. This difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.14); however, a difference of 15-20% is often considered clinically meaningful, suggesting that this difference of 25% in the response rate in our cohort is clinically significant. The opposite trend was demonstrated in patients with non-severe disease, wherein a higher proportion of patients achieved clinical response at week 14 in the normal vitamin D group (100%, 4/4) compared to the low vitamin D group (44%, 4/9), (p=0.11). The patient numbers are small in each group; however, it is evident there are differences in the proportion of patient who achieve a clinical response at week 14 as a consequence of vitamin D status after stratifying by disease severity. These results were similar in the Crohn's disease population and corresponded with the disease activity questionnaire scores. The low vitamin D group had a lower median HBI score at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group, if patients had severe disease, and the low vitamin D group had a higher median HBI score at week 14 compared to the normal vitamin D group, if patients had severe disease. All ulcerative colitis patients had severe disease, with higher response rates at week 14 in patients with low vitamin D compared to patients with normal vitamin D.

Clinical trials examining anti-TNF induced clinical response in IBD patients only included patients with moderately to severely active disease, defined by a baseline Crohn's disease Activity Index (CDAI) of 220-450 or a Mayo score of 6 – 12 points (endoscopy score of at least 2)^{12,83}; as a result, when comparing our response rates to previous studies, the addition of patients with non-severe disease defined by the Harvey Bradshaw Index questionnaire may have resulted in a different patient population. However, when specifically looking at the patients with severe disease without separating patients by their vitamin D level, their response rate was similar to previous studies at 65% (20/31). As a result, vitamin D status seems to be playing a role in degree of clinical benefit patients receive by week 14 from anti-TNF therapy.

When examining the clinical response rates of those patients who completed up to week 22 of the study, there is a discrepancy in the proportion of patients who responded at week 14 in each vitamin D group compared to those patients who only completed up to week 14. The proportion of patients who responded in the normal and low vitamin D at week 14 (61% (11/18) vs. 79% (11/4), respectively, p=0.29) was more similar to the response rates of the severe-disease patients who just completed up to week 14. By including more patients in the analysis, this difference was washed out. As a result, these patients who completed up to week 22 are more similar to the severe-disease patient population who completed up to week 14. This is most likely due to the fact that the patients removed from the week 22 analysis and who were in the week 14 analysis were patients with non-severe disease. Furthermore, in that there were few

patients who had non-severe disease in this study cohort, the removal IBD patients with non-severe disease in the low vitamin D group changed the patient population to a more severe disease phenotype. There was a similar number of patients removed with severe disease from the low and normal vitamin D groups. Moreover, in patients who completed up to week 22, there continued to be a strong trend towards a higher response proportion in patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels compared to patients with severe disease and normal vitamin D levels.

Investigation of remission at week 14, a more robust endpoint defined by a HBI score <5 or a PM score of 0 or 1, showed similar and statistically stronger trends. More patients achieved clinical remission after 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy in patients who initiated this drug with severe disease and low vitamin D levels compared to patients with severe disease and normal vitamin D levels (62% (8/13) vs. 14% (2/14), p=0.018). Additionally, more patients achieved clinical remission at week 14 who started the treatment with non-severe disease and normal vitamin D levels compared to patients with non-severe disease and low vitamin D group (100% (4/4) vs. 29% (2/7), p=0.061). Once again, as a group, the patients with severe disease had a clinical remission rate of 37% (10/27), which is similar to clinical remission rates of 20-40% reported in the literature for both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.^{83,99,100,101,102} As a result, identifying a patient's vitamin D status and disease severity before he/she initiates anti-TNF therapy may be important for predicting how likely this patient will respond to therapy and achieve remission. This study suggests that it may be beneficial for patients to initiate anti-TNF therapy with a vitamin D level below 75 nmol/L if they have severe disease or with a vitamin D levels greater than 75 nmol/L for patients with non-severe disease. This is contrary to current literature, which has examined the impact of vitamin D status on the durability of anti-TNF therapy in patients with IBD. In a retrospective study, Zator et al.⁵⁵ reported that patients with IBD who are vitamin D insufficient are more likely to stop therapy due to loss of response. Furthermore, Ananthraskana et al.⁵⁴ reported that patients with low levels of vitamin D had a significant increased risk for IBD-related

surgery and hospital admissions; however, we have found that patients who initiate anti-TNF therapy with severe disease and low vitamin D levels are 1.5 times more likely to respond at week 14, and patients who respond to anti-TNF therapy are less likely to be hospitalized or undergo surgery.¹⁰³

To support our results, low vitamin D levels may be a marker for the type of inflammatory response that is dominating the patient's disease state, which may be more effectively treated with anti-TNF therapy. This is supported by our cytokine data, wherein patients with low vitamin D levels and severe disease had higher levels of TNFalpha than patients with normal vitamin D levels and severe disease; as a result, these patients with severe disease who are responding to therapy may have a TNF-alphamediated disease, wherein there is more TNF-alpha for infliximab or adalimumab to target and neutralize, resulting in decreased TNF-alpha-mediated inflammation and disease activity. This parallel between higher TNF-alpha levels and higher clinical response/remission was not demonstrated in patients with non-severe disease; however, it may be more difficult to find difference due to small number of patients in this group. There is literature to support the immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D on TNF-alpha secretion. Vitamin D suppresses TNF-alpha production from T cells by inhibiting Th1 cell responses which release INF-gamma, IL-2, and TNF-alpha, as well as inhibits the release of TNF-alpha, IL-1alpha, and IFN-gamma from LPS-stimulated human blood monocytes.^{26,27,28,35} Furthermore, *in vitro* studies have shown that vitamin D treatment inhibits the TNF-alpha pathways by reducing colonic mRNA expression of TNF-alpha.⁴⁰ Therefore, it is plausible that vitamin D deficiency may result in higher levels of TNF-alpha, as there is less inhibition of this cytokine by vitamin D. As a result, IBD patients with low vitamin D levels have a different cytokine profile than those IBD patients with normal vitamin D levels, if patients have severe disease, and this can impact clinical response to anti-TNF therapy. In support, Parsi et al.¹⁰⁴ have suggested that if TNF-alpha levels are suppressed by certain environmental factors in patients with Crohn's disease, these patients would be expected to have a reduced response to

therapies such as infliximab that target and inhibit this cytokine, which is evident in our study.

There are, however, studies that do not support this association. Martinez-boora et al.¹⁰⁵ found higher levels of serum TNF-alpha to be associated with lack of response to infliximab in Crohn's disease patients with fistulizing disease; however, they also reported that levels of TNF-alpha did not change after infliximab treatment. In contrast to our study, we did not examine response in patients with fistulizing Crohn's disease, and therefore, different disease characteristics may explain these differences. Furthermore, patients with rheumatoid arthritis patients with inactive disease had lower levels of TNF-alpha and responded well to infliximab, wherein patients with active RA and high TNF-alpha levels did not.¹⁰⁶ Louis et al.¹⁰⁷, however, did not find a relationship between infliximab treatment response and serum TNF-alpha levels. As a result, it remains unclear in the literature if TNF-alpha levels could aid in determining clinical response.

The efficacy of infliximab and adalimumab is not restricted to their ability to neutralize TNF-alpha activity. The effects of entanercept, an anti-TNF therapy, is isolated to blocking the TNF-receptor and failed to demonstrate clinical benefit in Crohn's disease.¹⁰⁸ As a result, it may be that vitamin D deficiency supports the other actions of infliximab and adalimumab, such as apoptosis of TNF-alpha expressing target cells.¹⁰⁹ Vitamin D and these anti-TNF drugs work to decrease T cell activation and proliferation and stimulate regulatory T cells activity.^{5,22} Vitamin D *in vitro* reduces proliferation of T lymphocytes in Crohn's disease patients.¹¹¹ As a result, it may be hypothesized that there is more T cell proliferation in patients with severe-IBD and low vitamin D levels, and in that these cells express a significant number of transmembrane TNF-alpha,¹¹² anti-TNF therapy is effective in this subset of IBD patients by binding to membrane-associated TNF-alpha, inducing apoptosis, and in so doing, reducing mucosal inflammation.^{109,111,112}

All patients with ulcerative colitis had severe disease before initiating anti-TNF therapy; as a result, the non-severe disease patients had Crohn's disease. It remains unclear as to why there are opposite trends with respect to vitamin D status and clinical response between Crohn's disease patients with severe and non-severe disease. There were a small number of patients in this group; as a result, a larger sample size would aid in understanding this relationship.

C-reactive protein (CRP) is produced by hepatocytes as a part of the non-specific acutephase response to most forms of inflammation, infection, and tissue damage.⁸⁵ It is a biomarker used in IBD as an objective measure of assessment of disease activity and severity, as well as a useful measurement for monitoring response to treatment of inflammation and infection.⁸⁵ Symptoms are often subjectively measured by the Harvey Bradshaw Index questionnaire and Partial Mayo questionnaire; however, in combination, laboratory indices and disease activity questionnaires can be used to assess severity and are less invasive than endoscopy.⁸⁶

Studies have demonstrated that higher CRP before initiation of anti-TNF therapy predicts a better response to therapy, with a median CRP before treatment of 16.8 mg/L in responders compared to 9.6 mg/L in nonresponders, p=0.02.¹¹³ As a result, raised CRP may select patients with active gut inflammation who are more likely to clinically respond; however, CRP levels at baseline in our cohort were similar between patients with low and normal vitamin D levels. Furthermore, median CRP levels in both vitamin D groups were high (>20 mg/L), indicating inflammation before treatment initiation.

The proportion of patients who achieved a CRP response at week 14 was similar between the groups, even after stratifying by disease severity and IBD type. Interestingly, the proportion of patients with Crohn's disease who achieved CRP normalization at week 14 were slightly different between the vitamin D groups, with more patients achieving a CRP level <8 mg/L in the normal vitamin D group compared to the low vitamin D group (83% (10/12) vs. 67% (12/18), p=0.312); this difference

increased in Crohn's disease patients with severe disease (80% (4/5) vs. 56% (5/9), p=0.58). Furthermore, when examining CRP normalization at week 14 in IBD patients who completed up to week 22, there continued to be a trend towards more patients achieving a normal CRP by week 14, if they had normal vitamin D levels. As discussed previously, patients who completed up to week 22 are more similar to the severe-Crohn's disease population who completed up to week 14. As a result, achieving CRP normalization may be influenced by vitamin D status in patients with severe-Crohn's disease. The strong CRP response in the Crohn's disease patients is supported by previous data wherein a strong CRP response had been observed in Crohn's disease with only a modest CRP response in patients with ulcerative colitis.¹¹⁴ However, the severe-Crohn's disease patients with low vitamin D levels were responding better clinically, using a subjective measure, but were not responding as well on an objective measure. CRP is a good marker of disease activity¹¹⁴; therefore, it is conflicting to see that these patients may be experiencing more inflammation but subjectively feeling well and more likely in clinical remission than patients with normal vitamin D levels.

The main stimulus for CRP production is IL-6 and this response is enhanced in combination with IL-1beta and TNF-alpha¹¹³. The levels of these cytokines were higher in the Crohn's disease patients with severe disease in the low vitamin D group at baseline, which would suggest there is more inflammation in the severe-Crohn's disease patients with low vitamin D levels compared to those patients with normal vitamin D levels. Subsequently, this may explain why fewer patients achieved normal CRP levels by week 14, if they had higher inflammation before drug initiation. We would then also expect that these patients would have higher CRP levels at baseline; however, median CRP levels were similar between the low and normal groups at baseline (22.0 mg/L IQR: 12.4 - 59 vs. 12.1 mg/L IQR: 10.5 - 27.3, respectively p=0.298) and week 14 (5.2 mg/L IQR: 3.4 - 12.6 vs. 6.1 mg/L IQR: 3.8 - 6.6, p=1.0). Furthermore, by week 14, these three cytokine levels were similar between the groups and not likely to explain why the rate of CRP normalization in the low vitamin D group was slightly lower. The delta change in

CRP from baseline to week 14 is similar between the groups; as a result, in that the number of patients is very small, these differences are not statistically significant, and a difference of one person greatly changes the percentage outcome in a small sample size. Therefore, this is not clinically significant. It would be interesting, however, to see if this trend continued in a larger sample size. Overall, CRP, as a marker of inflammatory activity, was high in both groups at baseline even after stratifying by disease severity and disease type, and by week 14 the degree of inflammation improved within both groups. Consequently, CRP normalization was not indicative of clinical response to anti-TNF therapy.

This study demonstrated that a high proportion of patients achieved a CRP response and normalization in both groups regardless of vitamin D status after 14 weeks of infliximab. Furthermore, Jurgens et al.¹¹⁴ showed CRP normalization in 61% of Crohn's disease patients after induction infliximab therapy, which is similar to the rates we demonstrated in this cohort. Additionally, they reported that almost 45% of the patients who achieved primary clinical response showed early CRP normalization; as a result, less than 50% of patients who clinically respond will achieve a normal CRP by week 14. Anti-TNF therapy affects the underlying pathology of CRP production, and in that TNF-alpha drives CRP, the patients had improved CRP levels as a result of anti-TNF therapy. Therefore, CRP does not correspond with vitamin D levels in predicting response.

5.3 Efficacy at week 22: Higher anti-TNF induced response rates are maintained in IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels

Vitamin D supplementation in patients with low vitamin D levels had no effect on the clinical response patients had by week 22. The proportion of patients in the low vitamin D group who responded at week 22 remained the same, with a 25% higher response rate compared to patients in the normal vitamin D group. This also occurred among patients with severe disease, wherein the proportion of patients who responded in the

low vitamin D group with severe disease at week 22 was significantly larger than in the normal vitamin D group. Studies have shown anti-TNF therapy to be effective in treating patients with IBD with overall induction response rates of up to 88%⁹⁸, and patients with low vitamin D had a response rate at week 14 of 79% and of 89% in those with severe disease; therefore, additional response was very unlikely. Interestingly, not all patients maintained a response by week 22 in the normal vitamin D group. Clinical response at week 14 was 61% and 50% at week 22. This was also demonstrated in patients with severe disease (50% at week 14 vs. 43% at week 22) and in patients with non-severe disease (100% at week 14 vs. 75% at week 22). Studies have shown that between 50-60% of IBD patients treated with infliximab or adalimumab eventually lose response, with a median time to lose of response ranging from 28 weeks to 100 weeks, depending on the type of anti-TNF therapy and type of IBD.^{115,116} As a result, it is common for patients to lose response. Interestingly, this decrease in the proportion of patients achieving a clinical response parallels the increase in CRP seen in the normal vitamin D from week 14 to week 22, specifically in patients with severe disease. The proportion of patients with normal vitamin D and severe disease who achieved CRP normalization decreased from week 14 to week 22 (100% (4/4) vs. 20% (1/5), p=1.0). It is not statistically significant, which is likely due to a small sample size; however, the delta change in the median CRP levels from week 14 to week 22 is different between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group (5.40, IQR: 1.35-7.80 vs. -0.60, IQR: -7.90-1.05, respectively p=0.048), wherein the median CRP level in normal vitamin D, severe disease group by week 22 was above 8 mg/L and larger than the median CRP level in the low vitamin D group with severe disease. The increase in CRP in the normal vitamin D group may be an indication that these patients are losing response, wherein increases in CRP have been reported to precede clinical relapse in 70% of IBD patients on maintenance infliximab; as a result, it would be interesting to have followed these patients after the increase in CRP and examined their outcomes. Overall, IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels had a strong clinical response to anti-TNF induction therapy and maintained this response in parallel with a higher proportion of

patients who achieved CRP normalization at week 22. IBD patients with severe disease and normal vitamin D levels had a weak response to anti-TNF induction therapy, regardless of a high proportion of patients who achieved normal CRP levels, and by week 22, seem to have begun to lose response to therapy in parallel to increasing CRP levels above the normal range.

Vitamin D supplementation may have a played a role in lowering CRP levels; however, our cytokine data does not support this. As a result, it likely that patients were responding to the drug and the additional anti-TNF dose after the induction phase improved CRP levels by week 22. In that the normal vitamin D group did not improve after the additional dose of infliximab after the induction phase, patients may not have been responding the induction doses and therefore, an additional dose did not make a difference in improving their disease activity. It would be interesting to see if these patients were dose escalated after their 5th infusion.

The fact that a sub-group of patients are responding to the drug, but their CRP levels are slightly higher may be because of additional inflammation that is not interfering with their clinical response or from an infection or other factors that were not controlled for. There were still a high proportion of patients who achieved CRP normalization at week 14 in the low vitamin D groups and in the end it may not be different from those patients who had normal vitamin D levels. By week 22, in patients with severe disease, CRP levels between the normal vitamin D group and low vitamin D group after supplementation were significantly different, with lower CRP levels in the low vitamin D group after supplementation. CRP response and normalization rates in the normal vitamin D group after supplementation. This additional CRP response is likely explained by the additional dose of anti-TNF therapy.

5.4 Cytokine Responses: TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1beta are higher in IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels before initiating anti-TNF therapy

The secretion of TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1beta have been documented to be released simultaneously from lamina propria mononuclear cells of IBD patients and are important in the initiation and perpetuation of chronic inflammatory responses in IBD.¹¹⁷ There is evidence to support that these cytokines are further elevated under low vitamin D conditions. VDR/IL-10 double KO mice express two-three fold higher levels of IL-1beta, IL-2, IFN-gamma, and TNF-alpha mRNA in their colons than single KO mice.³⁷ Furthermore, even healthy individuals had higher levels of LPS-induced TNF-alpha, IL-6, IL-1beta, and IFN-gamma in the winter months compared to the summer months.¹¹⁸ As a result, vitamin D and its receptor regulate these cytokines and low vitamin D levels may explain the higher levels seen in these patients. Interestingly, in this study, the effects of vitamin D status on cytokine responses were only demonstrated in patients with severe disease. As a result, it may be that vitamin D deficiency enhances inflammatory responses occurring in patients with severe disease. In other words, the inflammatory responses are exacerbated in IBD patients with low vitamin D levels because there is not enough vitamin D substrate to reduce and regulate inflammatory responses.

By week 14, the significant decrease in IL-6 and TNF-alpha levels from baseline in the severe-low vitamin D group was likely a result of anti-TNF therapy, and is likely to play a role in the high clinical response achieved in this group after induction therapy. TNFalpha and IL-6 work synergistically in preventing intestinal T-cell apoptosis, and anti-TNF treatment decreases IL-6 levels in addition to TNF-alpha levels.¹¹⁹

It is, however, unknown how vitamin D supplementation will impact future clinical outcomes in these patients who have responded very well to anti-TNF therapy by week 14. It may be that since patients have achieved a good response to therapy and proinflammatory cytokines have been suppressed due to the drug, that vitamin D supplementation may be supportive in maintaining this response by synergistically working with the anti-TNF drugs to suppress of TNF-alpha and Th1 immune responses. However, it could be hypothesized that vitamin D supplementation is detrimental to these patients as this TNF-alpha mediated disease as a consequence of low vitamin D levels is important for this drug to continue working and acting on neutralizing this cytokine and suppressing Th1 responses. The serum TNF-alpha levels at week 14 were similar within the two vitamin D groups with severe disease which suggests that vitamin D status is not a factor in regulating TNF-alpha levels after anti-TNF induction therapy. Similar TNF-alpha levels were demonstrated at week 22 as well. We, however, do not have data on mucosal cytokine levels, which would better reflect the type of intestinal inflammation driving the disease of these patients.

IL-8 is an innate cytokine produced by macrophages and epithelial cells¹²⁰, and by week 22, there was a drop in this cytokine in the low vitamin D group following supplementation. The decrease in IL-8 in the vitamin D low group after vitamin D supplementation demonstrates that vitamin D is working to suppress the innate immune system. The immune system is very complex, and there is strong evidence to support the role of vitamin D as an immunomodulator rather than an immunosuppressor. It has been shown to suppress the inflammatory responses of the adaptive immune system while stimulating antibacterial activity of the innate immune system.²² Its role in regulating IL-8 is not well described; however, Eleftheriadis et al.¹²¹ demonstrated that treatment with paricalcitol, a vitamin D analogue, reduced basal and LPS-induced IL-8 levels from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. IL-8 is a neutrophil chemoattractant produced at the onset of bacterial infection and initiates recruitment of neutrophils, which destroy pathogens and induces infiltration of T lymphocytes into inflamed tissue.¹²² IBD is a neutrophil-mediated disease in which IL-8 levels are elevated to stimulate infiltration of neutrophils in lesions of active Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Furthermore, Mitsuyama et al.¹²³ found a significant

correlation between intestinal tissue levels of IL-8 and IL-1beta and TNF-alpha; as a result, the reduction in this cytokine is important for these patients as disease activity improves.

It would, however, be interesting to assess the long-term outcomes of vitamin D supplementation, because in a low vitamin D state, these patients achieved great clinical benefit after anti-TNF therapy. Overall, IL-8 can be a signal of inflammation and should decrease as disease improves. Vitamin D treatment has exhibited a decreased IL-8 response; however, in that patients with low vitamin D and severe disease responded very well to therapy and maintained this improvement, with a high proportion of patients achieving normal CRP levels by week 22, a decrease in IL-8 may be reflective of improved disease activity seen in these patients. The normal vitamin D group with severe disease demonstrated increasing CRP and loss of response; as a result, it is difficult to compare the effects of vitamin D supplementation between these two groups had different degrees of disease activity. Further analysis is needed to examine patients who had similar disease activity at week 14 and week 22 in both groups, such as those who responded at week 14 and maintained response at week 22 in both groups to determine the effects of vitamin D supplementation on cytokine responses. This would reduce the confounding effects of disease activity on the cytokine responses after vitamin D supplementation.

5.5 Quality of life of patients on anti-TNF therapy was associated with disease activity, not vitamin D

Despite differences in vitamin D levels, quality of life, measured by the short IBD questionnaire (SIBDQ), was similar in IBD patients before starting anti-TNF therapy and after 14 weeks of anti-TNF therapy. However, after stratifying by disease severity, patients in the severe-low vitamin D group showed greater improvement in quality of life scores from week 0 to week 14 compared to the severe-normal vitamin D group. This is likely due to the greater response to anti-TNF therapy in this group,

demonstrated by decreases in disease symptoms measured by the Harvey Bradshaw Index questionnaire and Partial Mayo questionnaire. Furthermore, after vitamin D supplementation, the low vitamin D group showed greater improvement in quality of life scores compared to the non-supplemented normal vitamin D group. It is unlikely that this improvement in scores was due to the vitamin D supplementation. It is most likely due to disease improvement as a result of another dose of anti-TNF after a good response to induction therapy; patients in the normal vitamin D group did not clinically respond as well at week 14 or week 22. This is supported by reports that anti-TNF therapy improves quality of life as a result of better disease control.¹²⁴

Interestingly, quality of life scores continued to be associated with response rates after stratifying by disease severity. Patients with severe disease in the low vitamin D group had a better clinical response at week 14 and week 22 and there was a trend to higher quality of life scores in this group at week 22. Quality of life scores significantly improved after vitamin D supplementation compared to the non-supplemented normal vitamin D group, if patients had severe disease. This is likely due to continued improvement in disease activity after an additional dose of anti-TNF. Patients in the normal vitamin D group did not respond as well by week 14 or week 22. Patients with low vitamin D and non-severe disease showed the opposite trend, wherein they did not respond as well to anti-TNF therapy at week 14 or week 22. By week 22, quality of life scores were lower than the scores in the non-severe-normal vitamin D group.

Quality of life scores improved as disease activity improved, demonstrating that health status is influenced by disease activity. The SIBDQ is a valid measure of quality of life, but it is also open to clinically important changes in disease activity.¹²⁵
5.6 IBD patients with low vitamin D levels have more depressive symptoms at initiation of anti-TNF therapy

In patients who completed up to week 14, baseline depression scores were not statistically different; however, patients in the low vitamin D group scored in the mild depression range (14-19) while patients in the normal vitamin D group scored in the minimal depression range (0-13) when assessed by the self-administered Beck Depression Inventory-II questionnaire. In that these two groups had a similar distribution of patients with mild, moderate, and severe disease activity at baseline, this study shows that normal vitamin D levels may have a role in minimizing depressive symptoms in patients who have active disease and are starting anti-TNF therapy. Depression and anxiety levels of IBD patients have been shown to be higher than the general population¹²⁶ and are increased during periods of activity disease.⁵⁹ Additionally, vitamin D may be important in mood disorders and brain function, as it has been shown to act as a neurosteroid. Animal studies have demonstrated that vitamin D plays a role in the expression of monoamines, such as norepinephrine, serotonin, and dopamine, which are involved in depression.¹²⁷ It is interesting in that after stratifying the questions into cognitive or somatic subscores, the depression scores in the low vitamin D group were driven by cognitive symptoms. These include symptoms such as sadness, pessimism, past failure, loss of pleasure, guilty feelings, self-dislike, selfcriticalness, suicidal ideation, crying, agitation, loss of interest, indecisiveness, and worthlessness.¹²⁸ Somatic symptoms include loss of energy, sleep problems, irritability, appetite problems, concentration, fatigue, and loss of interest in sex.¹²⁸ Previous studies have shown that in patients with Crohn's disease, active disease is associated with fatigue, depression, and sleep disturbance¹²⁹; as a result, the somatic symptoms are likely driven by the patients' disease, which were similar between the two groups at baseline. Depressive symptoms did improve in both groups from baseline to week 14, signifying that these patients were feeling better on anti-TNF therapy, and both groups reached a median score in the range of minimal symptoms by week 14.

In that there were differences in the drug-response rates after stratifying by disease severity, depression was also examined between the two vitamin D groups in patients with severe disease and patients with non-severe disease. Despite disease severity, patients with low vitamin D levels continued to have a median BDI-II score in the mild depression range while patients with normal vitamin D levels had a median baseline score in the minimal depression range. Additionally, by week 14, depressive symptoms improved, wherein both groups had a median score of minimal depression. It is of interest, however, that patients with non-severe disease in the low vitamin D group had significantly higher depression scores at week 14 compared to patients in the nonsevere-normal vitamin D group (11.0, IQR: 7.0-22.0 vs. 3.0, IQR: 1.0-5.5, p=0.006), and this was heavily driven by somatic symptoms. Previous studies have used BDI-II scores <4 as a cut-off for very low symptoms,¹³⁰ and the non-severe-normal vitamin D group fell within this range. When comparing this result to the drug-induced clinical response rates, it is likely that the higher somatic scores in the non-severe, low vitamin D IBD patients may be a consequence of the lower response rates seen in this group; these patients were not achieving the same clinical benefit from the drug as the normal, nonsevere IBD patients and continued to have disease activity. Symptoms like loss in energy and fatigue may be explained by an inflammatory state.

Overall, low vitamin D levels seem to be associated with more depressive symptoms, specifically of the cognitive subtype; however, over time, these symptoms improve with anti-TNF therapy. In patients with non-severe disease, higher symptoms of depression at week 14, driven by somatic symptoms, are likely due to the lack of response these patients are having to anti-TNF therapy.

Similar baseline and week 14 depression scores were reported in those patients who completed up to week 22 of the study. Overall, depression scores remained relatively stable in patients with normal vitamin D levels at week 0, week 14, and week 22. At each of these time points, scores remained in the range of minimal depression. There was a trend to higher depression scores in the low vitamin D group at baseline, as these patients scored in the mild depression range; however, by week 14, these scores improved into the mild range and continued to remain stable by week 22. As a result, vitamin D supplementation did not improve depressive symptoms. Scores slightly improved from week 14 to week 22 in the severe-low vitamin D group after vitamin D supplementation; however, this is likely due to continued improvement in the patients' disease activity as a result of a good response to anti-TNF therapy.

The use of self-reported questionnaires rather than clinical diagnoses to assess symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress is a limitation. While self-report assessment has been established as a valid means for assessing mental health difficulties, ^{131,132} there is a risk of under and over reporting. Our results suggest an association between baseline serum 25(OH)D concentrations and self-reported depressive symptoms, rather than an association with a clinical diagnosis of depression. Furthermore, we did not control for anti-depression medication or inquire about other mental health issues such as anxiety. Corticosteroids are used to induce remission in patients with active disease and are known to cause depressive symptoms. ⁵⁹ However, depression associated with corticosteroids plays a role in the overall disease process and therefore is not considered a confounder in this study. Furthermore, in that similar rates of depression between patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis have been reported¹³³ and depression was assessed in very few UC patients, depression was not analyzed separately for the two diseases.

5.7 Study Limitations

The primary limitation of our study is the absence of the CDAI and total Mayo scores to determine clinical response and remission. This limits the direct comparison with remission and response rates calculated in randomized clinical trials; however, improvement in general well being, abdominal pain, diarrhea, and extra intestinal symptoms has been demonstrated to closely correlate with the calculated CDAI. Additionally, the partial Mayo score is also closely correlated with the total Mayo score.

Furthermore, the frequency of diarrhea within the HBI may introduce the possibility of single-parameter bias.¹³⁴ In order to limit this bias we defined a clinical response as a decrease in the HBI scores of at least 3 points, wherein other studies have used a decrease of 2 points. Parsi et al.¹⁰⁴ used the same decrease of 3 points in the HBI score to define a clinical response in their Crohn's disease patients; however, they also gave a maximum of 1 point for the reduction of liquid bowel movements. This would stabilize clinical response results among patients with HBI scores that are driven by bowel movements, and may be useful for future studies. Other limitations in regards to the HBI questionnaire would be inclusion of patients with ostomies and multiple surgeries; however, the bowel movements in these patients were no different than the other patients. Moreover, the use of pain medication such as codeine and/or anti-diarrheal medication was not controlled for and could have influenced the number of bowel movements patients were having at each time point.

Treatment decisions are not solely based on clinical indices or solely based on inflammatory biomarkers such CRP; they are best used in combination. Bjorkesten et al.¹³⁵ reported that clinical disease activity assessments or CRP were not capable of reliably discriminating remission from active disease and combining the use of HBI scores and CRP was more effective in identifying endoscopic remission compared with either test alone. For this study, CRP, collected from standard of care blood work, and clinical response, defined by clinical disease activity scores, were assessed separately. Studies that have examined response to anti-TNF therapy have used a physician's global assessment to determine response and remission in patients to this treatment. Teshima et al.⁹⁸ examined efficacy of infliximab in the same centre as this study and reported a higher clinical response rate to induction therapy of 88% (117/133), using a physician's global assessment at 10 to 12 weeks after the first infliximab infusion; as a result, using individual CRP levels and clinical index scores together would have been a stronger way to determine if a patient was responding or in remission.

Adding fecal calprotectin would have added strength in determining disease activity at each of the time points; however, patient recruitment was difficult due to the small number of patients starting anti-TNF therapy and asking patients for stool samples may have decreased the number of patients recruited. Fecal calprotectin, a neutrophilderived protein has been shown to correlate with both endoscopy and histological findings in luminal Crohn's disease and a normal fecal calprotectin concentration is a reliable surrogate marker for endoscopic inactive disease.¹³⁵ Bjorkesten et al.¹³⁵ demonstrated that only fecal calprotectin is a reliable noninvasive marker for endoscopic remission in clinical practice, and combining it with clinical indices could be more specific and sensitive. Moreover, a proportion of patients who have low CRP values still report symptoms of active disease, which may be due to other factors such as irritable bowel syndrome. As a result, patients who had an increase in their clinical disease activity score may be dose escalated by their gastroenterologist; consequently, patients may receive escalation of infliximab therapy for symptoms that are unrelated to their disease activity, and this may have resulted in an overestimation of nonresponse in our cohort. As a result, using fecal calprotectin would have been effective in distinguish coexisting irritable bowel syndrome-like symptoms from occult inflammation.¹³⁶

Another limitation is that CRP is nonspecific to gut inflammation and can be produced by viral or bacterial stimuli; as a result, studies reporting the correlation between CRP and clinical indices are inconsistent.¹³⁵ In this study, patients were not assessed for other factors that may have influenced CRP levels at week 14 or week 22. For example, *Clostridium difficile* infection is common among patients with IBD¹³⁷ and if a patient was infected with this bacteria at any of these time point, his/her CRP would have increased or been high and not reflective of their disease state.

The timing of clinical response assessment was variable and therefore a limitation of this study. Infliximab induction includes a dose at week 0, week 2, and week 6, and for this study, clinical response to induction therapy was recorded at their 4th dose, which

should be at week 14. Clinical response was then once again assessed at the patient's 5th dose, which should be at week 22. However, patients' lifestyles are variable and not all patients were administered their 4th dose at week 14 and 5th dose at week 22. As a result, clinical disease activity questionnaires were completed and blood work was collected at each patient's 4th and 5th infliximab infusion. Further analysis is required to determine how variable the interval between the 3rd and 4th dose and 4th and 5th dose was between the two groups. If there were more patients in the normal vitamin D group who had a longer time to their 4th or 5th dose than patients in the low vitamin D group, this would have confounded our clinical response data as a longer time to infusions may result in under dosing these patients and increasing their likelihood losing response.

Anti-TNF induced response was defined at week 14, which is specific for infliximab induction therapy, but not for adalimumab induction therapy. Technically, clinical response to adalimumab induction should be assessed at week 4. We do have clinical disease activity scores for these patients at this time point; however, since there were very few patients on adalimumab, we grouped these patients with the patients on infliximab. As a result, by week 14, patients on adalimumab would be on maintenance therapy. Therefore, with a larger patient population, it would be best to assess infliximab induced clinical response separately from adalimumab induced clinical response.

Additional limitations include insufficient power to determine differences in response rates between patients with normal vitamin D levels and patients with low vitamin D levels. A sample size calculation determined that approximately 300 patients would be required in each group to detect a difference of 10%, with a power of 80% and a twosided significance level of 5%, and we could not reach this number by recruiting out of a single IBD centre. Furthermore, when we stratified the groups into patients with Crohn's disease and patients with ulcerative colitis, the sample size became very small (<10). Consequently, the statistical analyses used on these small groups are at risk of Type II error, wherein the probability of obtaining false negatives is increased. As a result,

larger studies with longer follow up periods will be required to validate these results and determine the long-term outcomes of these patients.

Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis have been demonstrated to have distinct cytokine profiles; as a result, combining patients with Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis into one group to increase the sample size for certain analyses is a limitation. Crohn's disease is characterized by a Th1 type immune response and ulcerative colitis is characterized by a Th2 immune response; however, these patients were grouped together for cytokine analysis. As a result, assessing these two diseases separately would have removed certain assumptions that may have resulted in a bias that created differences between the expected and true values.

Cytokine levels were measured in serum as a non-invasive method for assessing inflammation and disease activity; however, it is another limitation as this method does not directly assess the type and extent of cytokine responses occurring at the site of the inflamed mucosa. Measuring gene expression of several inflammatory signaling molecules from intestinal tissue would have been a more direct and accurate way of monitoring the type of cytokine responses occurring in our study population.¹³⁸ The examination of tissue samples was not feasible for this study; however, it should be noted that there are possible differences between serum and tissue analysis of cytokine levels.

The nutritional status of each participant was not formally assessed. We did assess albumin and it did seem to be lower in patients with low vitamin D levels. Patients with low vitamin D levels did have more systemic inflammation determined by higher levels of specific cytokines compared to patients with normal vitamin D levels, and albumin and 25(OH)D levels have been reported to be reduced during systemic inflammation.¹³⁹ These IBD patients with low serum vitamin D also seemed to have lower calcium, hemoglobin and higher white blood cell count and platelet levels. As a result, patients in the normal vitamin D group may be a different population than the patients in the low

vitamin D group and therefore, this may have confounded our results. Weight and height would have also been important factors in the assessment of overall health status. Patients who are underweight for their height and age are likely malnourished and have low fat stores, which is an important reservoir for vitamin D.⁶⁹ Additional factors that may have been important in assessing nutritional status would have been osteoporosis and sudden weight loss due to severe disease. Determining the nutritional status of these patients before initiating therapy and over the study period may have been important in assessing the health status of these patients as a whole to determine differences in nutritional deficiencies and therefore determining specific confounding factors that could have been controlled for.

Patients included in each analysis were slightly different, and therefore, assessing results as a whole picture is a limitation. Patients included in the response results were only of inflammatory disease and patients of all disease behavior were included in the cytokine analysis; as a result, we are making the assumption that these cytokine results would be the same if only patients with inflammatory disease were included. Therefore, caution should be taken when we use our cytokine results to help explain the differences seen in the response rates between the low and normal vitamin D groups.

Lastly, it was difficult to control for additional vitamin D supplementation, diet, travel to locations close to the equator, and tanning bed use. Patients were asked at the beginning of the study about the amount of vitamin D they were taking orally as part of the inclusion criteria. However, in that patients with low vitamin D levels at baseline continued to have low vitamin D levels at week 14, it is likely that if they increased the amount of vitamin D during this time period, it did not increase their vitamin D level enough to reach above the normal vitamin D level cut-off.

5.8 Summary of Objectives and Findings

In summary, this study demonstrated that IBD patients with severe disease had a strong clinical response to anti-TNF induction therapy if they had low vitamin D levels before

initiating treatment. This is likely explained by a specific inflammatory response that is 1) dominating the disease state of these patients as a consequence of inadequate immune regulation due to low levels of vitamin D and 2) is effectively treated by the mechanisms of action of infliximab and adalimumab. Furthermore, vitamin D supplementation in these patients after week 14 did not impact clinical response at week 22. Clinical response was maintained over the next 8 weeks, with decreased levels of IL-8 after vitamin D supplementation; this was likely due to continual improvement in disease activity after an additional dose of anti-TNF therapy. On the contrary, IBD patients with severe disease and normal vitamin D levels had a weaker response to anti-TNF therapy induction therapy. By week 22, some of these patients began to lose response to treatment in parallel with increasing CRP levels.

Quality of life did not seem to be influenced by vitamin D status; however, improved quality of life paralleled improved disease activity and clinical benefit as a result of a good response to anti-TNF therapy. In regards to depression, low vitamin D levels were associated with more cognitive depressive symptoms in patients with IBD prior to starting anti-TNF therapy, regardless of disease severity. These symptoms, however, improved by week 14 in both patients with low vitamin D levels and normal vitamin D levels in parallel with improved disease activity.

This is the first study to determine the impact of vitamin D status on anti-TNF-induced response in IBD patients with severe disease. Future studies will be important for examining the long-term outcomes of these patients. Moreover, investigation of vitamin D supplementation in IBD patients with low vitamin D levels just prior to initiation of anti-TNF therapy would improve our understanding of the impact vitamin D has on the inflammatory response dominating these patients' disease and how this would influence clinical response. This knowledge would help us answer the question of whether vitamin D status is a marker of the type of inflammatory responses that are occurring in these patients, and if vitamin D supplementation just prior to the start of therapy would affect clinical response rates at week 14. As a result, the next step will be

to conduct a randomized controlled trial comparing clinical response rates in IBD patients with severe disease and low vitamin D levels who are randomized to receiving vitamin D supplementation or placebo prior to anti-TNF therapy.

5.9 Conclusion

Infliximab and adalimumab are expensive and potentially harmful therapies; as a result, identifying predictors of response will be important advancements in the clinical care of these patients. This will aid in selecting patients who will benefit from this therapy and lead to investigation of other treatment options for those patients who will not benefit. The results of this pilot study are novel and unexpected and will spark further exploration into this relationship between vitamin D and response to anti-TNF therapy. Stronger evidence is required, but vitamin D status may be a strong predictor of anti-TNF induced response in IBD patients with severe disease.

References

- Abraham C, Cho JH. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2009; 361: 2066– 2078.
- 2. Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, et al. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 140: 1785–1794.
- Siegmund B, Zeitz M. Innate and adaptive immunity in inflammatory bowel disease. World J. *Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 3178–3183.
- 4. Bamias G. New concepts in the pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease. *Ann Intern Med* 2005; 143: 895–904.
- 5. Altwegg R, Vincent T. TNF Blocking therapies and immunomonitoring in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2014; 2014: 1–7.
- Neurath MF. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2014; 14: 329–342.
- Braegger CP, Nicholls S, Murch SH, et al. Tumour necrosis factor alpha in stool as a marker of intestinal inflammation. *Lancet* 1992; 339: 89–91.
- Murch SH, Braegger CP, Walker-Smith JA, et al. Location of tumour necrosis factor alpha by immunohistochemistry in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 1993; 34: 1705–1709.
- Murch SH, Lamkin VA, Savage MO, Walker-Smith JA, MacDonald TT. Serum concentrations of tumour necrosis factor alpha in childhood chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 1991; 32: 913.
- Atreya R, Zimmer M, Bartsch B, et al. Antibodies against tumor necrosis factor (TNF) induce T-cell apoptosis in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases via TNF receptor 2 and intestinal CD14⁺ macrophages. *Gastroenterology* 2011; 141 :2026– 2038.
- 11. Hanauer SB, Feagan BG, Lichtenstein GR, et al. Maintenance infliximab for Crohn's disease: the ACCENT I randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; 359: 1541–1549.
- Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, et al. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1383–1395.

- Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med* 2005; 353: 2462–2476.
- Hanauer SB, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, et al. Human anti–tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody (adalimumab) in Crohn's disease: the CLASSIC-I Trial. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 323-333.
- 15. Danese S, Colombel JF, Reinisch W, et al. Review article: infliximab for Crohn's disease treatment-shifting therapeutic strategies after 10 years of clinical experience. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2011; 33: 857–869.
- 16. Beddy D, Dozois EJ, Pemberton JH. Perioperative complications in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases 2011; 17: 1610–1619.
- 17. Vester-Andersen MK, Prosberg MV, Jess T, et al. Disease course and surgery rates in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based, 7-year follow-up study in the era of immunomodulating therapy. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 2014; 109: 705–714.
- 18. Zenlea T, Peppercorn MA. Immunosuppressive therapies for inflammatory bowel disease. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 2014; 20: 3146–3152.
- Solberg IC, Vatn MH, Hoie O, et al. Clinical course in Crohn's disease: results of a Norwegian population-based ten-year follow-up study. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2007; 5: 1430–1438.
- Nerich V, Monnet E, Etienne A, et al. Geographical variations of inflammatory bowel disease in France: A study based on national health insurance data. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2006; 12: 218–226.
- 21. Khalili H, Huang ES, Ananthakrishnan AN, et al. Geographical variation and incidence of inflammatory bowel disease among US women. *Gut* 2012; 61: 1686–1692.
- Reich KM, Fedorak RN, Madsen K, et al. Vitamin D improves inflammatory bowel disease outcomes: Basic science and clinical review. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 2014; 20: 4934–4947.
- Suibhne TN, Cox G, Healy M, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in Crohn's disease: prevalence, risk factors and supplement use in an outpatient setting. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012; 6: 182–188.

- Ananthakrishnan AN, Khalili H, Higuchi LM, et al. Higher predicted vitamin D status is associated with reduced risk of Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2012; 142: 482– 489.
- 25. Hewison M. Vitamin D and immune function: an overview. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 2011; 71: 50–61.
- 26. Mora JR, Iwata M, Andrian von UH. Vitamin effects on the immune system: vitamins A and D take centre stage. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2008; 8: 685–698.
- Boonstra A, Barrat FJ, Crain C, et al. 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 has a direct effect on naive CD4(+) T cells to enhance the development of Th2 cells. *J. Immunol.* 2001; 167: 4974–4980.
- 28. Barrat FJ. In vitro generation of interleukin 10-producing regulatory CD4+ T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by T Helper Type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2002; 195: 603–616.
- 29. Penna G, Adorini L. 1 ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *The Journal of Immunology* 2000; 164: 2405–2411.
- 30. Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science* 2006; 311: 1770–1773.
- 31. Gombart AF, Borregaard N, Koeffler HP. Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly up-regulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. FASEB J 2005; 19: 1067-77.
- 32. Wang TT, Dabbas B, Laperriere D, et al. Direct and indirect induction by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 of the NOD2/CARD15-Defensin Beta 2 innate immune pathway defective in Crohn Disease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2010; 285: 2227–2231.
- 33. Chen Y, Liu W, Sun T, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes negative feedback regulation of TLR signaling via targeting microRNA-155–SOCS1 in macrophages. J Immunol 2013; 190 (7): 3687-95.
- 34. Zhang Y, Leung DYM, Richers BN, et al. Vitamin D inhibits monocyte/macrophage proinflammatory cytokine production by targeting MAPK Phosphatase-1. *The Journal*

of Immunology 2012; 188: 2127–2135.

- Muller K, Haahr PM, Diamant M, et al. 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D, inhibits cytokine production by human blood monocytes at the post-transcriptional level. *Cytokine* 4: 506–512.
- 36. Lagishetty V, Misharin AV, Liu NQ, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in mice impairs colonic antibacterial activity and predisposes to colitis. *Endocrinology* 2010; 151: 3423-32.
- 37. Froicu M, Cantorna MT. Vitamin D and the vitamin D receptor are critical for control of the innate immune response to colonic injury. *BMC Immunol* 2007; 8: 5.
- 38. Shaoping Wu JS. Vitamin D, vitamin D receptor, and macroautophagy in inflammation and infection. *Discovery Medicine* 2011; 11: 325.
- 39. Stio M, Treves C, Martinesi M, Bonanomi AG. Biochemical effects of KH 1060 and anti-TNF monoclonal antibody on human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2005; 5: 649-59.
- 40. Zhu Y, Mahon BD, Froicu M, Cantorna MT. Calcium and 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 target the TNF-α pathway to suppress experimental inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Immunol* 2005; 35: 217-224.
- 41. Ulitsky A, Ananthakrishnan AN, Naik A, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: association with disease activity and quality of life. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 2011; 35: 308–316.
- 42. Fu Y-TN, Chatur N, Cheong-Lee C, et al. Hypovitaminosis D in adults with inflammatory bowel disease: potential role of ethnicity. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 2012; 57: 2144–2148.
- 43. Harries AD, Brown R, Heatley RV, et al. Vitamin D status in Crohn's disease: association with nutrition and disease activity. *Gut* 1985; 26: 1197-203.
- 44. Jørgensen SP, Hvas CL, Agnholt J, et al. Active Crohn's disease is associated with low vitamin D levels. *J Crohns Colitis* 2013; 7: e407–13.
- 45. Blanck S, Aberra F. Vitamin d deficiency is associated with ulcerative colitis disease activity. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 2013; 58: 1698–1702.
- 46. Garg M, Rosella O, Lubel JS, et al. Association of circulating vitamin D concentrations

with intestinal but not systemic inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2013; 19: 2634–2643.

- Hassan V, Hassan S, Seyed-Javad P, Ahmad K, Asieh H, Maryam S, Farid F, Siavash A. Association between serum 25 (OH) vitamin D concentrations and inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) activity. *Med J Malaysia* 2013; 68: 34-38.
- Mouli VP, Ananthakrishnan AN. Review article: vitamin D and inflammatory bowel diseases. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2014; 39: 125–136.
- 49. Farraye FA, Nimitphong H, Stucchi A, Dendrinos K, Boulanger AB, Vijjeswarapu A, Tanennbaum A, Biancuzzo R, Chen TC, Holick MF. Use of a novel vitamin D bioavailability test demonstrates that vitamin D absorption is decreased in patients with quiescent Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011; 17: 2116-2121.
- 50. Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 266–281.
- 51. Jorgensen SP, Agnholt J, Glerup H, Lyhne S, Villadsen GE, Hvas CL, Bartels LE, Kelsen J, Christensen LA, Dahlerup JF. Clinical trial: vitamin D3 treatment in Crohn's disease a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2010; 32: 377-383.
- 52. Miheller P, Müzes G, Hritz I, et al. Comparison of the effects of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D and 25 hydroxyvitamin D on bone pathology and disease activity in Crohn's disease patients. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases 2009; 15: 1656–1662.
- 53. Yang L, Weaver V, Smith JP, et al. Therapeutic effect of vitamin D supplementation in a pilot study of Crohn's patients. *Clin Trans Gastroenterol* 2013; 4: e33.
- 54. Ananthakrishnan AN, Cagan A, Gainer VS, Cai T, Cheng A, Savova G, Chen P, Szolovits P, Xia Z, De Jager PL, Shaw SY, Churchill S, Karlson EW, Kohane I, Plenge RM, Murphy SN, Liao KP. Normalization of plasma 25-hydroxy vitamin D is associated with reduced risk of surgery in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; 0: 1-7.
- 55. Zator Z, Cantu SM, Konijeti GG, Nguyen DD, Sauk J, Yajnik V, Ananthakrishnan AN. Pretreatment 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and durability of anti-tumor necrosis factor-α therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases. *JPEN* 2014; 38: 385-91.
- 56. Kalafateli M, Triantos C, Theocharis G, et al. Health-related quality of life in patients

with inflammatory bowel disease: a single-center experience. *Annals of Gastroenterology* 2013; 26: 243.

- 57. Anglin RES, Samaan Z, Walter SD, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and depression in adults: systemic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry* 2013: 202: 100-7.
- 58. Penckofer S, Kouba J, Byrn M, et al. Vitamin D and depression: where is all the sunshine? *Issues Ment Health Nurs* 2010; 31: 385–393.
- Graff LA, Walker JR, Bernstein CN. Depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel disease: a review of comorbidity and management. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2009; 15: 1105–1118.
- 60. Narula N, Marshall JK. Management of inflammatory bowel disease with vitamin D: beyond bone health. *J Crohns Colitis* 2012; 6: 397–404.
- 61. Berk M, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, et al. So depression is an inflammatory disease, but where does the inflammation come from? *BMC Med* 2013; 11: 200.
- 62. Högberg G, Gustafsson SA, Hällström T, et al. Depressed adolescents in a case-series were low in vitamin D and depression was ameliorated by vitamin D supplementation. *Acta Paediatrica* 2012; 101: 779–783.
- Shipowick CD, Moore CB, Corbett C, et al. Vitamin D and depressive symptoms in women during the winter: A pilot study. *Applied Nursing Research* 2009; 22: 221– 225.
- 64. Jorde R, Sneve M, Figenschau Y, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on symptoms of depression in overweight and obese subjects: randomized double blind trial. J. Intern. Med. 2008; 264: 599–609.
- 65. Dean AJ, Bellgrove MA, Hall T, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on cognitive and emotional functioning in young adults--a randomised controlled trial. *PLoS ONE* 2011; 6: e25966.
- 66. Kjærgaard M, Waterloo K, Wang CEA, et al. Effect of vitamin D supplement on depression scores in people with low levels of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D: nested case-control study and randomised clinical trial. The British Journal of Psychiatry 2012; 201: A19–A19.

- 67. Bates CJ, Heseker H. Human bioavailability of vitamins. Nutrition research reviews 1994; 7: 92-127.
- 68. Tsiaras WG, Weinstock MA. Factors influencing vitamin D status. *Acta dermato*venereologica 2011; 91(2): 115–24.
- Alpert PT, Shaikh U. The Effects of Vitamin D Deficiency and Insufficiency on the Endocrine and Paracrine Systems. *Biological Research For Nursing* 2007; 9(2): 117– 29.
- 70. Holick MF. Vitamin D and health: evolution, biologic functions, and recommended dietary intakes for vitamin D. 2010: 3–33.
- Diamond TH, Ho KW, Rohl PG, Meerkin M. Annual intramuscular injection of a megadose of cholecalciferol for treatment of vitamin D deficiency: efficacy and safety data. *Med J Aust* 2005; 183(1): 10–2.
- 72. Zerwekh JE. Blood biomarkers of vitamin D status. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2008; 87: 10875–91S.
- Heaney RP. Vitamin D: criteria for safety and efficacy. Nutrition Reviews 2008; 66: \$178–\$181.
- Veith R. Vitamin D supplementation, 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations, and safety. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1999; 69: 842-856.
- Holick MF. High prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy and implications for health. Mayo Clin. Proc. 2006; 81: 353-373.
- 76. Markestad T, Halvorsen S, Halvorsen KS, et al. Plasma concentrations of vitamin D metabolites before and during treatment of vitamin D deficiency rickets in children. *Acta Paediatr.* 1984; 73: 225–231.
- Ilahi M, Armas LA, Heaney RP. Pharmacokinetics of a single, large dose of cholecalciferol. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2008; 87: 688-91.
- 78. Vieth R, Chan PC, MacFarlane GD. Efficacy and safety of vitamin D3 intake exceeding the lowest observed adverse effect level. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2001; 73: 288-94.

- 79. Tellioglu A, Basaran S, Guzel R, Seydaoglu G. Efficacy and safety of high dose intramuscular or oral cholecalciferol in vitamin D deficient/insufficient elderly. *Maturitas* 2012; 73: 332-338.
- 80. Vermeire S, Schreiber S, Sandborn WJ, et al. Correlation between the Crohns disease activity and Harvey–Bradshaw indices in assessing Crohns disease severity. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2010; 8: 357–363.
- Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's-disease activity. *Lancet* 1980;
 315: 514.
- Lewis JD, Chuai S, Nessel L, et al. Use of the noninvasive components of the Mayo score to assess clinical response in ulcerative colitis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2008; 14: 1660–1666.
- Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med* 2005; 353: 2462–2476.
- 84. Gisbert JP, Panés J. Loss of response and requirement of infliximab dose intensification in Crohn's disease: a review. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 2009; 104: 760–767.
- Pepys MB, Hirschfield GM. C-reactive protein: a critical update. J. Clin. Invest. 2003; 111: 1805–1812.
- 86. Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Rutgeerts P. Laboratory markers in IBD: useful, magic, or unnecessary toys? *Gut* 2006; 55: 426–431.
- 87. Irvine EJ, Zhou Q, Thompson AK. The Short Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire: a quality of life instrument for community physicians managing inflammatory bowel disease. DDRPT Investigators. Canadian Crohn's Relapse Prevention Trial. Am J Gastroenterol 1996; 91(8): 1571-8.
- 88. Guyatt G, Mitchell A, Irvine EJ, Singer J, Williams N, Goodacre R, et al. A new measure of health status for clinical trials in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 1989 ;96(3): 804-810.
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. 1996. Beck Depression Inventory Second Edition Manual. San Antonio: Pearson Education Inc.

- 90. Thombs BD, Ziegelstein RC, Pilote L et al. Somatic symptom overlap in Beck Depression Inventory-II scores following myocardial infarction. *British J Psychiatry* 2010; 197(1): 61-6.
- 91. de Jager W, Bourcier K, Rijkers GT, et al. Prerequisites for cytokine measurements in clinical trials with multiplex immunoassays. *BMC Immunol* 2009; 10: 52.
- 92. Uwe Gröber KK. Influence of drugs on vitamin D and calcium metabolism. *Dermatoendocrinology* 2012; 4: 158.
- 93. Pramyothin P, Holick MF. Vitamin D supplementation: guidelines and evidence for subclinical deficiency. Curr. Opin. *Gastroenterol.* 2012; 28: 139–150.
- Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Enns R, et al. Adalimumab induction therapy for Crohn disease previously treated with infliximab: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 2007; 146: 829–838.
- 95. Kayama H, Takeda K. Regulation of intestinal homeostasis by innate and adaptive immunity. *International Immunology* 2012; 24: 673–680.
- 96. Hewison M. An update on vitamin D and human immunity. *Clin Endocrinol* 2012; 76: 315–325.
- 97. Di Rosa M, Malaguarnera M, Nicoletti F, et al. Vitamin D3: a helpful immunomodulator. *Immunology* 2011; 134: 123–139.
- 98. Teshima CW, Thompson A, Dhanoa L, et al. Long-term response rates to infliximab therapy for Crohn's disease in an outpatient cohort. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology* 2009; 23: 348.
- 99. Targan SR, Hanauer SB, van Deventer SJ, et al. A short-term study of chimeric monoclonal antibody cA2 to tumor necrosis factor α for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 1997; 337: 1029–1036.
- 100. Hanauer SB, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, et al. Human anti-tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody (adalimumab) in Crohn's disease: the CLASSIC-I trial. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 323–333.
- 101. Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Rutgeerts P, et al. Adalimumab for maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease: results of the CLASSIC II trial. *Gut* 2007; 56: 1232-9.

- 102. Reinisch W, Sandborn WJ, Hommes DW, et al. Adalimumab for induction of clinical remission in moderately to severely active ulcerative colitis: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Gu*t 2011; 60: 780-787.
- 103. Costa J, Magro F, Caldeira D, et al. Infliximab reduces hospitalizations and surgery interventions in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2013; 19: 2098–2110.
- 104. Parsi MA, Achkar JP, Richardson S, et al. Predictors of response to infliximab in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2002; 123: 707–713.
- 105. Martínez-Borra J, López-Larrea C, González S, et al. High serum tumor necrosis factor-α levels are associated with lack of response to infliximab in fistulizing Crohn's disease. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 2002; 97: 2350–2356.
- 106. Edrees AF, Misra SN, Abdou NI. Anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: correlation of TNF-alpha serum level with clinical response and benefit from changing dose or frequency of infliximab infusions. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2005; 23(4): 469-74.
- 107. Louis, EJ, Vermeire, S, Rutgeerts, P, et al. Are systemic inflammatory markers useful in the prediction of response to infliximab in Crohn's disease? *Gastroenterology* 2001; 120(suppl 1): A-622.
- Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Katz S, et al. Etanercept for active Crohn's disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2001; 121: 1088-94.
- 109. van Deventer, SJH. Transmembrane TNF-X, induction of apoptosis, and the efficacy of TNF-targeting therapies in Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2001; 121: 1242–1246.
- 110. Bartels LE, Jorgensen SP, Bendix M, Hvas CL, Agnholt J, Agger R, Dahlerup JF. 25hydroxy vitamin D3 modulates dendritic cell phenotype and function in Crohn's disease. *Inflammopharmacol* 2013; 21: 177-186.
- 111. Hove Ten T, Van Montfrans C, Peppelenbosch MP, et al. Infliximab treatment induces apoptosis of lamina propria T lymphocytes in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2002; 50:

206–211.

- 112. Aversa G, Punnonen J, de Vries JE. The 26-kD transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor alpha on activated CD4+ T cell clones provides a costimulatory signal for human B cell activation. J. Exp. Med. 1993; 177: 1575–1585.
- 113. Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Rutgeerts P. C-reactive protein as a marker for inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2004; 10: 661–665.
- 114. Jürgens M, Mahachie John JM, Cleynen I, et al. Levels of C-reactive protein are associated with response to infliximab therapy in patients with Crohn's disease. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2011; 9: 421–427. e1.
- 115. Ma C, Haung V, Fedorak D, Kroeker K, Dieleman L, Fedorak RN. Crohn's disease outpatients treated with adalimumab have an earlier loss of response and requirement for dose intensification compared to infliximab. *Gastroenterology* 2014; Su1396.
- 116. Huang V, Ma C, Fedorak D, Kroeker K, Dieleman L, Fedorak RN. Outpatients with ulcerative colitis being treated with adalimumab and infliximab have similar rates of loss of response. *Gastroenterology* 2014; Su1397.
- 117. H C Reinecker. Enhanced secretion of tumour necrosis factor-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1 beta by isolated lamina propria mononuclear cells from patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 1993; 94: 174.
- 118. Khoo AL, Chai LYA, Koenen HJPM, et al. Regulation of cytokine responses by seasonality of vitamin D status in healthy individuals. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 2011; 164: 72–79.
- van Dullemen HM, van Deventer SJ, Hommes DW, et al. Treatment of Crohn's disease with anti-tumor necrosis factor chimeric monoclonal antibody (cA2).
 Gastroenterology 1995; 109: 129–135.
- Mayer G. Immunoregulation and cytokines, Microbiology and Immunology online.
 2010. The Board of Trustees of the University of South Carolina.
 http://pathmicro.med.sc.edu/bowers/imm-reg-ver2.htm
- 121. Eleftheriadis T, Antoniadi G, Liakopoulos V, et al. Paricalcitol reduces basal and

lipopolysaccharide-induced (LPS), TNF- α and IL-8 production by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Int Urol Nephrol* 2009; 42: 181–185.

- 122. Harada A, Sekido N, Akahoshi T, et al. Essential involvement of interleukin-8 (IL-8) in acute inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol.* 1994; 56: 559-64.
- 123. Mitsuyama K, Toyonaga A, Sasaki E, et al. IL-8 as an important chemoattractant for neutrophils in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1994; 96(3): 432-436.
- 124. Lichtenstein GR, Bala M, Han C, et al. Infliximab improves quality of life in patients with Crohn's disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2002; 8: 237–243.
- 125. Jowett SL, Seal CJ, Barton JR, et al. The short inflammatory bowel disease questionnaire is reliable and responsive to clinically important change in ulcerative colitis. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 2001; 96: 2921–2928.
- 126. Häuser W, Janke K-H, Klump B, et al. Anxiety and depression in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: comparisons with chronic liver disease patients and the general population. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2011; 17: 621–632.
- 127. Garcion E, Wion-Barbot N, Montero-Menei CN, et al. New clues about vitamin D functions in the nervous system. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2002; 13: 100–105.
- 128. Thombs BD, Ziegelstein RC, Pilote L et al. Somatic symptom overlap in Beck Depression Inventory-II scores following myocardial infarction. British *JPsychiatry* 2010; 197(1): 61-6.
- 129. Banovic I, Gilibert D, Cosnes J. Crohn's disease and fatigue: constancy and covariations of activity of the disease, depression, anxiety and subjective quality of life. *Psychol Health Med* 2010; 15(4): 394-405.
- Ward LC. Comparison of factor structure models for the Beck Depression Inventory-II. *Psychol Assess* 2006; 18(1): 81-8.
- Antony MM, Bieling PJ, Cox BJ, et al. Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales in clinical groups and a community sample. *Psychological Assessment* 1998; 10: 176–181.

- 132. Henry JD and Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2005; 44: 227–239.
- 133. Walker JR, Ediger JP, Graff LA, et al. The Manitoba IBD cohort study: a populationbased study of the prevalence of lifetime and 12-month anxiety and mood disorders. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008; 103(8); 1989-97.
- 134. Wright JP, Marks IN, Parfitt A. A simple clinical index of Crohn's disease activity the Cape Town index. *SAMJ* 1985; 68: 502-503.
- 135. af Björkesten C-G, Nieminen U, Turunen U, et al. Surrogate markers and clinical indices, alone or combined, as indicators for endoscopic remission in anti-TNF-treated luminal Crohn's disease. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 2012; 47: 528–537.
- 136. Jelsness-Jørgensen L-P, Bernklev T, Moum B. Calprotectin Is a Useful Tool in Distinguishing Coexisting Irritable Bowel-Like Symptoms from That of Occult Inflammation among Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients in Remission. Gastroenterology Research and Practice 2013; 2013: 1–4.
- 137. Berg AM, Kelly CP, Farraye FA. Clostridium difficile infection in the inflammatory bowel disease patient. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2013; 19: 194–204.
- 138. Knutson CG, Mangerich A, Zeng Y, et al. Chemical and cytokine features of innate immunity characterize serum and tissue profiles in inflammatory bowel disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2013; 110 (26): E2332-41.
- 139. Ghashut RA, Talwar D, Kinsella J, et al. The effect of the systemic inflammatory response on plasma vitamin 25(OH) D concentrations adjusted for albumin. *PLoS One* 2014; 9 (3): e925614.

Appendices

APPENDIX A. Participant Information Sheet



Division of Gastroenterology Karen I. Kroeker, MD, FRCPC Department of Medicine

Assistant Professor of Medicine

Zeidler Family Gastrointestinal Health & Research Institute kkroeker@ualberta.ca Zeidler Ledcor Centre Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2X8 www.medicine.med.ualberta.ca/divisions/gast

Tel: 780-248-1433 Fax: 780-492-8121

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET AND CONSENT

Title of Research Study:

The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Principal Investigator: Dr. Karen Kroeker, MD

Sub-Investigator: Dr. Richard Fedorak, MD

Study Coordinator: Krista Reich

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

Vitamin D deficiency is common in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The primary role of vitamin D is related to bone health; however, vitamin D has been shown to have a supporting role in regulating inflammation in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis.

You are being asked to participate in a research study in order to determine the differences, if any, in the level of clinical improvement between vitamin D deficient and sufficient IBD patients who are being prescribed anti-TNF therapy. We are interested to see if vitamin D levels in IBD patients have an effect on whether or not these patients have clinical improvement in response to anti-TNF therapy.

You are being asked to participate in this research study because:

- a) you are 18 years of age or older with a diagnosis of Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis
- b) you are being prescribed anti-TNF therapy (infliximab or adalimumab)

This document describes the study. Feel free to ask the Study Doctor or the Study Staff to explain any words or information that you do not clearly understand.

PROCEDURES

If you agree to participate in this study, you will have 3 visits over 22 weeks if you are starting anti-TNF therapy or 2 visits in 8 weeks if you are on maintenance therapy. Each visit will take approximately 20-30 minutes.

Part 1: Anti-TNF New Starts

- Week 0/Baseline:
 - Complete 2 questionnaires related to quality of life and a demographic information sheet (10-15 minutes)
 - Collection of a blood sample to measure vitamin D levels & identify specific biological markers
 - Collection of a urine sample
 - Completion of a questionnaire to assess your IBD activity (HBI/Partial Mayo)

Week 2, 4, 6:

Completion of a questionnaire by phone to assess your IBD activity (HBI/Partial Mayo)

Part 2: For those completing Part 1 or those on maintenance anti-TNF therapy

Week 14:

- Complete 2 questionnaires and if a maintenance patient, also complete a demographic information sheet
- Collection of a blood sample to measure vitamin D levels & identify specific biological markers
- Collection of a urine sample
- Completion of a questionnaire to assess your IBD activity (HBI/Partial Mayo)
- Vitamin D deficient patients will be given a vitamin D injection

Week 18:

Completion of a questionnaire by phone to assess your IBD activity (HBI/Partial Mayo)

Week 22:

- Complete 2 questionnaires
- Collection of a blood sample to measure vitamin D levels & identify specific biological markers
- Collection of a urine sample
- Completion of a questionnaire to assess your IBD activity (HBI/Partial Mayo)

July 2013

Inflammatory Bowel Disease Unit

Page 1 of 3



Division of Gastroenterology Karen I. Kroeker, MD, FRCPC Department of Medicine Assistant Professor of Medicine

Zeidler Family Gastrointestinal Health & Resear Zeidler Ledcor Centre	ch Institute kkroeker@ualt	berta.ca Tel: 780-248-1433 Fax: 780-492-8121	
Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2X8	ww.medicine.med.ualberta.ca/divisio	ns/gast	

We will also look at your medical records to gather some information on your medical history (regarding diagnosis, treatment, extent of disease, etc.). In addition, if you are taking oral vitamin D, you must be taking 2000 IU/day or less to be included in this study.

** Participants who complete their blood work at BioClin or another clinic in Edmonton will be required to come into the Edmonton Clinic Outpatient Laboratory for the blood sample at week 0, 14, and 22 in addition to the blood work required under your IBD standard of care.

POSSIBLE BENEFITS

Some patients with IBD have difficulty absorbing vitamin D; therefore, vitamin D is injected as a part of IBD standard of care. It is currently not known if people with IBD taking anti-TNF therapy will receive any benefit by increasing vitamin D levels, either by taking oral tablets or by injection; however, if you receive a vitamin D injection because your levels are low, you may potentially improve your nutritional status by increasing your bone health and possibly reducing inflammation. We hope that the information we gain from this study will help doctors identify the role of vitamin D in IBD patients' response to anti-TNF induction therapy.

POSSIBLE RISKS

Venipunctures are routine procedures used to obtain blood samples, and vitamin D injections are administered under IBD standard of care to increase vitamin D levels. These are minimal risk procedures; however, possible risks include mild pain, fainting, bleeding, discoloration or bruising, and/or an infection at the place where the needle enters the skin.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Personal health records relating to this study will be kept confidential. Any research data collected about you during this study will not identify you by name, only by a coded number. Your name will not be disclosed outside the research clinic. Any report published as a result of this study will not identify you by name.

For this study, the study doctor may need to access your personal health records for health information such as past medical history and test results. He/she may also need to contact your family physician and your other health care providers to obtain additional medical information. The health information collected as part of this study will be kept confidential unless release is required by law and will be used only for the purpose of the research study. By signing the consent form, you are giving permission to the study staff to access any personally identifiable health information, which is under the custody of other health care professionals as deemed necessary for the conduct of the research.

If you chose to withdraw from the study during the study period, we will not collect new health information. You will have the option to request for withdrawal of any data or specimens during the course of the study; however, once the study period has been completed and data analysis has occurred, data can no longer be removed.

Study data will be securely stored for a minimum of 5 years at the University of Alberta, Division of Gastroenterology.

VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

You do not have to be in this study to receive care at this clinic. If you agree to participate in this study, you are free to withdraw from the research study at any time, and your continuing medical care will not be affected in any way. You are free to leave questions blank if you so choose. If any knowledge gained from this or any other study becomes available which could influence your decision to continue in the study, you will be promptly informed.

EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT

No payment will be provided for your direct participation in this study.

CONTACT INFORMATION

If you have concerns about your rights as a study participant, you may contact the Research Ethics Office at 780-492-2615. This office has no affiliation with the study investigators.

Please contact the individual identified belo	w if you have any questions or concerns	
Dr. Karen Kroeker, MD, FRCPC	karen.kroeker@ualberta.ca	Phone 780-248-1433

July 2013

Inflammatory Bowel Disease Unit

Page 2 of 3

APPENDIX B. Consent Form



Division of GastroenterologyKaren I. Kroeker, MD, FRCPCDepartment of MedicineAssistant Professor of Medicine

Zeidter Family Gastrointestinal Health & Research Institute <u>kkrogker@ualberta.ca</u> Tel: 780-248-1433 Zeidter Ledcor Centre Fast: 780-492-8121 Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2X8 <u>www.medicine.med.ualberta.ca</u>/division/gast

CONSENT FORM

Title of Research Study:

The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Principal Investigator:	Dr. Karen Kroeker	Sub-Investigator: Dr.	Richard Fedorak
Study Coordinator:	Krista Reich		

	YES	NO
1) Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?		
2) Have you read and received a copy of the study information sheet?		
3) Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?		
4) Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?		
5) Do you understand that you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without having to give a reason and without affecting your future medical care?		
6) Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you and do you understand who will have access to your medical records including personally identifiable information?		
I agree to take part in this study:		
Signature of Research Participant Date Printed	d Name	
Signature of Research Participant Date Printed I believe that the person signing this form understand what is involved in the study and v agrees to participate. I believe that the person signing this form understand what is involved in the study and v agrees to participate.	d Name	ə ə rily

October 19. 2012

Inflammatory Bowel Disease Unit

Page 3 of 3

APPENDIX C. Demographics Form

ALBERTA	Division of G Department	astroenterolog of Medicine	y Kare Assi	n I. Kroeke istant Profess	r, MD, FRCPC or of Medicine
	Zeidler Family Gastrointe Zeidler Ledcor Centre Edmonton, Alberta, Cana	estinal Heakh & Research Instit ada T6G 2X8	ute <u>kare</u>	en.kroeker@ualberta.ca	Tel: 780-248-1433 Fax: 780-492-8121 alberta.ca/divisions/cast
The Role of Vitamin D in in Patients with Inflamm	n Anti-TNF Ind natory Bowel	duced Remiss Disease	sion	s	
DEMOGRAPHICS SHEE Please answer the following	T questions:				
Gender: MALE	FEMALE				
Age:					
Do you smoke currently? Did you previously smoke How many cigarettes per	YES YES NO day and for ho	NO If yes, when w many years:	did you (?	quit?	
Have you ever used recrea	ational drugs?	YES	NO		
Do you consume alcohol?	OFTEN	SOMETIMES	F	RARELY	NEVER
Are you currently pregnar	nt? YES	NO	UNSURI	E	
Do you have inflammatory	y bowel diseas	e? 🗆 Crohn's [□ Ulcerat	tive Colitis] Not sure
When were you diagnosed	d?		(Year)		
Have you ever had surger If yes, please list the surgery a	y for your infla	mmatory bow	el diseas	e? □ No □ `	Yes
Surgery:		Date (Year):			
Please circle any of the fo		ations/supplen	nents tha	at you do Of	R have taken:
Prednisone	Salofalk		Iron Pills	6	Vitamin B12
Budesonide/Entocort	Mezavant		Calcium		Folic Acid
Azathioprine (Imuran)	Mesasal		Vitamin	D Daily am	ount:
6-MP (Purinethol)	Sulfasalazine	9			
Methotrexate	Antibiotics:				
Asacol	Probiotics:VS	SL#3, Mutaflor (B	E.coli Nis	sle), Other:_	
Pentasa	Omega 3/Fisl	h Oil			
December 5, 2012			Ple	ase comple	te BOTH SIDES

_



Department of Medicine

Division of Gastroenterology Karen I. Kroeker, MD, FRCPC Assistant Professor of Medicine

Zeidler Family Gastrointestinal Health & Research Institute Zeidler Ledcor Centre karen.kroeker@ualberta.ca Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2X8 www.medicine.med.ualberta.ca/divisions/gast

Tel: 780-248-1433 Fax: 780-492-8121

List all other medications (including non-prescription) and supplements you do OR have taken:

CURRENT MEDICAL HISTORY:

Are you currently on any medications prescribed by a physician? NO YES If yes, please list:

Do you have any other medical conditions (eg. Asthma, arthritis, heart, kidney or liver)?

YES NO

If yes, please list:

Have you ever had any other surgery (not related to your inflammatory bowel disease)?

YES NO

If yes, please list the surgery and the date:

Surgery:

Date (Year):

December 5, 2012

Please complete BOTH SIDES

APPENDIX D. Harvey Bradshaw Index Questionnaire

Modified Harvey Bradshaw Index Assessment for Crohn's Disease		STUDY ID	
Activity 1. General Well-being (see descriptors) Very well = 0 Slightly below Par = 1 Poor = 2 Very Poor = 3 Terrible = 4 2. Abdominal Pain (see descriptors) None = 0 Mild = 1 Moderate = 2 Severe = 3 3. Number of Liquid or Soft Stools per day (Yesterday) Physician, please complete Question 4 4. Additional Manifestations None = 0 Arthalgia = 1	 General Well-being Descriptors General well being includes fatigue in the overall rating and how you feel today. Record the worst you have felt today. Compare yourself to someone else of your age, how would they rank their general wellbeing? Below are some descriptors to help you rank your category of general well being. Very Well: General health is not generally a problem. You're feeling very good or great and under control. Slightly Below Par: You're getting through things but feeling below par and not normal. Something overall is preventing you from saying " I feel wonderful ". You're feeling good but not great. You can work, socialize, and function on a day to day basis. Poor: Your symptoms bother you. You occasionally miss work, school, or social activities. You have diarrhea, abdominal pain, fatigue, and basically just feeling unwell, but you are still able to function. You're getting through a part of the day, but can't do you're your normal stuff. You can't attend social events in evening. You sometime leave home from work early. You feel pretty bad and are not doing much activity – only those absolutely necessary. Your symptoms interfere with life considerably, you don't go out or are fearful when out, you miss a lot of school or work. Fecal incontinence happens several times per week. Terrible: You're unable to function. You can't manage the basics and you're almost bedridden. This is the worse you have ever been. You're not working. 		
Overfits = 1 Erythema Nodosum = 1 Aphtous ulcer = 1 Pyoderma gangrenosum = 1 Anal Fissure = 1 New Fistula = 1 Abscess = 1 Total Harvey Bradshaw Index score: [sum of all above items] Remission = <5 Mild Disease = 5-7 Moderate Disease = 8-16 Severe Disease >16	 2. Abdominal Pain Descriptors Abdominal pain may include cram to be just "pain" as we know it. Be rank your category of abdominal pain mild: You're aware that the a interfere with your life and yo and pleasure. You feel and he: Moderate: You're aware of yu activities to manage the pain (trips until later, and take Tyler and daily activities. You may h on occasion. Severe: Your abdominal pain frequently in bed because of to cancel all activities. 	uping and discomfort. It does not have elow are some descriptors to help you pain. abdominal pain is there but it does not u continue with activities such as work ar rumbles, gurgles and cramps. our abdominal pain and must alter your lie. lie down to rest, postpone shopping toi). The pain interferes with your life have to miss work or pleasure activities causes you to stop all activity. You are the pain, you call in sick to work and	

APPENDIX E. Partial Mayo Questionnaire

Assessment for Ulcerative Colitis		STUDY ID
Patient, please enter number of daily bowel motions you	would have	
when in remission or before your diagnosis or symptoms of alcerative colitis began. This number will be Your Normal:		
Patients, please complete Questions number 1 and 2.		
1. Stool Frequency (based on the past 3 days)		
Normal number of stools	= 0	
1-2 stools more than normal	= 1	
3-4 stools more than normal	= 2	
5 or more stools more than normal	= 3	
2. Rectal Bleeding (based on the past 3 days)		
No blood seen	= 0	
Streaks of blood with stool less than half the time	= 1	
Obvious blood with stool most of the time	= 2	
Blood alone passed	= 3	
Physician, please complete Questions number 3.		
3. Physician's Global Assessment (to be completed	l by Physician)	
Normal (sub scores are mostly 0)	= 0	
Mild Disease (sub scores are mostly 1)	= 1	
Moderate Disease (sub scores are mostly 1 to 2)	= 2	
Severe disease (sub scores are mostly 2 to 3)	= 3	

The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with IBD

Total Partial Mayo Index Score [sum of all above items]



Remission = 0-1			
Mild Disease = 2-4			
Moderate Disease = 5-6			
Severe Disease =7-9			

APPENDIX F. Short Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire

Study: The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with IBD

Short Quality of Life in Inflammatory Bowel Disease Questionnaire

This questionnaire is designed to find out how you have been feeling during the last 2 weeks. You will be asked about symptoms you have been having as a result of your inflammatory bowel disease, the way you have been feeling in general, and how your mood has been.

- 1. How often has the feeling of fatigue or of being tired and worn out been a problem for you during the last 2 weeks? (Choose one)
 - All of the time
 - Most of the time
 - A good bit of the time
 - □ Some of the time
 - A little of the time
 - Hardly any of the time
 - □ None of the time
- 2. How often during the last 2 weeks have you had to delay or cancel a social engagement because of your bowel problem? (Choose one)
 - □ All of the time
 - □ Most of the time
 - □ A good bit of the time
 - □ Some of the time
 - A little of the time
 - □ Hardly any of the time
 - □ None of the time
- How much difficulty have you had, as a result of your bowel problems, doing leisure or sports activities you would have liked to have done during the last 2 weeks? (Choose one)
 - □ A great deal of difficulty, activities made impossible
 - □ A lot of difficulty
 - □ A fair bit of difficulty
 - □ Some difficulty
 - □ A little difficulty
 - □ Hardly any difficulty
 - No difficulty; the bowel problems did not limit sports or leisure activities
- How often during the last 2 weeks have you been troubled by pain in the abdomen? (Choose one)
 - □ All of the time
 - Most of the time
 - A good bit of the time
 - Some of the time
 - □ A little of the time
 - Hardly any of the time
 - □ None of the time

SIBDQ October 2012

Study: The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with IBD

- 5. How often during the last 2 weeks have you felt depressed or discouraged? (Choose one)
 - □ All of the time
 - □ Most of the time
 - □ A good bit of the time
 - Some of the time
 - A little of the time
 - □ Hardly any of the time
 - □ None of the time
- 6. Overall, in the last 2 weeks, how much of a problem have you had with passing large amounts of gas? (Choose one)
 - □ A major problem

 - A big problem
 A significant problem
 - □ Some trouble
 - A little trouble
 - □ Hardly any trouble
 - □ No trouble
- 7. Overall, in the last 2 weeks, how much of a problem have you had maintaining or getting to the weight you would like to be? (Choose one)
 - □ A major problem
 - □ A big problem
 - □ A significant problem
 - □ Some trouble
 - □ A little trouble
 - Hardly any trouble
 - □ No trouble
- 8. How often during the last 2 weeks have you felt relaxed and free of tension? (Choose one)
 - □ None of the time
 - □ A little of the time
 - □ Some of the time
 - □ A good bit of the time
 - Most of the time
 - Almost all of the time
 - □ All of the time
- 9. How much of the time during the last 2 weeks have you been troubled by a feeling of having to go to the bathroom even though your bowels were empty? (Choose one)
 - □ All of the time
 - Most of the time
 - □ A good bit of the time
 - □ Some of the time
 - □ A little of the time
 - Hardly any of the time
 - □ None of the time

SIBDQ October 2012

Study: The Role of Vitamin D in Anti-TNF Induced Remission in Patients with IBD

- 10. How much of the time during the last 2 weeks have you felt angry as a result of your bowel problem? (Choose one)
 - □ All of the time
 - Most of the time
 - A good bit of the time Some of the time A little of the time

 - Hardly any of the time
 - None of the time

(Appendix from American Journal of Gastroenterology 1996; 91(8):1571-8.)

SIBDQ October 2012

APPENDIX G. Beck Depression Index – Second Edition Questionnaire

BDI-II		Date:	
Name:	Marital Status:	Age:	Sex:
Occupation:	Education:		

Instructions: This questionnaire consists of 21 groups of statements. Please read each group of statements carefully, and then pick out the one statement in each group that best describes the way you have been feeling during the past two weeks, including today. Circle the number beside the statement you have picked. If several statements in the group seem to apply equally well, circle the highest number for that group. Be sure that you do not choose more than one statement for any group, including Item 16 (Changes in Sleeping Pattern) or Item 18 (Changes in Appetite).

1. Sadness

- 0 I do not feel sad.
- 1 I feel sad much of the time.
- 2 I am sad all the time.
- I am so sad or unhappy that I can't stand it. 3

2. Pessimism

- 0 I am not discouraged about my future.
- I feel more discouraged about my future than I 1 used to be.
- 2 I do not expect things to work out for me.
- I feel my future is hopeless and will only get 3 worse.

3. Past Failure

- 0 I do not feel like a failure.
- 1 I have failed more than I should have.
- As I look back, I see a lot of failures. 2
- I feel I am a total failure as a person. 3

4. Loss of Pleasure

- I get as much pleasure as I ever did from the 0 things I enjoy.
- I don't enjoy things as much as I used to. 1
- I get very little pleasure from the things I used 2 to enjoy.
- I can't get any pleasure from the things I used 3 to enjoy.

5. Guilty Feelings

- 0 I don't feel particularly guilty.
- I feel guilty over many things I have done or 1 should have done.
- I feel quite guilty most of the time. 2
- I feel guilty all of the time. 3

6. Punishment Feelings

- 0 I don't feel I am being punished.
- I feel I may be punished. 1
- 2 I expect to be punished.
- 3 I feel I am being punished.

7. Self-Dislike

- I feel the same about myself as ever. 0
- I have lost confidence in myself. 1
- I am disappointed in myself. 2
- 3 I dislike myself.

8. Self-Criticalness

- I don't criticize or blame myself more than usual. 0
- 1 I am more critical of myself than I used to be.
- I criticize myself for all of my faults. 2
- I blame myself for everything bad that happens. 3

9. Suicidal Thoughts or Wishes

- I don't have any thoughts of killing myself. 0
- I have thoughts of killing myself, but I would 1 not carry them out.
- I would like to kill myself. 2
- I would kill myself if I had the chance. 3

10. Crying

- 0 I don't cry anymore than I used to.
- I cry more than I used to. 1
- l cry over every little thing. 2
- 3 I feel like crying, but I can't.
 - Subtotal Page 1

Continued on Back

PEARSON

Copyright © 1996 by Aaron T. Beck. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

PsychCorp

11. Agitation

- 0 I am no more restless or wound up than usual.
- 1 I feel more restless or wound up than usual.
- 2 I am so restless or agitated that it's hard to stay still.
- 3 I am so restless or agitated that I have to keep moving or doing something.

12. Loss of Interest

- 0 I have not lost interest in other people or activities.
- 1 I am less interested in other people or things than before.
- 2 I have lost most of my interest in other people or things.
- 3 It's hard to get interested in anything.

13. Indecisiveness

- 0 I make decisions about as well as ever.
- 1 I find it more difficult to make decisions than usual.
- 2 I have much greater difficulty in making decisions than I used to.
- 3 I have trouble making any decisions.

14. Worthlessness

- 0 I do not feel I am worthless.
- I don't consider myself as worthwhile and useful as I used to.
- 2 I feel more worthless as compared to other people.
- 3 I feel utterly worthless.

15. Loss of Energy

- 0 I have as much energy as ever.
- I I have less energy than I used to have.
- 2 I don't have enough energy to do very much.
- 3 I don't have enough energy to do anything.

16. Changes in Sleeping Pattern

- 0 I have not experienced any change in my sleeping pattern.
- 1a I sleep somewhat more than usual.1b I sleep somewhat less than usual.
- 2a I sleep a lot more than usual.
- 2b I sleep a lot less than usual.
- 3a I sleep most of the day.
- 3b 1 wake up 1–2 hours early and can't get back to sleep.

NOTICE: This form is printed with both blue and black ink. If your copy does not appear this way, it has been photocopied in violation of copyright laws.

17. Irritability

- 0 I am no more irritable than usual.
- 1 I am more irritable than usual.
- 2 I am much more irritable than usual.
- 3 I am irritable all the time.

18. Changes in Appetite

- 0 I have not experienced any change in my appetite.
- la My appetite is somewhat less than usual.
- 1b My appetite is somewhat greater than usual.
- 2a My appetite is much less than before.
- 2b My appetite is much greater than usual.
- 3a I have no appetite at all.
- 3b I crave food all the time.

19. Concentration Difficulty

- 0 I can concentrate as well as ever.
- 1 I can't concentrate as well as usual.
- 2 It's hard to keep my mind on anything for very long.
- 3 I find I can't concentrate on anything.

20. Tiredness or Fatigue

- 0 I am no more tired or fatigued than usual.
- 1 I get more tired or fatigued more easily than usual.
- 2 I am too tired or fatigued to do a lot of the things I used to do.
- 3 I am too tired or fatigued to do most of the things I used to do.

21. Loss of Interest in Sex

- 0 I have not noticed any recent change in my interest in sex.
- 1 I am less interested in sex than I used to be.
- 2 I am much less interested in sex now.
- 3 I have lost interest in sex completely.

Subtotal Page 2

Subtotal Page 1

_____ 'Total Score